


The English language version of this translation from the French language original was prepared for your convenience. All

possible care has been taken to ensure that the translation is an accurate representation of the original. In the event of any
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> Message from the Manager

Dear shareholders,

The cycle reversal that we have seen since the
second half of 2007 continued at the same pace
over the first eight months of 2008, with a very
clear deterioration of the situation in mid-
September, following the bankruptcy of Lehman
Brothers. This led to widespread mistrust of finan-
cial institutions, which were significantly weakened
by the bursting of the credit bubble, and a sharp
fall in stock market multiples, as the CAC
decreased 43% in 2008 and lost a further 15% over
the first 2 months of 2009. This financial crisis is
accompanied by a worldwide economic recession,
the scope of which and the speed at which it is
spreading have not been seen since World War II.

The private equity industry has been directly
affected by the shrinkage of the M & A and credit
markets since September 2008, the fall in stock
market multiples that are used to value portfolios
and, of course, the economic slowdown. As a
result, the French private equity activity has come
back to the lowest level it reached in 2003.

In this environment, Altamir Amboise saw its NAV
per share fall 35% in 2008 to 9.80 euros, most of
which is explained by the decline in stock market
multiples. In addition, its share price, like that of
many quoted private equity companies, fell
sharply, to 2.53 euros at the end of 2008, i.e. a
decline of 74% over one year and a 74% discount in
relation to NAV per share at 31 December 2008.

Although the short-term situation is rather grim,
the future lies in the diversity and quality of our
portfolio. Over the past year, two new significant
investments were made for 76 millions of euros:
Altran Technologies, the European leader in
innovation consulting, and Maisons du Monde, a
leading specialised home decoration and furniture
retailer in France. The portfolio is now comprised
of 21 significant companies representing 97% of
IFRS assets at 31 December 2008. Overall, these
21 companies have performed well, with a rise of
more than 7% of their total turnover and nearly 4%
of their total EBITDA. By way of comparison, the 
34 non-financial firms comprising the CAC 40 saw
their EBITDA decrease 4%.

As no major disposals were made during the year,
Altamir Amboise finished the year with cash
reduced to 2.2 millions of euros. Although this
level of cash is insufficient to enable Altamir
Amboise to make new investments jointly with the
Apax funds in 2009, it is important to point out that,
unlike many other quoted private equity compa-
nies, Altamir Amboise is not contractually bound to
invest, other than to accompany the existing
portfolio, and, moreover, has no debt. It has access
to a 26 million euros credit line until 30 June 2009,
which is in the process of being rolled over and
several projects are currently being studied with 
a view to generating cash in 2009. A first step was
reached in February 2009 with the signing of an
agreement for the disposal of Corevalve, 
a venture company in our Healthcare portfolio.
This transaction, which should close in April, will
generate a first payment corresponding to 7 times
the initial investment, i.e. approximately 6 millions
of euros, with potential additional payments
contingent upon the achievement of agreed
milestones and for a maximum of 2 millions of
euros.

We don’t expect any significant economic recovery
before the second half of 2010. Our team is thus
highly focused to help the portfolio companies to
stand up well to the crisis, to seize any opportuni-
ties that will arise and to prepare for the future.

We are confident about our company’s fundamen-
tals and prospects. The Partners of Apax have thus
increase thier stake in Altamir Amboise, bringing it
to 22.35% of the capital

Maurice Tchenio 
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Altamir Amboise is a listed private equity company with over €350 million under management,

targeting NAV per share growth in line with the top-performing private equity players.

Altamir Amboise co-invests with the funds managed by Apax Partners SA, a leading private equity

firm with over 30 years of investing experience. It gives investors access to a diversified portfolio of

fast-growing companies across Apax’ sectors of specialisation: Tech & Telecom, Retail & Consumer,

Media, Healthcare, Business & Financial Services.

Altamir Amboise is listed on Euronext Paris, Compartment C, symbol: LTA, ISIN code:

FR0000053837.

The company has opted for the tax status of a “SCR” (Société de Capital Risque).

Altamir Amboise is a French Limited Partnership by shares (SCA - Société en Commandite par

Actions) with limited partners (shareholders) and a general partner (which is also the Manager).

General Partner

Apax Partners & Cie Gérance SA (Managing General Partner)

Maurice Tchenio

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Monique Cohen

General Manager

Altamir Amboise has a Supervisory Board, which had nine members in 2008.

Supervisory Board

Alain Afflelou

Jean Besson

Fernand-Luc Buffelard*

Gérard Hascoët

Charles Hochman 

Jean-Hugues Loyez

Philippe Santini

Joël Séché (Chairman)

Jacques Veyrat

Biographies on page 152

* Deceased on 12 March 20094
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Altamir Amboise invests and disinvests "pari passu" with the funds managed by Apax Partners SA.

Its strategy is identical to that pursued by Apax Partners, and is based on a flexible rate of co-investment

with the Apax funds depending on the cash available to Altamir for its investment programme (the rate

of co-investment has been between 5% and 43% as from 1 January 2009). 

This strategy is characterised by:

Investments in growth companies, primarily French and European, at any development stage, with the

objective of making them leaders in their sector.

Specialisation in six business sectors, backed up by dedicated teams with strong expertise:

• Telecom

• Media 

• Technology

• Healthcare 

• Business & Financial Services 

• Retail & Consumer.

Majority or significant minority interests, jointly with the Apax funds, which provide:

• a strong position for negotiating entry conditions,

• better control over the management of the company,

• strong influence over the date and method of disinvestment.

Dynamic portfolio management:

The average holding period for investments is about five years. Rotation is facilitated by the majority

positions generally held in the companies.

A balanced sector portfolio

Breakdown of the portfolio by business sector 

(at 31 December 2008, as cost price including commitments)

Telecom

Media

Technology

Healthcare

Business & Financial Services

Retail & Consumer

15%

6%

25%

15%

19%

20%
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> Financial highlights

Two significant investments in 2008  

Amounts invested and committed in millions of euros 

and number of new companies per year

No major disposals in 2008

Volume of disposals and capital gains in millions of euros

17.5

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

6.9 6.2

19.5

122.0

108.0

96.48

3 3

7 7

5

2

9.1
5.9 6.7

4.7

25.0

17.0
19.4

13.4

41.3

29.9

69.1

46.5

4.3 2.9

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

Altamir Amboise Investissement

Disposals, excluding stock swaps Capital gains net of reversed provisions

Altamir Amboise Number of new companies
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NAV per share at 31 December 2008 is €9.80

Net Asset Value per share in euros 

(share of limited partners holding ordinary shares)

* The NAV per share would have been €10.49 at 31/12/08 excluding the dilution resulting from the exercise of the  2008

warrants

Breakdown of total assets between the portfolio and cash

in millions of euros, at 31 December of each year

5.51
6.11

8.57

10.42

13.92
15.14

9.80*

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

49.9 55.3
77.7

98.0

280.0

492.0

358.6

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

Portfolio Cash

-35%
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Most of the portfolio is valued on stock market multiples 
at 31 December 2008.

Breakdown of the portfolio by valuation method

The ten largest holdings represent 87% of the portfolio 
in fair market value

Companies Cost Fair value % portfolio

at 31 December 2008 in € millions in € millions by fair value

Séchilienne-Sidec (Financière Hélios) 23.8 56.1 16%

Vizada 23.3 51.7 15%

Prosodie (Camélia Participations) 29.5 50.0 14%

Faceo 26.3 33.8 9%

Capio Hospitals 37.0 31.6 9%

InfoPro Communications 24.2 24.0 7%

Royer 20.2 19.0 5%

Altran Technologies 52.4 16.4 5%

Maisons du Monde 25.3 14.2 4%

Unilabs 10.7 12.7 3%

Total for the 10 holdings 272.7 309.5 87%

1%2%

24%

at 31/12/08 at 31/12/07

73%

35%

26%

38%

1%

Securities valued
at cost

Others
Securities valued with a 30%
discount on fair market value

Securities valued based on the
basis of the stock price of the
listed operating company
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Cumulated revenue. . . . . . . . . . . + 7% in 2008

Cumulated Ebitda. . . . . . . . . . . . . + 4% in 2008

Retail & Consumer Business & 

Financial Services 

Technology Telecom/Media Healthcare

+1%

+7% +6%
+9%

-16%

-8%

+22%
+17% +17%

+8%

Revenue Ebitda

Change in cumulated revenues and Ebitda by sector for 21 LBO/Development companies, 2008 versus 2007.
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A quality portfolio

Change in revenues and Ebitda by sector

Change in gross portfolio return

• At constant multiples compared with 2007, the gross portfolio return would have been positive in

2008.

• In contrast to prior years, where approximately one-half of the gross profitability rate was due to

realised gains, most of the 2008 performance was due to unrealised capital depreciations.

This gross portfolio return includes the effects of changes in the value of the portfolio over the year

(including changes in value both of assets in the portfolio at the beginning of the year and of those

acquired over the year) in relation to the portfolio at the beginning of the year.

44%
38%

47%
54%

-37%

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008



Change in stock price (EUR)
Source : Euronext 

Altamir Amboise average closing price
SBF250 index rebased on the Altamir Amboise closing price
Number of shares traded
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> Telecom

> Media

> Technology

> Healthcare

> Business & Financial Services

> Retail & Consumer
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> ALTAMIR AMBOISE
portfolio
at 31 December 2008

Year of Percentage Amount invested Stage of
investment interest in the and committed development

operational in € thousands
company

(0)

Telecom

Arkadin 2004 1.15% 408 Venture(1)

DxO Labs 2006 9.65% 2,273 Venture 

Vizada (Mobsat Group Holding) 2006 22.53% 23,324 LBO

Groupe Outremer Telecom* 2004 3.36% 1,794 LBO

Prosodie (Camélia Participations) 2006 32.54% 29,465 LBO

57,264

Media

InfoPro Communications 2007 17.76% 24,148 LBO 

24,148

Technology

Altran Technologies* (Altrafin Participations)(2) 2008 8.13% 52,381 Development

ASK 2002 0.71% 575 Venture

Cegid* 1999 1.73% 5,938 LBO

Centerbeam 2000 0.09% 439 Venture

Cognitis 2002 2.45% 420 Venture

GFI Informatique* (Itefin Participations)(2) 2007 7.56% 32,485 LBO

Hubwoo* 2000 0.31% 694 Venture

IEE (Captor) 2004 6.53% (3)812 LBO

Odyssey Financial Technologies (Odyfinance) 2006 6.11% 4,457 Development

Parkeon (Mobipark) 2003 0.46% (3)56 LBO

98,257
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Year of Percentage Amount invested Stage of
investment interest in the and committed development

operational in € thousands
company

(0)

Healthcare

Unilabs (Capio lux top holding) 2007 5.48% 10,656 LBO

Capio (Capio lux top holding) 2006 5.48% 36,989 LBO

Corevalve 2005 1.57% 865 Venture

DBV Technologies 2006 8.43% 1,383 Venture

Galapagos Genomics* 2001 0.36% 492 Venture

Hybrigenics* 1998 4.79% 1,986 Venture

Evotec* (ex Neuro3d) 2000 0.01% 491 Venture

Neurotech 2001 0.66% 713 Venture

Newron* (NWL Investis.)(2) 2002 0.41% 494 Venture

Orexo* (ex Biolipox) 2002 0.20% 372 Venture

Vedici Groupe 2006 9.80% (3)3,273 Development

57,714

Business & Financial Services

Equalliance (Finalliance) 2006 24.05% 25,569 LBO

Faceo (Financière Famax) 2007 27.02% 26,272 LBO

Séchilienne-Sidec* (Financière Hélios)(2) 2005 11.84% 25,217 LBO

77,058

Retail & Consumer

Alain Afflelou 2006 5.92% (4) 10,767 LBO

Maisons du Monde (Inagua, Abaco) 2008 8.85% 25,249 LBO

Groupe Royer 2007 11.12% 20,230 LBO

Rue du Commerce* 1999 2.36% 810 Venture

Season (Fin. Season)(5) 2005 9.69% (3)1,966 LBO

U10* (U10 Partenaires)(2) 2007 12.27% 12,569 LBO

71,591

(0) Percentage stake in the operational company (directly or through one or more holding companies)

(1) Venture: financing of young, innovative companies

(2) Listed companies held through unlisted holding companies 

(3) Cost price partially or fully amortised during debt refinancing operations 

(4) Amount invested and committed through two holding companies: 3 AC Finance, 3 AB Optique Développement (debt securities) 

and the Spanish subsidiary 3 AB Optique Espagne

(5) Season holds the brands Heytens and Mondial Tissus

* Listed company
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> Telecom

2008 was an active year for the telecom sector. The
major players in the market maintained the level of
their investments, particularly with the deployment
of optical fibre in major metropolitan areas. A
number of innovative services – 3G, IP-TV, VoD, etc. –

continued to be launched with success. Finally, the
consolidation of the sector continued among operators

and Internet service providers, reflecting the dynamic
performance of the industry as a whole. Despite the turbu-

lence in the financial markets and the background of global
recession, the great majority of telecom players are achieving

generally positive operating results. 

In this context, the investments that we look for fall into two main categories:

First are companies with recurring cash flows that allow for the raising of debt financing through an LBO
operation. This concerns certain telecom operators, cable operators and technology companies that have
achieved a level of maturity.

The second type of opportunity consists of companies that are currently benefiting from the new dynamic
performance of the sector, whose cash flow generation profile permits only a limited level of debt. The
companies we look for are businesses, which, as well as having a top-rank management team and a tech-
nology that is most often proprietary, have been able to demonstrate their ability to increase sales rapidly
and become leading global players.

Overall, we keep a close watch on the restructuring of the sector and the revival of investments in certain
specific segments, particularly those related to voice/data/video convergence and the development of
new mobile services.

www.outremer-telecom.fr

Present since 1999 in fixed-line

telephony in the Antilles, the

Outremer Telecom group has estab-

lished itself in the French overseas

regions (Martinique, Guadeloupe,

Guyana, Réunion and Mayotte) as the

leading alternative telecom operator

able to offer a full range of fixed-line

mobile and Internet access services

for both individuals and business

customers. The company is listed on

Euronext Paris, Compartment C.

During the last twelve months, the

group has greatly strengthened its

management team by recruiting two

Executive Vice-Presidents in two of

the areas where it operates: French

West Indies and Guyana, and Indian

Ocean. In 2008, the company

continued to innovate, opening 3G+

mobile networks in Martinique and

Réunion and launching unlimited

mobile service offers to all local oper-

ators. At 31 December 2008, the

Outremer Telecom group had 452,141

subscribers, 60% of whom were

mobile phone subscribers. 

In 2008, Outremer Telecom posted

revenues of €180.7m, up 16%

compared to 2007 (€156.2m). 

Its EBITDA increased by 72% to reach

€34.4m.
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www.dxo.com

DxO Labs is a French company

specialising in applied mathematics

research for digital image processing.

The company develops embedded

software technologies that improve

the quality of images while reducing

the costs of optics and sensors. In

particular, DxO Labs targets the

camera phone and digital photog-

raphy market, and more specifically

camera manufacturers and photog-

raphers.

In 2008, DXO Labs strengthened its

position as a leader in digital auto-

focus technologies for camera

phones. The company won several

major contracts with leading mobile

phone manufacturers, in collabora-

tion with a world leader in semicon-

ductors (ST Microelectronics). The

first mobile phones to incorporate

DXO technology will be made avail-

able to the public during the first half

of 2009. One of these models is the

new Palm smartphone: the Palm Pre.

At the same time, the software busi-

ness targeting the general public is in

a slump because of the global crisis.

In order to cope with the uncertainty

of the market, the company has

reduced its expenses and obtained a

commitment from its shareholders

for additional financing should this be

needed.

In 2008, the company generated

revenues of €10.1m, up from €7.9m

in 2007.

www.vizada.com

The Vizada group was created in 2007

when Apax Partners acquired and

combined two telecom operator

subsidiaries, France Telecom Mobile

Satellite Communications (FTMSC)

and Telenor Satellite Services (TSS). 

Vizada is the leading worldwide

provider of mobile satellite commu-

nication solutions. The group oper-

ates in two major areas of business:

• “MSS”, which supplies mobile

satellite communications solutions

over the Inmarsat, Iridium and

Thuraya networks, 

• “VSAT”, which offers secure broad-

band communications over private

networks, even in the remotest

parts of the world, chiefly for

maritime and governmental appli-

cations (naval fleets, emergency

response teams, government and

military units, media agencies,

natural resource exploration

companies, airlines, etc.).

The group operates worldwide

through subsidiaries in Europe, the

USA, Latin America, the Middle East,

Africa and the Pacific.

In 2008, Vizada recorded revenues in

the order of $700m, with an esti-

mated EBITDA margin of 14%.

www.arkadin.com

Arkadin provides audioconferencing

and data conferencing services to

major corporations. The company

operates in 21 countries on 3 conti-

nents: Europe (France, Great Britain,

Germany, Spain, Sweden and

Belgium), North America and Asia.

In 2008, Arkadin saw its revenues

grow by 32% to reach €70.5m.

Operating income rose sharply to

€11.7m from €7.5m in 2007, repre-

senting a 56% increase. This growth

is the result of a strong expansion in

commercial activity in all countries

where the company has a presence.

Founded seven years ago, Arkadin

has more than 500 employees.

(Camélia Participations)

www.prosodie.com

Altamir Amboise is a shareholder 

of the Prosodie company through 

the holding company Camélia

Participations.

Prosodie is a provider of high added-

value telecom services and informa-

tion services (e.g. interactive voice

servers, electronic prepayment solu-

tions, e-commerce solutions, elec-

tronic voting, facilities management,

etc.). The company is present in

France, Spain, the USA and Canada.

The company was delisted at the end

of 2007.

In 2008, Prosodie confirmed its

strategy of refocusing on B2B activi-

ties by completing the sale of its non-

core B2C business (France-Examens,

Genycourses and Meteo Consult).

The company also acquired

Servicom2000, specialising in voice

services in Spain.

Prosodie earned revenues of

€179.9m in 2008, up 4.6% versus

2007, with a current operating profit

of €19.2m, up 44.3% year-on-year.
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The media sector is continuing its rapid trans-
formation. The development of new technolo-
gies and the rapid growth of the Internet are
encouraging the emergence of new models
and permanently transforming an industry

that is consolidating itself against the backdrop
of a changing regulatory framework. In this

context, there are opportunities to create value. In
order to identify and finance these opportunities, our

strategy is to maintain a high level of expertise in all
media sectors by contributing our know-how in informa-

tion and telecom technologies.

The quality of the management team, the value of the brands, the sustain-
ability of the business models in a digital world and the potential for growth are decisive factors in
the selection of our investments. Thus, we finance high-potential companies in sectors where we
have developed real expertise and which offer attractive prospects of growth. Business, scientific
and technical information, marketing and research services, traditional and online media agencies,
rights, premium content and Internet content platforms are the sectors that we favour.

www.groupe-etai.com

Infopro Communications is a leading

business information group which

has grown very rapidly, making 

16 acquisitions since its creation in

2001. Infopro Communications has

built leadership positions in each of

its target market segments (automo-

tive, industry, distribution and insur-

ance) by developing a multimedia

offering of must-have products

around databases, websites, trade

shows and trade publications.

In 2008, Infopro Communications

successfully completed the integra-

tion of the GISI group (L’Usine

Nouvelle, LSA, L’argus de l’Assurance,

Bedouk), acquired in 2007. It also

continued its growth in technical

databases for the automotive after-

market, and developed its Internet

offering through Infopro Digital.

The group’s revenues for the year

exceeded €120m. Despite a difficult

and uncertain economic context,

Infopro Communications intends to

pursue further growth in its revenue

and net income in 2009, as in 2008.

> Media
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Information Technologies, which lie at the
heart of the strategy and processes of any
business, is a sector in constant flux. The
opening of a company’s information systems
to the outside world, the development of

network computing and roaming systems,
changing business models and the reservoir of

innovation specific to this industry all mean that
this sector offers numerous investment opportunities.

In concrete terms, we identify investment opportunities
in certain segments of the Information Technologies that

match our expertise and include hardware and software tech-
nologies, emerging application areas, and services based on the mastery

of these new technologies.

Our desire to participate in projects with the potential to create high added value and supported by
ambitious entrepreneurs has resulted in our investments in young companies such as ASK (smart-
cards and contactless tickets), Hubwoo (online purchasing systems and processes), and in more
established companies such as CEGID (financial and accounting software), Cartesis (publisher of
Business Performance Management software), Parkeon (world leader in on-street parking
management solutions), IEE (developer of sensors for automobile security systems), Odyssey
(financial software), GFI (IT service provider) and Altran (European leader in innovation consulting).

www.altran.com

Altamir Amboise is a shareholder of

Altrafin Participations, a holding

company controlled by the Apax

funds, and a major shareholder of

Altran, controlling 19.2% of its capital

and 31.4% of its voting rights.

Founded in 1982, Altran is the

European leader in innovation

consulting. Altran offers very high-

level consulting services in R&D,

technology, strategy and organisation

(Arthur D. Little). Its clients are the

leading global players in aeronautics

and defence, industry, energy,

telecommunications, finance and

pharmaceuticals. Altran has 18,522

employees in more than 20 countries,

and earns 43% of its revenues in

France. The company is listed on

Euronext Paris.

In 2008, the group’s revenues were

€1.650bn, up 3.7% versus 2007. Its

operating income was €127m in

2008, representing an increase of

27.8% year-on-year.  

www.ask.fr

ASK is a major player in “contactless”

technology, designing, developing

and marketing secure tickets, cards

and documents using this technology

for the public transport, identity and

bank card sectors.

In this contactless technology

market, ASK stands out thanks to its

patented technology for printing

antennas on paper by using a

conductive silver ink. To date, ASK

has produced over 120 million tickets

or cards equipped with this tech-

nology. ASK earns 70% of its

revenues outside France.

2008 was a busy year for ASK, which

supplied contactless tickets for the

> Technology

(Altrafin Participations)



Olympic Games in Beijing. ASK’s
Chinese ticket production joint
venture saw strong growth, enabling
ASK to improve its gross margin on
this type of product. To facilitate its
access to the American market for
biometric passports, ASK created a
joint venture in the USA in August
2008 with WS Packaging, one of the
leading American labelling manufac-
turers.

Finally, to finance its development,
ASK completed a new capital
increase of €13m in 2008, the
majority of which was subscribed by
three new investors (Xange, CDC
Entreprise and SGAM Private Equity).
AltamirAmboise did not participate in
this capital increase.

ASK earned revenues of €27.9m in
2008, and for the first time recorded
a positive net profit. 

www.cegid.com
Created in 1983, the Cegid group is
the leading French publisher of
management software applications
for accounting firms and SME’s.
Cegid is listed on Eurolist B by
Euronext Paris.

In November 2004, Cegid finalised
the acquisition of CCMX, a company
in which Altamir Amboise had origi-
nally invested. Today, Cegid is in the
top 10 in Europe, with more than
2,000 employees and an installed
base of 72,000 customers under
contract.

In 2008, Cegid posted revenues of
€248.2m, (+ 2.9% year-on-year). Its
EBITDA was €56.8m (+1.8% year-
on-year).

www.centerbeam.com
Centerbeam is a service provider
which offers its customers a
complete IT workstation and a
network infrastructure with technical
support on the basis of a monthly flat
fee per station. Centerbeam can
provide this service for several
hundred users in a single company.

In 2008, the company generated
revenues of $19.5 million, slightly
higher than in 2006 ($18.5m), but has
not yet reached break-even point.

The company raised $11m from its
shareholders to finance measures
including the acquisition of the
company Network Insight in the
fourth quarter of 2008.

www.cognitis.com
Cognitis is a French provider of IT
services to large companies in the
Banking and Finance sectors.
Cognitis offers its clients a high level
of added-value functional and tech-
nological expertise in IT systems
conversion in all areas of banking,
finance and insurance.

In 2008, Cognitis acquired the Phirst
group, an IT service provider special-
ising in IT systems for asset manage-
ment and the capital markets. This
operation enables the Cognitis group
to become an all-round player
covering the entire range of activities
in the tertiary financial sector, in
which it is now one of the top ten IT
service providers in France.

Cognitis closed its 2008 accounting
year at 31 December with revenues of
€43.0m, up by 44% on 2007, and
operating income of €2.5m, up from
€1.1m in 2007. The Phirst company
was consolidated as of July 2008. 

(Itefin Participations)

www.gfi.fr
Altamir Amboise is a shareholder of
GFI Informatique through the holding
company Itefin Participations 
(co-owned by the Apax funds and the
executives of GFI Informatique),
which holds 27.8% of the capital of
GFI Informatique. GFI Informatique 
is listed on Euronext Paris,
Compartment C.

GFI Informatique is a major player
in the IT services sector in France
and southern Europe, with four
strategic offerings: consulting,
systems integration, infrastruc-
tures & production, and solutions.
GFI Informatique covers all stages
of the information system life cycle
and caters mainly for large corpo-
rations, public bodies and local
authorities. 

The group has 10,000 employees,
more than 40 branches in France
and 9 international agencies in
southern Europe, northern Europe,
Morocco and Canada.

In the second half of 2008, GFI
Informatique acquired the
Canadian company Bell Business
Solutions, which offers a range of
integrated management applica-
tions (ERP) particularly suited to
public sector bodies (e.g. local
authorities, hospitals) and SMEs.
From a strategic point of view, this
acquisition strengthens GFI’s
offering of software solutions
aimed at the public sector.

In 2008, GFI Informatique gener-
ated revenues of €768.1m, up
11.6% versus 2007, including 2.9%
in organic growth. Its operating
income was €44.9m (a margin of
5.80%) compared with €44.8m 
(a margin of 6.50%) in 2007. 
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www.hubwoo.com

Hubwoo is a world leader in elec-

tronic purchasing solutions of the

SAAS (“software as a service”) type.

Hubwoo provides businesses with

custom turnkey solutions for the opti-

misation of operating purchases 

(e-procurement) that offer immediate

benefits. Hubwoo is listed on

Euronext Paris, Compartment C.

In 2008, Hubwoo posted revenues of

€31.8m, down 2.5% from 2007. Its

EBITDA for the first half of 2008 was

negative at -€2.7m. This decline in

revenues and profitability, despite a

sharp increase in new SAAS clients,

is due to the loss of some €6m in

revenues from the past clients of

Trade Ranger, a company acquired in

2005. The company announced that

its EBITDA for the whole of 2008

would be in the order of -€5m. 

Revenues pending under SAAS

contracts for the next four quarters

amounted to €27.4m at 1 January

2009, up by 31% on the previous year.

Thanks to these pending revenues

and the signature of a major contract

with IBM and Sara Lee at the end of

2008, the company forecasts positive

EBITDA in the first quarter of 2009

and full profitability during the course

of subsequent quarters.

www.iee.lu

IEE is a pioneer in the development of

sensor-based electronic safety

systems. The undisputed leader in

Europe, and also established in North

America and Asia, IEE provides auto-

mobile manufacturers with the elec-

tronic systems, required by

legislation, that adjust the deploy-

ment force of airbags to the

passenger’s body shape.

Equipped with a unique technology

and R&D centres capable of satis-

fying the requirements and specifica-

tions of the biggest automobile

manufacturers, the company increased

its revenues from €73.0m in 2003 to

€181.6m in 2008 (€171.6m in 2007).

Its EBITDA was €34.4m in 2008

(€31.9m in 2007). This performance

made it possible to carry out a second

refinancing operation at the begin-

ning of 2008.

Against the background of a slowing

global automotive market, IEE’s

revenues are likely to decline in 2009,

despite an increased market share in

the USA thanks to the launch of a

new generation of sensors. To main-

tain its profitability, the company has

committed to a cost-reduction

program beginning in 2008. 

www.odyssey-group.com

Odyssey Financial Technologies

(formerly "Odyssey Asset

Management Systems") is a

leading suppliers of wealth

management software that helps

financial institutions to improve

the quality of their customer

service and their performance in

portfolio management, customer

relationship management, finan-

cial data management and client

reporting.

Odyssey’s software solutions have

more than 15,000 users at 185

sites in 26 countries. 15 of the top

25 European banks, are Odyssey

customers.

Founded in Luxembourg in 1995,

the company now has offices in

the major financial centres

(Luxembourg, Geneva, Zurich,

London, Munich, Frankfurt,

Hamburg, Brussels, Madrid, New

York, Singapore and Tokyo).

Odyssey's operating headquarters

and primary R&D centre are based

in Lausanne, Switzerland.

In January 2008, Odyssey acquired

Xeye, a US company specialising

in wealth management solutions.

This acquisition reinforced the

company’s leadership position in

this sector. The company experi-

enced severe turbulence in its

market (the major banks) from

September 2008 onwards due to

the global financial crisis. The

group responded quickly by

reducing its costs.

In 2008, the company generated

revenues of €75.8m, up 3% versus

2007. Its EBITDA was €1.1m

(before extraordinary items),

compared with €8.9m in 2007.

ALTAMIR AMBOISE   REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2008 19



www.parkeon.com

Parkeon is the world leader in 

on-street parking management solu-

tions, with an estimated market

share of 60%. Its installed base of

150,000 pay and display terminals

manages over 3 million parking

places worldwide, in 3,000 cities in

Europe and the USA. Parkeon also

designs and installs access control

systems for car parks and transport

ticket automatic dispensing systems.

The company posted revenues of

€176.3m in 2008, versus €161.6m in

2007. Its EBITDA decreased from

€24.9m in 2007 to €20.2m in 2008.

The integration of a major acquisition

made at the end of 2007, plus the

financing difficulties affecting local

authorities, depressed the results. In

the context of a general slowdown in

economic activity, the company

should be able to count on strong

recurring business in 2009 and main-

tain its dominant position in parking

management solutions.

In April 2007, the Apax funds sold

Parkeon to Barclays Private Equity for

around €260m, but retained 10%

ownership in the new holding

company.
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Healthcare represents an increasing share of
individual and organisational expenses in our
society. Underlying factors such as an ageing
population and technological advances help to
drive this basic trend and create opportunities

to develop innovative, high-performing compa-
nies capable of answering this growing social

need.

Thanks to the industry expertise of a team of Health
specialists, we are assisting the development of estab-

lished players with strong growth potential in areas such as
health services (hospitalisation structures, home health care

and medical analysis); we are also investing in innovative activities such
as medical devices, and in niche pharmaceutical laboratories. Finally, we are supporting dynamic,
ambitious companies in related activities such as dermo-cosmetics, galenic development, and
services and databases for health organisations. The quality of the teams of executives and entre-
preneurs is a key factor in our choice of investments.

www.capio.com

Capio is a leading provider of private

healthcare services in Europe.

Founded in Sweden in 1994, the

group grew quickly through acquisi-

tions. Today it manages around a

hundred clinics in Scandinavia,

France, Spain and Germany. 

In 2007, Capio was acquired by the

funds managed by Apax Partners SA

(including Altamir Amboise), Apax

Partners LLP and Nordic Capital.

Following this acquisition, Capio's

stock was delisted from the

Stockholm exchange where it had

been traded.

In 2008, the clinics of the Capio group

generated revenues of €1.3bn

(€1.1bn in 2007) and an operating

income of €147m (€124m in 2007),

excluding the medical analysis busi-

ness sold to the Unilabs group during

the year.

This strong growth is likely to

continue in 2009 despite the uncer-

tain environment.

www.unilabs.com

In 2007, Capio acquired the Swiss

company Unilabs, which specialises

in laboratory and radiology services.

The sale of Capio’s diagnostics busi-

ness to Unilabs enabled the creation

of a high-profile pan-European player

in the laboratory and radiology sector.

The group’s activities are now divided

between two distinct and comple-

mentary entities: Capio for clinics and

Unilabs for medical analysis.  

Taking into account the contribution of

its new acquisition, the Unilabs group

in 2008 generated revenues of €378m

(€347m in 2007) and an operating

income of €71m (€60m in 2007).

In an environment marked by falling

> Healthcare
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prices on its principal markets, the

growth in the volumes handled by

Unilabs is likely to be only partially

reflected in the group’s financial

performance.

www.corevalve.com

Founded in Paris in 2001 and based

in Irvine, California, since 2006,

CoreValve has developed an exclusive

system for cardiac valve replacement

on a beating heart using percuta-

neous implantation. This technology

avoids the trauma of open-heart

surgery, while also reducing the costs

for the healthcare system.

CoreValve’s ReValving System tech-

nology received CE Mark approval in

April 2007. To date, it has been used

in more than 2,000 implants world-

wide.

Thanks to these advances, the

American Medtronic group, the world

leader in medical technologies, made

a takeover bid and signed an agree-

ment with the CoreValve share-

holders in February 2009 to acquire

the company.

www.dbv-technologies.com

Founded in Paris in 2002, DBV

Technologies has developed a skin

patch technology that has been

patented worldwide for the trans-

dermal administration of proteins

and peptides. This technology has

already proven its value for diag-

nosing protein and dairy allergies,

and the company has begun

marketing its first product, Diallertest

Lait, in France and abroad.

DBV is currently focusing its efforts

on developing a desensitisation

therapy to treat peanut allergy using

the same technology. The company

has just completed a €6m round of

financing, including an equity invest-

ment by ALK-Abello, a major industry

leader in the allergy market.

www.glpg.com

Galapagos Genomics is a joint

venture created in 1999 by two

biotech companies: Crucell (Nasdaq,

Euronext: CRXL) and Tibotec-Virco

(Belgium). The company is currently

based in Belgium, and has a research

laboratory in the Netherlands.

Galapagos specialises in the identifi-

cation and validation of therapeutic

targets on behalf of third-party phar-

maceutical laboratories. Some of

these targets are also being devel-

oped as therapeutic molecules by

Galapagos internally.

Since its initial offering on Eurolist by

Euronext in Brussels and Amsterdam

in May 2005, Galapagos has raised

€31m and acquired four companies

having either capacities for the

discovery and development of innova-

tive complementary drugs, or a port-

folio of innovative products. In 2008,

Galapagos reached significant land-

marks in several of its collaborations

with major pharmaceutical laborato-

ries. In 2009, the company expects to

begin clinical development of three of

its molecules, in rheumatoid

polyarthritis and the treatment of

bone metastases.

In 2008, revenues were €77m, up by

17% compared with 2007 (€65.9m).

www.hybrigenics.fr

Hybrigenics pursues a twofold busi-

ness activity: discovering new phar-

macological targets through mapping

of protein-protein interactions for its

clients in the pharmaceutical

industry, but also developing future

drugs of its own. 

In 2005, the company acquired

licensing rights to develop inecalcitol,

a compound derived from vitamin D,

for the treatment of prostate cancer.

Through its market listing on

Alternext in December 2007, the

company was able to raise €6.2m to

finance the Phase II trial of its flag-

ship programme. 

In 2008, Hybrigenics saw its revenues

increase by 22% thanks to several

research partnerships and a

strengthening of its service business,

while inecalcitol is showing excellent

tolerability at increasing doses in its

Phase II trial.

www.evotec.com

Evotec is a drug research and devel-

opment company that relies both on

internal research programmes and

on external collaborations. In its

proprietary projects, the company

specialises in finding new treatments

for diseases of the central nervous

system (insomnia, Alzheimer’s, etc).

Evotec is listed on the Frankfurt stock

exchange.

In May 2007, Evotec took over

Neuro3d, in which Altamir had origi-

nally invested. In 2008, the company

published several encouraging clin-

ical trial results, notably for its

product EVT 302 for the treatment of
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nicotine addiction, and for EVT 101 for

the treatment of neuropathic pain.

The company generated revenues of

€39.6m in 2008, versus €32.9m in

2007.

www.neurotech.fr

Neurotech is a biotech company

specialising in the development of

cellular therapies and protein

delivery therapies for the treatment of

ophthalmological diseases. It is

developing ECT (Encapsulated Cell

Technology) and a pipeline of prod-

ucts, the most advanced of which, NT

501, has successfully completed

Phase I and II trials in the USA for the

treatment of pigmentary retinitis and

age-related macular degeneration.

The company relocated its headquar-

ters to the USA in July 2006, and

completed a capital increase of $35

million in September 2006. In 2008,

the US health authorities granted fast

track status to NT 501, making it

possible to contemplate the acceler-

ated development of the product, for

which the results of the Phase III clin-

ical trials are expected in the course

of 2009.

www.newron.it

Newron Pharmaceuticals is an Italian

company developing drugs for

diseases of the central nervous

system (CNS), particularly

Parkinson's disease, neuropathic low

back pain and Alzheimer’s disease.

The company has been listed on the

Swiss SWX market since December

2006.

The company is currently conducting

Phase III clinical trials with its two

flagship products, Safinamide for the

treatment of Parkinson’s disease,

and Ralfinamide for the treatment of

neuropathic low back pain. In 2008,

Newron announced positive Phase II

results for Ralfinamide, while

Safinamide was granted a new

European patent for the treatment of

restless leg syndrome.

www.orexo.com

Orexo is a Swedish pharmaceutical

company specialising in the develop-

ment of new, patented drugs 

by combining well-documented

substances with innovative technolo-

gies, principally for the treatment of

respiratory and inflammatory

diseases. Orexo is listed on the OMX

Nordic Exchange Stockholm, Small

Cap (ticker: ORX).

In the final quarter of 2007, Orexo

acquired Biolipox, a pharmaceutical

R&D company that develops new

treatments for inflammatory

diseases. Biolipox was originally an

investment of Altamir Amboise. 

Orexo has a large portfolio of prod-

ucts either already on the market or

at an advanced stage of development,

including Rapynil/Abstral, which

recently received marketing approval

from the European medical authori-

ties for the treatment of acute cancer

pain. The company’s sales totalled

SEK 233.3m in 2008, compared with

SEK 76.8m in 2007.

www.vedici.com

Founded in 2000, Vedici owns and

operates fifteen clinics specialising in

medicine, surgery and obstetrics,

representing a total capacity of over

2,600 beds. 

Vedici recorded pro forma revenues of

€271m in 2008, up by 4% on a like for

like basis, with an expected pro forma

EBITDA of €20m. Vedici made two

acquisitions in the second half of the

year (located in Nantes and Toulouse),

representing €41m in revenues and

€2m in cumulative EBITDA in 2008.

These acquisitions strengthen the

development of the Group, which has

tripled in size in two years. The Nantes

acquisition in particular enabled Vedici

to become the principal private oper-

ator in the region, with four clinics and

more than 800 beds, in line with its

strategy of creating leading regional

entities.

Today, Vedici’s objective is to integrate

the recently acquired clinics and opti-

mise their operations, while pursuing

its growth in the coming years through

several new clinic acquisitions in the

regions where it is active.

.
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In a difficult macro-economic context, busi-
ness services are showing good strength. This
is especially true of activities associated with
the environment, which are traditionally not

particularly cyclical, and outsourcing activities
that enable clients to achieve significant cost

savings in non-strategic domains such as admin-
istrative management and general services. In addi-

tion, energy-related activities are likely to continue their
strong long-term development due to the growing needs in

this domain.

Our specialised team has the industry expertise needed to support the
companies that will be tomorrow's concentration segments alongside management teams driven
by a strong entrepreneurial spirit. 

The market segments we favour are financial services, business process outsourcing, services
relating to energy and the environment, and more generally any type of outsourced service.

www.equalliance.com

Equalliance is one of the leaders in

investment real estate in France.

Created in 1998, the group originally

specialised in real estate develop-

ment. Today, Equalliance is a global

player combining four areas of busi-

ness:

• property development with Océanis,

which offers a wide range of invest-

ment products (De Robien/Borloo,

Girardin, Professional Furnished

Rentals, Non-Professional Furnished

Rentals, etc.);

• property administration with La SIT,

which conducts co-ownership

management activities, rental

management, leasing and real

estate transactions;

• para-hotel operations with Groupe

Suites Résidences, which focuses

on the development of residential

units intended for business

customers (under the brands My

Suitelnn and My Suite);

• the distribution of investment prod-

ucts since the acquisition of Cecim

in 2007.

The Equalliance group has 300

employees in France. 

Equalliance’s business is particularly

sensitive to the effects of the crisis

and the economic slowdown.

Consequently, the group decided in

June 2008 to halt a certain number of

projects in order to take stock of the

situation. As a result, it shows a

sharp decline in its business and

operating profitability for 2008, with

revenues of €329.8m, down from

€363.3m in 2007. 

Marketing in France, launched

through external growth (acquisition

of Cecim) and continued through

organic growth (startup of OFFEP),

made it possible to maintain a satis-

factory level of property sales (1,550

compared with 1,960 in 2007). 2009 is

likely to be in line with 2008 in terms

of business activity, and should

benefit from the new tax measures

(e.g. Scellier Law). 

In addition, some non-strategic

assets were sold off (three residences

under management).

In order to strengthen the financial

situation of the group, the financial

shareholders and the founder

subscribed to a €20m capital

increase in July 2008.

> Business & Financial 
Services
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www.faceo.com

Formed at the end of 2000, Faceo has

become a leading European playor in

Facility Management in just a few

years. A true global player, the group

covers a wide range of activities

based around property management

services and tenant services (e.g.

cleaning, maintenance, security,

remote surveillance, document

management, reception, property

management, etc.).

The Faceo group attends to the needs

of more than 130,000 European

users, and has an outstanding port-

folio of  clients, which includes AGF,

Alcatel, Areva, EADS, Cegelec, France

Telecom, General Electric, Nestlé,

PSA, Sanofi-Aventis, Siemens,

Thales, and the Quai Branly Museum.

It operates in France, Great Britain,

Germany, Austria, Italy, Switzerland

and the Benelux countries, the Faceo

group has over 1,500 employees. 

In 2008, Faceo posted revenues of

€392m, up 7.4% versus 2007. Several

major contracts were renewed in

France and the various other

European countries where Faceo has

a presence. EBITDA is expected to be

€27.3m, up by 8.3% year-on-year.

2009 promises to be in line with 2008,

considering the recurrence of

revenues linked to the duration of the

contracts signed. The available cash

should allow one or more additional

acquisitions to be made in 2009,

complementing the group’s offering.

Small acquisitions to supplement its

technical expertise were made in

Germany, the Netherlands and the

UK. François Jaclot was appointed as

Chairman of the Board of Directors to

support with the key accounts

marketing programme. 

www.sechilienne-sidec.com

Altamir Amboise is a shareholder of

Séchilienne Sidec through the

Financière Helios company, holding

43.1% of its capital.

Séchilienne-Sidec which is listed on

Euronext Paris, Compartment B, is a

designer, constructor and operator of

power plants using fossil fuels,

biomass, wind and solar power as

energy sources.

Its activities are concentrated in

energy production using

bagasse/coal-fired cogeneration

plants in the French overseas depart-

ments, the islands of the Indian

Ocean and, more recently, the devel-

opment of wind and solar energy in

metropolitan France. Séchilienne-

Sidec provides 50% of total electricity

production in La Réunion, 25% in

Guadeloupe and 30% in Mauritius. 

The group, which has its headquar-

ters in Paris, generated revenues of

€304.5m in 2008 compared with

€229.8m in 2007, representing an

annual growth of 32.5%. Its operating

profit was stable at €95.9m (€95.3m

in 2007).

This performance is chiefly attribut-

able to the impact of the rise in prices

for energy raw materials. Total power

in operation also grew as a result of

the commissioning of new wind and

solar capacities, reaching 579.4 MW

in 2008 compared with 551.5 MW at

the end of 2007. Finally, the company

continued its development in the

photovoltaic field with the completion

of sites totalling an additional 10 MW

awaiting connection to the EDF grid,

and the filing of building permit appli-

cations totalling 57 MW during the

fourth quarter of 2008 (building

permit application portfolio increased

to 90 MW).
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The desire of consumers to find differentiated
goods and services in attractive spaces is
creating an extremely wide field of opportuni-
ties for consumer goods and specialist

retailing. However, the slowdown in global
consumption underscores the selectivity of

consumers as they assess different brands when
making purchasing decisions, while facing what they

perceive to be limited purchasing power and growth
prospects in the near future.

The investment strategy of Apax Partners in specialist retailing
and consumer goods is designed to support ambitious entrepreneurs who

want to build leader companies in their market, founded on strong and differentiated store or retail
concepts, and on brands or store names with a broad and authentic territory.

Apax Partners is interested in all market segments: home appliances, personal equipment, direct
retail and e-commerce, B-to-B distribution, and consumer goods from major brands and distrib-
utors, with a preference for concepts in which the offer is created and managed by the distributor.

www.alainafflelou.com

Alain Afflelou, the leading brand

specialising in the sale of optical

products in France and Spain, was

created in 1975. It has a network of

894 points of sale, including 201 in

Spain at 31 December 2008. 

The company was listed on the

Second Marché of the Paris stock

exchange in April 2002, an operation

in which Altamir recouped almost all

of its initial investment. Following a

second selling operation on the

secondary market in February 2005,

the Apax funds and Mr Afflelou trans-

ferred control of the company to

Bridgepoint in March 2006, and the

company was delisted in January

2008. 

In 2008, the Group generated sales of

€190.7m, up 10% year-on-year with

an EBITDA of €53.8m (2007: 47.9m).

This performance is based on a

growth of 3.5% on a like for like basis

and on the opening of 57 stores

during the year.

In addition, the company 3ABOE,

controlled by the shareholders of the

Alain Afflelou group, bought up two of

these main franchises (43 stores in

total) in order to secure their opera-

tions over the long term and to

prevent them from being taken over

by rival chains. 

> Retail & 
Consumer

26



www.maisonsdumonde.com

Apax Partners and LBO France have

joined forces to acquire a majority

stake in Maisons du Monde, along-

side the management team and Ixen. 

Maisons du Monde is a retail chain

specialising in home decoration and

furniture. Founded in 1996, it has

become one of the leading French

brands in this market thanks to a

unique positioning: a range of quality

products based around major fashion

trends, at attractive prices. With a

presence in France, Belgium, Spain

and Italy, the brand has 184 stores in

shopping malls, city centres and

retail parks. Maisons du Monde has

also launched a Europe-wide e-

commerce website (www.maisonsdu-

monde.com).

In 2008, against a particularly difficult

economic background for the home

furnishings sector, Maisons du

Monde earned revenues of €256m up

11% versus 2007, with an EBITDA

margin of more than 14%. In addition

to developing its e-commerce site,

the Group benefited from the opening

of 14 new outlets in France and

abroad during 2008.

In 2009, in an environment that

remains weak, Maisons du Monde

expects to continue to gain market

shares due to to the strengthening of

its product range, particularly in

home furnishings, the opening of new

outlets (some 18 openings are sched-

uled) and the improvement of its

operating efficiency, especially in

terms of logistics.

www.grouperoyer.com

With 26 million shoes sold in 2008,

Royer is France's leading seller of

shoes under licence. It distributes

some thirty brands (Converse, Keds,

Hello Kitty, Naf-Naf, Paul & Joe

Sister, Airwalk, etc.), primarily

through independent retailers,

specialist retailers chains and

general retail chains. The Royer

group has 580 employees.

In January 2007, the group crossed a

major threshold in its development by

becoming the owner of Kickers, the

famous French brand of coloured

shoes distributed all over the world.

The children’s segment was also

strengthened in the same year, with

the acquisition of the Chipie brand. 

In addition, over the last two years,

Royer has established a high-end

segment by acquiring the Stéphane

Kélian brand in 2007 and the Charles

Jourdan brand in 2008. 

In 2008, in a weakened economic

environment, the Royer Group earned

revenues of around €260m, down

slightly from 2007. Profitability

remained at the same level as in

2007, with an EBITDA margin of 18%.

In August 2008, the Group refinanced

all of its medium and long-term debt,

thereby reducing its average

financing costs.

Royer made two acquisitions at the

beginning of 2009: TSS (Warner and

Disney licences) for its general retail

segment and the Renaudin Group

(Mod’8 and Aster brands) for its

Junior segment. These two external

growth operations strengthen the

Group’s fundamentals and enable it

to continue to gain market shares in

an economic context marked by a

slowdown in consumption.  

www.rueducommerce.com/
corporate

Launched in August 1999, Rue du

Commerce is France’s leading

consumer e-commerce site, special-

ising in the sale of computer and

electronic products (digital

imaging/audio, TV, hi-fi, video and

telephony). Since 30 September 2005,

Rue du Commerce has been listed on

Eurolist C by Euronext Paris.

Drawing the lessons from this highly

competitive market, the company

decided to shift its e-distributor

model towards that of an Internet

medium specialising in e-commerce

(“La Galerie”), with a view to

combining growth and profitability. 

At 30 September 2008, the company

achieved half-year revenues of

€138.4m, up by 2.8% on the previous

year, thanks to the launch of an inno-

vative offer of “€1 packages” and 

the development of “La Galerie”

(currently housing more than 700 e-

merchants). 

Over the same period, operating

income from ordinary activities

totalled €0.7m, down from €2.5m in

the first half of the previous year, due

to a substantial increase in logistical

and marketing costs (particularly

with respect to the implementation of

the €1 packages promotion) and the

recruitments necessary to ensure the

development of “La Galerie”, which

has not yet reached its threshold of

profitability.

In addition, on 6 February 2009, Rue

du Commerce announced that it had

signed an agreement to acquire the

business activities of the websites

Topachat.com and Clust.com from

France Telecom. This acquisition

enables the group to strengthen its

leadership position in France in the

sale of high-tech products over the

Internet.
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(Season)

www.heytens.com

www.mondialtissus.fr

Altamir Amboise is a shareholder of

the Season holding company, which

controls two retail chains, Heytens

and Mondial Tissus, distribution

specialists in the field of textiles and

interior decoration.

Heytens is a chain specialising in

window decoration: tailor-made

curtains, blinds and net curtains, with

a range of coordinated accessories

(wallpapers, lamps, cushions, rugs).

It operates a network consisting

chiefly of branches, with 155 stores,

including 17 franchises, in France,

Belgium and Switzerland. It has a

leadership position in these markets,

thanks to a unique concept based on

personalised customer service (free

advice and making). The objective is

to develop the concept in France and

abroad.

Mondial Tissus is the French leader

in the sale of fabrics, with 72 stores

located in shopping districts away

from city centres. The management

team was strengthened by the

recruitment of a new director in 2007,

who repositioned the brand in growth

markets such as household linens

and introduced SKU management

within the chain to improve stock

management.

In 2008, Season posted sales of

€208.8m, down slightly from 2007

(€211.8m), despite the opening of 17

stores. This result was due to a

decrease on a like for like basis of the

Heytens and Mondial Tissus brands

by 7.3% and 5.8% respectively,

against a difficult market back-

ground. 2008 EBITDA was €21.3m

(down from €32.3m in 2007).

In 2008, a new brand director was

recruited to head Heytens. His main

role is to boost its marketing and

commercial momentum while

improving the efficiency of the organ-

isation. In parallel, several initiatives

have been launched to reduce costs,

working capital requirements and

investments, in order to facilitate

cash flow generation in the group. 

www.u10.fr

Altamir Amboise is a shareholder of

the holding company U10

Partenaires, which holds 57.4% of the

U10 group. U10 is listed on Euronext

Paris, Compartment C.

As a supplier of the international

distribution industry, U10 has devel-

oped a role as an added-value inter-

mediary by creating lines of

made-to-measure products and

services (turnkey product ranges,

supply chain, delivery to warehouses

or shops, shelf-space management

in points of sale). 

For several years, U10 has pursued a

very active policy of external growth

(around a dozen acquisitions since

2001). With a presence in France,

Spain and China, the Group has more

than 450 employees.

In a particularly difficult economic

climate, U10 earned revenues of

€192.3m in 2008, down 8.8% versus

2007 (-6.9% at a constant exchange

rate). The operating margin was 5.0%

in the first half of 2008, while the

annual results for 2008 will be

announced by the company in April

2009.

The lack of growth experienced over

the last year will depress the trading

results for 2008. The main indicators

available for 2009 do not encourage

any expectation of a positive upturn in

the situation. Current visibility is very

limited, and the first part of 2009

promises to be troubled economi-

cally. In this context, the Group is

focusing on optimising its manage-

ment, particularly its working capital

requirements.
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Ladies and Gentlemen

As required by law and our Articles of Association, we have called this Ordinary and Extraordinary General
Meeting to deliver our report on the situation and the activities of the Company during the financial year ended
31 December 2008 and to submit for your approval the annual financial statements for that year. We shall give
you all details and additional information regarding the documents required under current regulations, which
have been available to you during the statutory period.
This Ordinary and Extraordinary General Meeting is also held to make some modifications to the Articles of
Association of Altamir Amboise.

The year 2008 was marked by an unprecedented financial crisis that has affected the entire banking system and
all stock exchanges throughout the world: the CAC 40 index fell nearly 43% during the year. 

This crisis has resulted in a sharp fall in stock market multiples directly affecting the valuations of private equity
portfolios expressed in fair market value. 
It has also resulted in the drying up of bank financing and a considerable slowing of private equity activity, in
particular in the LBO segment.

In this context, Altamir Amboise has published a Net Asset Value down 35.3% (30.7% excluding dilution from the
exercise of share warrants), principally linked to the fall in stock market multiples, given that 97% of the portfolio
at 31 December 2008 was valued on the basis of market prices for listed companies, or comparable multiples.

The Altamir Amboise portfolio is weathering the crisis well. It is well diversified in terms of sectors, and most
sectors are continuing to grow, while the specialised distribution sector is more exposed to the economic
slowdown. 

The Company has also carried out a significant volume of investments primarly in two new companies, Maisons
du Monde and Altran Technologies. In terms of disposals, there have been no major sales; only one refinancing
transaction was put through at the beginning of the year, along with the sale of the holding in IDM Pharma when
its share price rose after the Company had obtained market authorisation for one of its products after twelve
years of research.

During the year, Altamir Amboise raised €33.5 million following the exercise of BSAs (warrants) in March and
September 2008.
The partners of Apax Partners roundly demonstrated their confidence in the Company by increasing their stake
to 22.35%.

As regards performance, there are three items to consider:

- The Net Asset Value (NAV) calculated under IFRS amounted to €9.80 per share attributable to limited partners
holding ordinary shares, down 35.3% year on year (€15.14 at 31 December 2007).
Excluding dilution from exercising warrants (BSA), the NAV per share would have stood at €10.49, down 30.7%
year on year.

- The accounting net income amounted to -€117.0 million (€29.2 million net profit in 2007). 95% of this loss
consisted of provisions made to reflect the unrealised capital depreciation resulting from the difference between
the cost price of the portfolio and its change in fair market value during the year. However, the unrealised
capital gains are not recognised. Net capital gains on sales amounted to just €1.8 million because of the almost
total lack of disposals.

> MANAGEMENT REPORT - ALTAMIR AMBOISE
To the Ordinary and Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders 
held to consider the financial results for 2008
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- Overall, the operating performance of the companies in the portfolio at 31 December 2008 improved during the

year. The 21 LBO/Development companies which make up most of the portfolio reported a cumulative rise of

over 7% in their revenues and nearly 4% in EBITDA. 

The Company's Net Asset Value provides the most relevant financial indicator for reviewing the Company's

activity. It is calculated by valuing the investments under IFRS, based on the recommendations from the Inter-

national Private Equity Valuations organisation (IPEV).

This organisation includes a large number of professional associations, among them the EVCA (European Venture

Capital Association). 

NAV per share is stated net of the portion attributable to the general partner and to the holders of B shares.

1. Company situation and future prospects

1.1 Change in assets in financial year 2008

• The Company invested and committed €96.4 million during the year compared to €108.0 million in 2007 

- An investment of €25.2 million in Maisons du Monde through two holding companies (amounting to 13.9% of

the operating company). Maisons du Monde is one of the leading French companies in the growing decorations

market (decoration and furnishing). 

Present in France, Belgium, Spain and Italy, Maisons du Monde has 175 outlets and in 2007 posted revenues of

€230 million.

- An investment of €52.4 million in the listed company Altran Technologies through the Altrafin holding company
(amounting to 8.13% of the operating company)(1) . Altran Technologies, a leading European company in innova-

tion consulting, has over 17,000 employees in 20 countries and in 2007 posted revenues of €1.6 billion.

- Additional net investments and commitments of €18.8 million in portfolio companies
The additional investments concern Equalliance for €4.9 million and additional collateral payments following the

fall in stock prices of some companies in the portfolio. These collateral payments concern listed companies

whose peformance have increased since 31 December 2007. These payments will become available again when

the stock prices rise. 

In appendix 3 you will find the information required under Articles L 233-6 and L 233-7 of the French Commer-

cial Code concerning shareholder thresholds, as set out in Article L 247-1 of said code.

• 2008 net disposals amounted to €4.3 million (compared to €69.1 million for 2007)

The Company received €4.3 million and realised a net capital gain of €1.8 million (€38.5 million for 2007) under

French statutory accounting policies in addition to the provision write-backs on assets sold of €1.1 million (€8.0

million in 2007).

- The principal transaction concerns a €4.0 million refinancing of IEE and a capital gain of €2.9 million.

- All IDM shares were sold in the market for a total of €0.12 million.

- Other transactions are not material.

(1) Note that the total invested and committed as at 31 December 2008 is different from that previously published since it incorporates the
final amount of Altran’s capital increase subscribed by Altamir Amboise and the non-syndication of part of this commitment as initially
planned.



• Cash position at 31 December 2008 stood at €2.2 million (compared to €69.8 million at 31 December 2007)

Because of a high level of investment and an almost a complete lack of disposals, cash position was reduced to

€2.2 million. Given the lack of visibility as regards potential sales and the complementary needs of the existing

portfolio, the manager decided to keep a high flexibility for co-investments during the first half of 2009, fixing the

rate of co-investment in a range from 5% to 43%.

We should also note that the Company has a credit line standing at 10% of its net assets, or €26 million on the

basis of net book assets at 31 December 2008.

• The portfolio at 31 December 2008 includes 36 separate investments.

The portfolio at 31 December 2008 consists of 36 holdings(2), essentially in growth companies in the 6 sectors in

which Altamir Amboise specialises.

The portfolio overall is doing well and is weathering the crisis. The healthcare and telecoms sectors posted

double-digit growth in revenues and operating profits during 2008. However, specialised retail is more exposed

to the economic slowdown, as are certain businesses that depend on the property and automobile markets. Such

companies represent only 28% of the portfolio at cost. 

The LBO/Development portfolio(3), which represented 97% of IFRS assets at the end of 2008, posted over 7%

growth in added revenues and nearly 4% in added EBITDA in 2008(4). Similarly, the overall trend in the Venture

portfolio, consisting of 15 companies, was quite positive during 2008.

1.2 Other important events in 2008 

• “March 2008” Warrants

Prior to the merger, Altamir had issued 539,041 “March 2008” share warrants (denomination: Altamir Amb

BS0308).

These warrants, which were admitted for trading on the Euronext Paris Eurolist market from 23 January 2007,

permitted holders to subscribe new ordinary shares at the rate of 17,816 new shares in Altamir Amboise for 

3 “March 2008” warrants between the dates of 17 March 2008 and 21 March 2008 inclusive (after taking into

account the division of the par value and the completion of the equity rights issue).

The exercise price of the warrants was set at 85% of the average ordinary Altamir Amboise share price, weighted

by the trading volumes of the ten market sessions from 3 March 2008 to 14 March 2008 inclusive ("the Reference

Period") without however being less than the share’s par value of 6 euros.

360,021 share warrants were exercised at €6. This transaction gave rise to the issue of 2,137,824 new shares for

a total of €12,826,944.

• “September 2008” Warrants

It should be noted that these warrants were initially attached to shares in Amboise Investissement. On the

occasion of the merger with Altamir & Cie, the Extraordinary General Meeting of 4 June 2007 decided to

standardise the terms of these warrants (of which half were originally exercisable in September 2007 and the

other half in September 2008) and to detach them in advance from the Amboise Investissement shares.

Taking into account the merger ratio of 1 Altamir Amboise share with a par value of €6 per share in Amboise

Investissement, on the one hand, and the Altamir Amboise rights issue, on the other, the exercise ratio of 1

Amboise Investissement share for 4 warrants was transformed into an exercise ratio of 1.048 Altamir Amboise

shares for 4 warrants.

32

(2) A portfolio of 36 holdings that does not include Morgan, which was put into official receivership in 2008 and ultimately will be removed from
the portfolio on termination of the receivership procedure in progress.

(3) 21 companies in LBO and Capital Development as at 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2008.

(4) Cumulative change in revenues and EBITDA for the 21 companies between 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2008 (estimated).
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13,159,873 warrants were exercised (out of a total of 19,610,400), at a price of €6 per share.

This transaction gave rise to the issue of 3,447,621 new shares for a total of €20,685,726.

• Other capital transactions

Altamir Amboise distributed a dividend of €548,711 to the General Partner, €4,938,397 to partners holding B

shares, and €5,919,776 to partners holding Class A ordinary shares (limited partners).

Holders of A and B shares had the option of receiving their dividend in shares.

Following this option, 1,287,955 new shares were issued amounting to €7,727,730.

The partners of Apax Partners SA increased their holding in Altamir Amboise equity through the purchase of

shares, payment of a dividend in shares, market purchases of preferential subscription rights and the exercise

of these warrants. After these transactions, the partners’ stake rose from 12% at 31 December 2007 to 22.35%

of the equity and voting rights in Altamir Amboise at 31 December 2008. 

After these transactions, the capital structure of Altamir Amboise consists of:

- 36,512,301 Class A ordinary shares (ISIN code: FR0000053837- symbol: LTA)

- 18,582 Class B unlisted shares representing the carried interest rights of Apax Partners 

- 37,164 warrants for B preferred shares representing the carried interest rights of Apax Partners.

1.3 Significant events since 31 December 2008

1.3.1 Market situation, investments and divestments 

Like 2008, 2009 remains a depressed economic environment with very little visibility of the months ahead.

This will not stop our disposals or investments, which will remain very selective depending on the state of the

economy.

Corevalve shareholders have agreed to a period of exclusive negotiation with a major group in the sector. 

Morgan, a company that went into receivership late 2008, now has a proposed continuation plan which remains

subject to meeting certain conditions precedent.

Other asset sales could occur during the first half of 2009.

1.3.2 New procedures for investing in Apax Partners’ funds

Ever since it was founded in 1995 under the name of Altamir & Cie, the Company has been co-investing with the

FCPRs (Fonds Commun de Placement à Risque) managed by Apax Partners SA, by directly acquiring interests

in the companies in which these various FCPRs invest. This process, which, as regards FCPR Apax France VII,

is governed by a co-investment charter concluded in 2007, was very simple to implement, since the management

company of these FCPRs and the management company of Altamir Amboise were both managed by Mr Maurice

Tchenio, founder of the Apax Group.

In accordance with long-standing plans, FCPR Apax France VIII, which is in the process of raising funds, will be

managed by the Apax team led by Eddie Misrahi.

As a result, for the first time since the launch of Altamir Amboise, Altamir Amboise and the FCPR Apax in the

investment phase will no longer have the same decision-making body.

This situation led to a decision that Altamir Amboise would invest directly in FCPR Apax France VIII, rather than

in each company individually, alongside the Fund, as was the case in the past. This new procedure will make it

possible to clearly distinguish those assets that will be managed in future by the Apax team (via FCPR Apax

France VIII) under its new management, from those that will continue to be managed directly by the team led by

Mr Maurice Tchenio.

>
 M

A
N

A
G

E
M

E
N

T
 R

E
P

O
R

T



What this means in practice is that Altamir Amboise will invest in an FCPR called “Apax France VIII b”, the opera-

tional rules of which were designed to enable Altamir Amboise to record in its results the capital gains from

disposals made, as of their distribution, in order to ensure the greatest possible accounting transparency and to

avoid penalising the company’s distribution capacity.

In addition, to ensure that management fees are not charged twice, Apax Partners & Cie Gérance will not charge

management fees on the amounts invested by Altamir Amboise in FCPR Apax France VIII b. This means that

Altamir Amboise will not pay the management fees charged by this FCPRs management company, in the same

way and for exactly the same amounts as the other investors of FCPR Apax France VIII. During the fund’s invest-

ment phase, these management fees are 2% (including all taxes) of the amount of the subscriber’s commit-

ment. These fees will fall in subsequent years. The average rate of the management fees is roughly 1.80%,

including all taxes.

Similarly, in order to avoid carried interest being deducted twice from the performances of FCPR Apax France

VIII B, the fraction of Altamir Amboise’s result from this fund will be excluded from the base used to calculate

the rights on the profits of the general partner and B shareholders.

These cancellation mechanisms will lead to the statutory modifications that will be presented to you in section

10 of this report.

Altamir Amboise’s largest possible subscription in Apax France VIII, the investment period of which is expected

to take place between 2010 and 2013, will likely be approximately € 200 million, with the right to adjust the level

of investments to cash actually available. This level may be examined every 6 months, as is currently the case

for the co-investment rate.

1.4 Financial communication policy

Every quarter, the Company publishes its financial results and a press release on changes in the NAV.

It provides a more comprehensive briefing at the end of each six-monthly accounting period and hosts two infor-

mation meetings a year for analysts, investors and the press.

Every material investment or disposal is covered by a press release. Every significant capital transaction 

(e.g. exercises of the March & September warrants) is covered by a letter to shareholders.

Since 2006 there has been a full-time employee dedicated to the Company's financial communications.

All information concerning the Company's portfolio and results are available on its website: www.altamir-

amboise.fr 

2. Financial information

The most representative financial information is Net Asset Value (NAV) per share, which is based on the IFRS

balance sheet.

The Net Asset Value (NAV) under IFRS attributable to limited partners holding ordinary shares stood at €9.80

per share down 35.3% year on year (€15.14 at 31 December 2007).

Excluding the dilution from exercising share warrants (BSA), the NAV per share reduction would have been 30.7%.

The main items included in the French statutory financial statements and the IFRS financial statements are

given below. 
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2.1 French statutory income/(loss)

In view of its specific activities, the Company does not post any revenues.

Net income/loss serves as the base on which distributable earnings are calculated. However, net income does

not reflect the quality of Altamir Amboise’s portfolio or its performance given that, in contrast to IFRS accounting

standards, only provisions against investments are recorded in French statutory financial statements and they

do not include unrealised capital gains.

The Company posted a 2008 net loss amounting to €117,010,695, compared with a net profit of €29,186,839 in

2007.

The loss is broken down as follows:

(in thousands of euros) 2008 2007

Loss on income transactions -7,117 -6,429

Loss on capital transactions -109,706 35,621

Exceptional income 2 35

Exceptional expenses 189 41

In order to clarify the information concerning the portfolio companies’ activities, income (i.e. dividends and

interest) and any impairment charges against interest receivable and bad debt losses are included under the

line “Capital Transactions”.

Total 2008 income amounts to €14,147,000, up from €9,016,000 in 2007. The €14,147,000 income includes a

€13,985,000 provision booked under expense (see below). Bad debt losses amounted to €330,000 (€1,389,000

in 2007).

€24,007,000 in income has been accrued in respect of interest on the convertible bonds or equivalent securities

given that the Company has established that this interest income was generally included in the purchase price

paid by third parties rather than paid directly by the issuing company. They are therefore now included in the value

of the companies instead of being accounted for as interest receivable.

The loss on capital transactions largely consists of €130,026,000 in provisions including €106,018,000 of impair-

ment charges against equity investments and bad debt provisions (€22,346,000 in 2007), €24,007,000 of impair-

ment charges against interest receivable (€17,000 in 2007) and €4,689,000 in provision write-backs (€11,877,000

in 2007). 

2.2 French statutory balance sheet

Total balance sheet assets at 31 December 2008 amounted to €259,641,000.

Balance sheet assets included €229,245,000 in long-term portfolio investments (“TIAP”), €27,836,000 in related

receivables, €309,000 in other long-term financial investments (Altamir Amboise treasury shares held under

the liquidity agreement), €2,177,000 in marketable securities, €12,000 in cash and cash equivalents, and €61,000

in prepaid expenses.

The shareholders’ equity and liabilities section included €259,073,000 in shareholders’ equity and €569,000 in

trade payables, other payables and related accounts.

Off-balance sheet commitments amounted to €3,482,000 in firm commitments given by the Company for

additional investments (there are no new committed investments) and €1,841,000 in guarantee commitment or

similar commitments.
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2.3 IFRS results

(in thousands of euros) 2008 2007

Value adjustments on disposals for the period 1,596 31,779

Changes in fair value of portfolio -157,958 56,734

Other portfolio income 280 1,681

Income/loss from investment -156,082 90,194

Gross operating income/loss -164,639 80,069

Net operating income/loss -135,553 63,667

Net financial income attributable to ordinary shares 8,940 2,443

Net income/loss attributable to ordinary shares -126,613 66,110

Net gains on disposals totalling €1,596,000 reflect the difference between the real disposal price of the securi-

ties sold and their fair value under IFRS standards at 31 December of the preceding year (rather than the realised

capital gain in relation to the cost price).

Other portfolio net income amounting to €280 consists of dividends and interest received.

Gross operating income/loss includes operating expenses for the year.

Net operating income/loss amounts to gross operating income/loss less the share of earnings attributable to the

general partner and the holders of B shares.

Net income/loss attributable to ordinary shareholders includes investment income and related interest and

expense.

2.4 IFRS balance sheet

(in thousands of euros) 2008 2007

Total non-current assets 356,307 422,587

Total current assets 2,268 69,866

Total assets 358,575 492,453

Total shareholders’ equity 358,003 448,845

Portion attributable to general partners and Class B shareholders 3 34,577

Other non-current liabilities 0 0

Other current liabilities 569 9,031

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 358,575 492,453

The change in shareholders’ equity for the period was as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

Shareholders’ equity at 31 December 2007 448,845

IFRS loss for the period -126,613

Transactions on treasury shares - 87

Capital increases 41,778

Distribution of dividends to Class A holders -5,920

Shareholders’ equity at 31 December 2008 358,003

2.5 Valuation methods

Altamir Amboise applies valuation methods based on the recommendations of the International Private Equity

Valuation organisation (IPEV), which comply with IFRS.

To take account of the current environment, in November 2008 IPEV confirmed that Fair Value would continue

to be applied for valuing private equity portfolios, while stating that calculation of the fair value must take account

of the specific features of each investment.
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Consequently, the manager has decided to retain the current valuation policy which he considers to be prudent

since it is based on fair value and a discount of up to 30% applied to unlisted securities. 

At 31 December 2008, the sample of comparable multiples was expanded and now includes both listed compa-

nies and the multiples applied in recent transactions, except for two cases where the Discounted Cash Flow

(DCF) method proved to be more appropriate.

2.6 Impact of IFRS standards

The merger between Altamir & Cie and Amboise Investissement gave rise to a number of occasions where share-

holders crossed statutory thresholds in terms of equity stakes.

The Company adopted the IFRS standards on 30 June 2007, with IFRS data restated since 1 January 2006.

Altamir Amboise therefore now produces two sets of financial statements as follows:

- French statutory financial statements

- IFRS financial statements

The switch to IFRS accounting resulted in the valuation of portfolio securities in the financial statements, which

means the Net Asset Value attributable to limited partners can be read directly.

The IFRS financial statements also account for the liability of share warrants issued that are valued at market

prices at the year end, and treasury shares held. 

3. Changes in the share price

Changes in the Altamir Amboise share price from 1 January 2008 to 31 December 2008 (source: Euronext) 

High Low Volume 
(closing price) (closing price) traded

Price €8.81 €2.5 17,554,202

At 31/12/08 At 31/12/07

Price €2.53 €9.05

The “March 2008” and “September 2008” warrants were exercised at par value (€6).

4. Share ownership

In accordance with Articles 233-7 et seq. of the French Commercial Code, we inform you that the following

threshold crossings were reported to us during the year:

• Mr Maurice Tchenio, directly or through the companies that he controls (MMG SAS, Apax Partners SA and Apax

Partners SNC), domiciled at 45 Avenue Kléber, 75116 Paris, and the other partners of Apax Partners exceeded

the 20% threshold on 29 September 2008. Note that since this date Apax Partners SNC has taken over the

company MMG SAS.

In a letter to the AMF (French Financial Services Authority) dated 1 October 2008, Mr Maurice Tchenio and Apax

Partners SA partners declared as follows:

"The partners in Apax Partners who hold 22.35% in Altamir Amboise declare that they do not have the intention

of significantly increasing their overall interest in the company during the months ahead."

• A threshold crossing was declared on 11 February 2008: Sycomore Asset Management, domiciled at 24-32 rue

Jean Goujon, 75008 Paris, exceeded the 10% threshold.
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5. Payment of the 2007 dividend

The General Meeting of 3 April 2008 approved the payment of a dividend of:

- €548,711 to the General Partner.

- €4,938,397 to holders of Class B preferred shares.

- €5,919,776, or €0.20 per share, to Class A shareholders, with the exception of treasury shares. 

Part of the dividend (€7,727,730) was paid by issuing 1,287,955 new Class A shares. This corresponds to

€4,348,152 of the holdings in Class B shares, or 88% of the dividend attributed to the holders of such shares and

€3,379,572 of the holdings in Class A shares, or 57% of the dividend attributed to the holders of such shares.

6. Appropriation of earnings recommended by the supervisory board

6.1 We remind you that in accordance with Article 25 of the Company’s Articles of Association:

• Each financial year, the Company shall, by way of dividend, pay the General Partner at the times and places

indicated by the Management and not later than nine months from the balance sheet date, a total sum equiva-

lent to 2% of the restated income for that year.

• Each financial year, the Company shall, by way of dividend, pay holders of Class B shares, at the times and

places indicated by the Management and not later than nine months from the balance sheet date, a total sum

equivalent to 18% of the restated income for that year.

• The Supervisory Board shall at the Ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders propose the allocation of the

balance of distributable earnings.

6.2 The net book income/loss for the year ended 31 December 2008 showed a loss of €117,010,695.

At the General Meeting, it will be proposed that this loss should be carried forward. 

6.3 In accordance with the provisions of Article 243 bis of the French General Tax Code, we inform you that 
a dividend of €1,864,884, or €3.50 per share, was paid for 2005, that a dividend of €5,390,410, or €10.00 per
share, was paid for 2006, and that a dividend of €5,919,776, or €0.20 per share, was paid for 2007.

A statutory dividend of €359,834 was paid to the General Partner and a statutory dividend of €3,238,506 was

paid to holders of Class B shares for 2006 in accordance with the Articles of Association. A statutory dividend of

€548,711 was paid to the General Partner and a statutory dividend of €4,938 397 was paid to holders of Class B

shares for 2007 in accordance with the Articles of Association. No dividend was paid to them for 2005.

6.4 In accordance with the provisions of Article 148 of the decree of 23 March 1967, a table showing the results
of the Company over the past five years is annexed to this report.

7. Fees granted to members of the supervisory board

It is proposed that the sum of €90,000 be allocated to fees for members of the Supervisory Board.
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8. Regulated agreements

The Management informs the shareholders that there are no new agreements governed by Article L 226-10 of

the French Commercial Code.

The existing agreements are described in the special report from the auditors.

9. Governance and control bodies of the company

The terms of office of five of the nine members of the Supervisory Board will expire following the next Ordinary

Annual General Meeting called to approve the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2008. 

These members are:

- Jean Besson 

- Charles Hochman 

- Jean-Hugues Loyez 

- Joël Séché 

- Jacques Veyrat 

Mr Alain Afflelou announced his resignation from the Supervisory Board on 14 January 2009.

Mr Jacques Veyrat declared his wish that his term of office not be extended at the next General Meeting.

It is proposed that the other four members be re-appointed for two additional years, that is, until the end of the

Ordinary General Meeting called to review the financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2010.

These members are:

- Jean Besson, Résidence Saint Honoré, 179 rue Saint Honoré – 75001 Paris

- Charles Hochman, 19 rue Raynouard – 75016 Paris

- Jean-Hugues Loyez, 9 rue de l’Eglise – 7618 Taintignies - Belgium

- Joël Séché, Les Hêtres – 53810 Changé

The list of appointments of and duties performed by the members of the Supervisory Board is shown in Appendix I

to this report.

10. Proposed modifications to the articles of association 

The decision by Altamir Amboise to invest directly in the FCPR (Fonds Commun de Placement à Risque) Apax

France VIII fund, rather than to co-invest alongside the FCPR as had been done in the past, requires the creation

of a mechanism aimed at preventing the same assets from having to bear a double management fee (for Altamir

Amboise and for the FCPR) and double carried interest.

Since, as part of its equity investment in FCPR Apax France VIII, Altamir Amboise must bear the same manage-

ment fees and the same carried interest as other investors in this fund, it is appropriate:

• to reduce the management fee theoretically due to the Manager of Altamir Amboise for the sums invested in

this FCPR; this reduction will be done on the basis of the average rate of management fees applied by the FCPR;

• and to eliminate the theoretical carried interest of the Manager and of the B shareholders to earnings gener-

ated by this equity investment.
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Since these elements are governed by the Bylaws, we propose that you amend Articles 17 and 25 of the Bylaws
in order to:

• deduct from the amount of the management fees paid to the Manager a sum equal to 1.80% of the book value
of the investment made by Altamir Amboise in FCPR Apax France VIII;

• and deduct from the restated income, serving as a basis for the profit entitlements of the Manager and the B
shareholders, the fraction of the net income of Altamir Amboise deriving from its investment in this FCPR.

This rule will apply in the same way to any future FCPR Apax France vehicles in which Altamir Amboise may
invest.

11. Growth in the company's resources

At 31 December 2008, the cash and cash equivalents of Altamir Amboise stood at €2.2 million excluding accrued
interest on receivables. Firm investment commitments stood at €3.5 million. No dividend distribution will be
proposed for 2008.
In accordance with Articles L 255-129-1 and L 255-129-2, we inform you that the Extraordinary General Meeting
of 4 June 2007 granted the Management the authority to carry out capital increases not exceeding €80 million
within 26 months, this amount to be increased by the number of shares necessary for any adjustments likely to
be implemented in accordance with legal, administrative or contractual requirements in order to maintain the
rights of holders of marketable securities that give rights to shares in the Company.
A total amount of €64,020,024 has been utilised under this facility (for 10,670,004 new shares with a par value
of €6 per share).
The manager does not intend to use his authority to execute any new transactions with the balance of
€15,979,976 within the stipulated period.

12. Liquidity of the share

A new share buyback programme was authorised by the Ordinary General Meeting of 3 April 2008 with two objec-
tives as follows:

• firstly, to enable the Company to optimise management of its Net Asset Value per share by purchasing shares
and, as required, by cancelling them through capital reduction,

• and secondly, to continue to bolster the market.

The possibility of cancelling treasury shares exists, but is subject to approval at an Extraordinary General Meeting
of a specific resolution authorising such a reduction in capital.

This buyback programme has the following terms: 

• The total number of shares to be repurchased may not exceed 5% of the share capital. For information purposes
only, this percentage represents 1,481,945 shares based on the share capital at 31 December 2007.

• The maximum purchase price per share may not exceed €20.00 (excluding acquisition costs), 

• The maximum amount available to be spent by the Company for repurchasing its own shares is in all events
capped at €29,638,900, an amount that is far lower than the total amount of available reserves, which stood at
€39,812,912 on 31 December 2008.

• The purchase of shares, as also their sale or transfer, may be carried out by any means authorised by the
applicable regulations, either on the market or over the counter and, in particular, by the purchase or
sale/transfer of blocks. The Company may also have recourse to transactions involving options or derivatives.
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• This authorisation was given for a period of 18 months beginning on 4 April 2008. It will therefore expire on 

29 October 2009.

The only goal of purchases made during 2008 was to bolster the volume of shares traded.

The results of this programme during 2008 are as follows:

Number Amounts (€) Average price (€)

Purchase 103,226 627,824.53 6.08

Sale 87,092 539,179.55 6.19

These transactions resulted in a loss of €187,293.80 for Altamir Amboise.

At 31 December 2008, the following funds were in the liquidity account:

- 52,010 shares

- €172,617.46 in cash

For information, the result of the contract for 2007 was as follows:

Number Amounts (€) Average price (€)

Purchase 66,868 725,442.75 10.85

Sale 30,992 331,975.23 10.71

These transactions resulted in a profit of €8,566.23 for Altamir Amboise.

A new share buyback programme is proposed to the Ordinary General Meeting with the same two objectives:

• firstly, to enable the Company to optimise management of its Net Asset Value per share by purchasing shares

and, as required, by cancelling them through capital reduction,

• and secondly, to continue to bolster the market.

The possibility of cancelling treasury shares exists, but is subject to approval at an Extraordinary General Meeting

of a specific resolution authorising such a reduction in capital.

This buyback programme has the following terms: 

• The total number of shares to be repurchased may not exceed 5% of the capital. For information purposes

only, this percentage represents 1,825,615 based on the share capital at 31 December 2008.

• The maximum purchase price per share may not exceed €20.00 (excluding acquisition costs), 

• The maximum amount available to be spent by the Company for repurchasing its own shares is in all events

capped at €36,512,300, an amount that is less than the total amount of available reserves, which stood at

€39,812,000 on 31 December 2008.

• The purchase of shares, as also their sale or transfer, may be carried out by any means authorised by the

applicable regulations, on the market or over the counter and, in particular, by the purchase or sale/transfer of

blocks. The Company may also have recourse to transactions involving options or derivatives.

• This authorisation was given for a period of 18 months beginning on 304 April 2009. It will therefore expire on

29 October 2010.

• The share buy-back program will be financed using the Company's cash and cash equivalents.
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13. Corporate governance

Since the Company was founded, it has followed a corporate governance policy in accordance with the recom-

mendations of the task forces chaired by Messrs Marc Vienot and Daniel Bouton and with the "Breton Act" of 

26 July 2005. Among other things, this has resulted in the appointment of the Supervisory Board exclusively from

independent candidates.

During 2008, two members of the Supervisory Board, Messrs Alain Afflelou and Philippe Santini are, or have

been, officers of companies in which Altamir Amboise is a shareholder. The extreme minority position of Altamir

Amboise ensured that there was no risk of conflict of interest.

The Supervisory Board has appointed an audit committee whose function is to assist the Management in drawing

up the semi-annual reports and the quarterly statements of Net Asset Value. The Chairman of the Supervisory

Board will present to you the evaluation of the work carried out by the Board and by this committee.

Since Altamir Amboise has no employees, no remuneration committee has been created.

Pursuant to the AFEP-MEDEF recommendations, Altamir Amboise published the following press release on 

22 December 2008:

”Having reviewed the AFEP-MEDEF recommendations dated 6 October 2008 concerning the remuneration of

executive corporate officers in publicly listed companies, Altamir Amboise’s Management decided to implement

these recommendations, to the extent applicable.

Consequently, pursuant to the Law of 3 July 2008 implementing Council Directive 2006/46/EC of 14 June 2006,

the company Altamir Amboise shall, beginning in the current financial year, refer to the amended version of the

AFEP-MEDEF code when preparing the report stipulated in articles L 225-37 and L 225-68 of the French

Commercial Code.”

14. Remuneration of corporate officers and management 

and list of offices and functions

Article L 225-102-1 of the French Commercial Code (Law 2001-420 of 15 May 2001, known as "NRE") requires

the Management Report to disclose officers’ remuneration and a listing of the offices and their functions.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries remunerates the officers in any manner other than by granting

the Supervisory Board members’ fees approved by the General Meeting.

The amounts paid during 2008 were as follows:

- Jean Besson (Board and Audit Committee member) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .€13,800

- Fernand-Luc Buffelard (Board member)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .€6,900

- Michel Combes (Board member)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .€6,900

- Gérard Hascoët (Board and Audit Committee member)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .€13,800

- Charles Hochman (Board member) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .€6,900

- Jean-Hugues Loyez (Board and Amboise Audit Committee member before the merger)  . . . . . . . . . . .€13,800

- Philippe Santini (Board member) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .€6,900

- Joël Séché (Board and Amboise Audit Committee member before the merger)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .€13,800

- Jacques Veyrat (Board member)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .€6,900

The 2008 management remuneration (excl VAT) was calculated in accordance with Article 17.1 of the Articles of

Association and amounted to €335,709.
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15. Transactions involving altamir amboise shares carried out by executives 

Taking into account the merger of Altamir et Cie with Amboise Investissement and the capital increase that

followed, shares held by executives at 31 December 2008 were as follows:

• Management:
- Maurice Tchenio, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, directly or through related companies: 7,259,823

ordinary shares, 4,432 Class B shares

- Ms. Monique Cohen, Chief Operating Officer: 55,728 ordinary shares, 897 Class B shares.

• Members of the Supervisory Board:

Name Balance Balance
at 31/12/07 at 31/12/08

Charles Hochman 54,513 57,331

Jean Besson 27,125 43,693

Alain Afflelou 0 0

Philippe Santini 1 1

Fernand-Luc Buffelard 44,420 59,071

Gérard Hascoët 25,364 25,364

Jean-Hugues Loyez 8,196 8,196

Joël Séché 81,967 132,343

Jacques Veyrat 12,804 12,804

16. Elements that could have an impact in the event of a public tender offer

The Company is constituted as a Limited Partnership by shares. It cannot be the target of a takeover bid resulting

in control passing to a limited partner with a majority shareholding.

Article 15 of the Articles of Association stipulates that only the general partner is entitled to appoint and dismiss

the manager.

17. Social and environmental consequences of the company's activities 

– seveso facilities

Since the Company has no employees and is not engaged in any commercial or industrial activity, there is nothing

to report in this section of the Management report.

18. Principal risks and uncertainties facing the company and information 

on the use of financial instruments by the company

The Breton Law and the decrees of 24 June and 20 December 2004 require the Management report to disclose

risks that in the past have been reported in the additional information section of the Reference Document. The

same legislation requires disclosure of details of the Company's use of financial instruments. This report will
be included in the 2008 Reference Document.

Risks inherent in private equity transactions

Investment in a Company whose object is to acquire private equity investments carries by its nature a high level

of risk, considerably greater than that encountered in large listed industrial, property or financial companies.
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No guarantee can be given as to the achievement of the investment objectives of Altamir Amboise or even the

recovery of the capital invested therein, and the past performance achieved by the funds managed by Apax

Partners for this type of investment can in no way guarantee the future performance of the Company.

In particular, private equity investments entail the following risks:

- Risk associated with the economic environment

- Liquidity risks associated with equity investments

- Risks inherent in acquiring equity investments

- Specific risks associated with leveraged transactions

- Specific risks associated with venture and development capital transactions

- Risks associated with the departure of directors

- Risks associated with the costs incurred on unrealised investment projects

- Risks associated with estimating the value of the Company's equity investments

Risks associated with the investment capacity of Altamir Amboise

Risks associated with the co-investment with the FCPR (venture capital unit trust) Apax France VII

Risks associated with fluctuations in market prices

• Risks associated with the market prices of equity investments

Investing in listed company securities is not the primary mission of Altamir Amboise. However, Altamir Amboise

may hold listed securities because companies in which it holds a stake undertake an IPO or as payment for its

portfolio investments. These securities may be subject to lock-up commitments agreed at the time of the IPO.

Even in the absence of such clauses, Altamir Amboise may consider it appropriate to maintain holdings that

have since been listed in its portfolio for a certain period, with the prospect of ultimately obtaining a better valua-

tion, which cannot be guaranteed. Furthermore, Altamir Amboise is not forbidden as a matter of principle from

investing, directly or indirectly, in the equity of any Company simply because it is listed on the Stock Exchange,

if such a Company should fall within the scope of its investment strategy.

As a result, Altamir Amboise holds a number of listed shares either directly or indirectly through holding compa-

nies and may therefore be affected by any declines in the market prices of these shares. For accounting purposes,

a decrease in stock market prices at any given moment would result in a write-down of the portfolio and the

Company's Net Asset Value. In the IFRS financial statements, such a reduction would be disclosed in the profit

and loss account as a loss on the line "Changes in the fair value of the portfolio". 

Finally, a decline in stock market prices could also affect the capital gains or losses realised as the result of any

sale of such shares by Altamir Amboise.

• Risks associated with the market price of Altamir Amboise share warrants (“BSAs”)

There were no Class A warrants at 31 December 2008. The Class B warrants are not listed.

• Risks on investment securities and treasury shares 

At 31 December 2008, Altamir Amboise held its surplus cash in money market mutual funds (“SICAVs”) or in

negotiable debt securities. Neither of these investments involves material risk.

Interest-rate risks

• Risks associated with LBO transactions

In leveraged transactions, Altamir Amboise is indirectly exposed to the risk of an increase in the cost of borrowing

and the risk of not finding financing or not being able to finance the planned transactions under conditions that

allow a satisfactory return.

44



ALTAMIR AMBOISE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2008 45

• Risks associated with cash investments

Any excess cash held by Altamir Amboise can be invested in interest-earning products or interest-earning

accounts, subject by definition to a risk of a fall in interest rates.

Money market mutual funds (“SICAVs”) are valued at historic cost. Gains on disposals are calculated as the

difference between the selling price and the average weighted-average purchase price. The Company does not

record unrealised capital gains in the French statutory financial statements.

By nature, these securities should not be written down. Unrecorded unrealised capital gains amounted to

€18,127 at 31 December 2008. 

• Risks associated with other financial assets and liabilities

Interest-bearing financial assets are represented by current accounts or securities such as bonds issued by

companies falling into the category of long-term portfolio investments (“TIAP”). Such financial assets are

designed to be redeemed or converted at maturity. They therefore do not entail any interest-rate risk as such.

Altamir Amboise has no financial liabilities.

Currency risk

Legal and tax risks

• Legal Risks associated with the status of a Limited Partnership by shares (SCA)

• Risks associated with the legal and tax regimes of Limited Partnerships

• Risks associated with holding minority interests

• Risks associated with the possession of privileged information

• Risks associated with market dominance regulations

• Other legal and tax risks

Identified Risks

Altamir Amboise does not use fixed or open-ended forward financial instruments to provide cover from or

exposure to market risks (e.g., stock exchanges, interest rates, exchange risk or credit risk)

To the Company's knowledge there is no dispute, proceeding, arbitration or exceptional circumstance that might

have (or in the recent past has had) any significant impact on the financial situation, earnings, activities or

holdings of the Company.

Industrial and environmental risks

Not applicable

Risks associated with competitors

Insurance

Altamir Amboise’s business does not require industrial-type insurance cover. Altamir Amboise has taken out

Third-Party Professional Liability insurance and Third-Party Directors' Liability insurance to provide global cover

of €3,000,000.
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Risks associated with Apax Partners

• Risks associated with the dependence of Altamir Amboise on Apax Partners

• Risks associated with key persons

• Risks associated with the Management and control of Apax Partners

• Risks associated with other professionals at Apax Partners

Once you have heard the reading of the Management Report on the conditions of preparation and organisation

of the work of the Supervisory Board and on the internal control procedures implemented by the Company, the

Report of the Supervisory Board and the Reports by the Statutory Auditors, and once we have answered any

questions that you may have for us, we shall ask you, in the light of the explanations you have received, to approve

the resolutions submitted to you and to ratify the performance of the Management and the Members of the

Supervisory Board during the financial year under review.

The Management
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• Mr Alain Afflelou, born 1 January 1948

First appointment as member of the Supervisory Board: 26 April 2006

Most recent renewal: 3 April 2008

Member of an administrative, management or supervisory body

- Member of the Altamir Amboise Supervisory Board

- Chairman and CEO of Alain Afflelou SA

- Director of Alain Afflelou Succursales (branch offices)

- Director of Alain Afflelou (Spain)

- Director of F2L

- Managing director of Mascaralain

- Managing director of SCI (property company) du 169 rue de Rennes

- Managing director of the holding company AA et fils

- Managing director of AA Frères Optico

- Chairman of 3AB Optique Développement

- Chairman of 3AB Optique Financement

- Chairman of 3AB Optique (Spain)

- Chairman of 3AB Obal

• Mr Jean Besson, born 10 September 1943

First appointment as member of the Supervisory Board: 16 April 1996

Most recent re-appointment: 27 April 2005

Member of an administrative, management or supervisory body

- Member of the Supervisory Board of Altamir Amboise

- Chairman-CEO of IPG SARL

- Managing director of TQM SA

• Mr Fernand-Luc Buffelard, born 14 March 1940, died 12 March 2009

First appointment as member of the Board of Advisors (Collège des Censeurs): 16 April 1996

First appointment as member of the Supervisory Board: 28 April 2004

Most recent re-appointment: 3 April 2008

Member of an administrative, management or supervisory body

- Member of the Altamir Amboise Supervisory Board

- Chairman and CEO of BRD Finance SA 

- Chairman of the Supervisory Board of VDI Group SA

- Chairman of the Board of Directors of France Ouate Industrie (expired in April 2008)

- Chairman of Dom Hygiène Industrie (expired in May 2008)

- Managing director of Hygiène Médicale Service SARL

- Co-managing director of the SCI DDA

- Director of All Batteries UK Ltd

> APPENDIX I TO THE MANAGEMENT REPORT
List of appointments of and duties performed by corporate officers and 
the representative of the Management company, a legal entity, over the last five years



• Mr Gérard Hascoët, born 16 June 1949

First appointment as member of the Board of Censors (Collège des Censeurs): 16 April 1996

First appointment as member of the Supervisory Board: 28 April 2004

Most recent re-appointment: 3 April 2008

Member of an administrative, management or supervisory body

- Member of the Altamir Amboise Supervisory Board

- Chairman of the Board of SpineVision

- Chairman of the Board of Valtronic Technologies (Switzerland)

- Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Promed AG (Austria)

- Director of Dupont Médical

- Managing director of Lumarge (property company)

- Managing director of Marluge (property company)

• Mr Charles Hochman, born 4 November 1928

First appointment as member of the Supervisory Board: 16 April 1996

Most recent re-appointment: 27 April 2005

Member of an administrative, management or supervisory body

- Member of the Supervisory Board of Altamir Amboise 

- Director of Les Arts Décoratifs

- Director of Hermes Japan

- Director of Saint Honoré Bangkok

- Director of Hermes Greater China

- Managing director of GFA du Domaine de Mirail

- Managing director of SCI du Domaine de Mirail

• Mr Jean-Hugues Loyez, born 18 November 1949

First appointment as member of the Supervisory Board: 4 June 2007

Member of an administrative, management or supervisory body

- Member of the Supervisory Board of Altamir Amboise 

- Chairman of A&A Partners SAS

- Director of Terres et Eaux SA and Wellcare SA

• Mr Philippe Santini, born 7 December 1943

First appointment as member of the Supervisory Board: 26 April 2006

Most recent re-appointment: 3 April 2008

Member of an administrative, management or supervisory body

- Member of the Supervisory Board of Altamir Amboise 

- Director and Chairman of the Audit Committee of SR Téléperformance

- Member of the Board of Directors of Zodiac Marine

- Managing director of PHS Consultants and Calvex

• Mr Joël Séché, born 2 February 1955

First appointment as member of the Supervisory Board: 4 June 2007

Member of an administrative, management or supervisory body

- Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Altamir Amboise 

- Chairman of H.I.M.E

- Chairman of SAUR SA
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- Chairman and CEO of Séché Environnement SA

- Chairman of Séché Transports SAS, Séché Eco Industries SAS, Séché Alliance SAS (formerly Equilibra) and

Séché Eco Services SAS

- Managing director of the SCI La Croix des Landes, SCI Les Chênes Secs, SCI Le Montre, SCI La Perrée, 

SCI la Censie, SCI Amarosa, SCI Saint-Kiriec and SCI de Mezerolles

- Director of Tredi SA

• Mr Jacques Veyrat, born 4 November 1962

First term of office as member of the Supervisory Board: 4 June 2007

Member of an administrative, management or supervisory body

- Member of the Supervisory Board of Altamir Amboise 

- Director of Irise SA, Tajan SA, Imerys SA, and Direct Energie SA

- Member of the Supervisory Board of Eurazeo

- Chairman of Louis Dreyfus SAS

Disclosure of any bankruptcy, receivership or liquidation 
over at least the last five years 

To the Company’s best knowledge and belief:

- no Supervisory Board member filed for bankruptcy or been placed in receivership or liquidation over the last

five years;

- no Supervisory Board member has been convicted for fraud over the last five years;

- no Supervisory Board member has been indicted or received any official public sanction from the statutory or

regulatory authorities (including designated professional organisations) over the last five years and;

- no Supervisory Board member has been barred by any court from acting as a member of an issuer’s adminis-

trative, management or supervisory body or from being involved in the management or operation of an issuer’s

business over the last five years.

The list of corporate offices held by the management company’s representative, Mr Maurice Tchenio, from 2004

to 2008 inclusive is given below. Expired terms of office at 31 December 2008 appear in blue color.

Chairman and CEO of Apax Partners SA

Chairman and CEO of Apax Partners & Cie Gérance SA

Chairman of MMG SAS

Chairman of Européenne Kléber SA

Chairman of Européenne Iena SAS

Chairman of Apax Partners and Compagnie Gérance II SAS

Chairman of Penthièvre SAS

Director of Toupargel Agrigel SA

Director of Financière d’Or

Director of Histoire d’Or

Permanent representative of Morgan International Participations with Morgan SA

Permanent representative of Apax Partners SA with Morgan International Participations SA

Permanent representative of Apax Partners SA with Rue du Commerce SA

Permanent representative of Apax Partners SA with Aigle

Permanent representative of Aigle SA with Aigle International

Permanent representative of Apax Partners SA with Alain Afflelou SA

Permanent representative of Apax Partners SA with Horis

Permanent representative of Apax Partners SA with Marc et Laurent

Permanent representative of MG Participations SA with Mediastore
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Permanent representative of Apax Partners SA with MG Participations SA

Permanent representative of Apax Partners SA with Artacrea

Permanent representative of Apax Partners SA with Histoire d’Or Participations SA

Permanent representative of MMG SAS with Altium Capital SAS

Permanent representative of Apax Partners and Compagnie Gérance II SAS with Amboise Investissement SCA

Managing director of Apax Partners SNC

Managing director of Civile Galilée Partenaires

Managing director of Civile Cimarosa

Managing director of Civile Longchamp

Managing director of Civile Copernic Partenaires

Managing director of Civile SE Wagram

Managing director of Civile Cimarosa Tubes

Managing director of Civile Cimarosa Media

Managing director of Civile Cimarosa II

Managing director of Civile Galilée Partenaires II

Managing director of Civile SE Bizet

Managing director of Civile Moussecarrie

Managing director of Civile Etoile II

Managing director of Civile Capri

Managing director of Civile Equa

Managing director of Civile Firoki

Managing director of Civile Carmel

Managing director of Civile Kléber Partenaires

Managing director of Civile Etoile Partenaires

Co-Managing director of Civile Immobilière Mauryland

Non-executive Director of Apax Partners Strategic Investors Ltd

Non-executive Director of Apax Partners Holdings Ltd

Director of Apax Venture Capital Holdings III (Jersey) Ltd

Non-executive Director of Portland Place Capital Ltd

Non-executive Director of Apax Partners Ltd
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Balance sheet date 31/12/04 31/12/05 31/12/06 31/12/07 31/12/08

CAPITAL AT YEAR-END

Share capital 53,282,400 53,282,400 53,990,330 178,019,226 219,259,626

Number of ordinary shares 532,824 532,824 539,041 29,638,901 36,512,301

Number of non-voting Class B preferred shares 8,623 18,582 18,582

Maximum number of future Class B shares 

to be created:

- through bond conversion/redemption

- through exercise of BSAs (share warrants) 17,246 37,164 37,164

OPERATIONS AND INCOME

Revenues (ex tax)

Earnings before taxes, profit sharing, depreciation 

and amortisation and provisions 8,472,647 8,574,618 30,355,123 39,710,447 8,414,781

Income tax

Employee profit sharing

Earnings/loss after taxes, profit sharing, 

depreciation and amortisation and provisions 16,249,069 15,557,283 26,922,006 29,186,839 -117,010,695

Distributed income

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Earnings/loss before taxes, profit sharing, 

depreciation and amortisation and provisions

- Ordinary shares 15.90 16.09 N/A N/A N/A

- Class B preferred shares N/A N/A N/A

Earnings after taxes, profit sharing, 

depreciation and amortisation and provisions

- Ordinary shares 30.50 29.20 43.27 0.80 -3.20

- Class B preferred shares 375.57 265.76

Dividend distributed 3.50 10.00 0.20

EMPLOYEES

Average number of employees

Payroll

Sums paid as employee benefits (social security 

and other social projects)

N/A: it is not appropriate to break down EPS between ordinary shares and Class B shares before taking account of charges to taxes, depre-

ciation and amortisation and provisions given that, pursuant to the Articles of Association, the share of earnings attributable to Class

B shares can only be established on the basis of the restated net book income.

> APPENDIX II TO THE MANAGEMENT REPORT
Results and other company data over the last five years 
(decree no. 67-236 dated 23 march 1967)



Company Corporate office Legal  # of shares(*) Acquisition Special 
form and  acquired cost financial

corporate  % of equity held € terms
purpose % of voting rights

Altrafin Participations 45, avenue Kléber SAS 42,126,623 ordinary 42,126,623 Set up to

75116 Paris shares representing purchase

42.32% of the equity shares

and 19.99% of  in Altran

the voting rights Technologies 

Inagua Le Portereau SAS 6,400,496 ordinary 6,400,496 Set up to

44120 Vertou shares representing purchase

9.13% of the equity Maisons du

and 13.87% of Monde

the voting rights

(*) securities giving rights to capital only

> APPENDIX III TO THE MANAGEMENT REPORT
Altamir Amboise acquisitions of equity investments and controlling interests 
in french companies during 2008 (as % of equity and voting rights)
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Dear Shareholders,

We recall that under the terms of Article 226-9 of the French Commercial Code, the Supervisory Board is respon-
sible for continuous control of the management of the Company. To this end, it has powers comparable to those
of the Statutory Auditors and presents a report to the Ordinary General Meeting in which it must indicate any
irregularity or inaccuracy in the annual accounts.

1. Situation of the company

Altamir Amboise, a company Limited Partnership by shares (société en commandite par actions) governed by
Articles 226-1 to 226-14 of the Commercial Code, has opted for the tax rules for a SCR (Société de Capital Risque),
effective as of 1 January 1996. The 2001 Finance Law significantly improved the rules applicable to SCRs, but
requires the exercise of an option for this system. The former Altamir & Cie, now Altamir Amboise, opted for these
new rules as of 1 January 2001. At 31 December 2008, the Company satisfied all the requisite ratios for this
classification. 

During the year, the company’s capital was increased from €41.2 million following the exercise of the March
and September 2008 warrants (€33.5 million) and the partial payment of the dividend in shares (€7.7 million).
€96.4 million was invested and committed in 2008 (compared to €108.0 million in 2007): €77.6 million in two new
companies and €18.8 million in the portfolio companies at 31 December.

Total realisations represent €4.3 million and net capital gains of €2.9 million in reversals of provisions over the
year (compared to €69.1 million and €38.5 million respectively in 2007). 

2. Accounts for the year

The Supervisory Board has carried out its duties of control in conformity with the law and has examined the
documents made available to it by the Management within the legal time period.

After having reviewed the company accounts, the IFRS accounts and the accounting documents, having heard
the opinion of the Statutory Auditors, and having raised the appropriate questions with the Management, the
Supervisory Board has no particular comment to make.

It has identified no inaccuracy or irregularity in the accounts presented by the Management.

3. Proposed appropriation of income

The net book result for the year ended 31 December 2008 shows a loss of €117,010,695.
Therefore, we propose an appropriation of this amount to the account for balance carried forward.

4. Allocation of fees to members of the supervisory board

The Supervisory Board notes that the allocation of a sum of €90,000 for the members of the Supervisory Board
will be proposed to the General Meeting.

> REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD
to the Ordinary and Extraordinary General Meeting 
called to approve the accounts for 2008



5. Organisational and control bodies of the company

The mandates of five of the nine members of the Supervisory Board will expire at the close of the next Ordinary

Annual General Meeting called to approve the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2008. 

These are the mandates of:

- Jean Besson 

- Charles Hochman 

- Jean-Hugues Loyez 

- Joël Séché 

- Jacques Veyrat 

Alain Afflelou announced his resignation from the Supervisory Board on 14 January 2009.

Jacques Veyrat did not wish his mandate to be renewed.

We propose that you re-elect the other four members for a term of two years, i.e. until the close of the Ordinary

General Meeting called to approve the accounts for the year ending 31 December 2010.

These are the mandates of:

- Jean Besson, Résidence Saint Honoré, 179 rue Saint-Honoré – 75001 Paris

- Charles Hochman, 19 rue Raynouard – 75016 Paris

- Jean-Hugues Loyez, 9 rue de l’Eglise – 7618 Taintignies - Belgium

- Joël Séché, Les Hêtres – 53810 Changé

Alain Afflelou and Jacques Veyrat will not be replaced at this General Meeting.

6. Proposal for amendment of bylaws

The decision by Altamir Amboise to invest directly in the FCPR (Fonds Commun de Placement à Risque) Apax

France VIII fund, rather than to co-invest alongside the FCPR as had been done in the past, requires the creation

of a mechanism aimed at preventing the same assets from having to bear a double management fee (for Altamir

Amboise and for the FCPR) and double carried interest.

Since, as part of its equity investment in FCPR Apax France VIII, Altamir Amboise must bear the same manage-

ment fees and the same carried interest as other investors in this fund, it is appropriate:

- to reduce the management fee theoretically due to the Manager of Altamir Amboise for the sums invested in

this FCPR; this reduction will be done on the basis of the average rate of management fees applied by the

FCPR;

- and to eliminate the theoretical carried interest of the Manager and of the B shareholders to earnings gener-

ated by this equity investment.

Since these elements are governed by the Bylaws, we propose that you amend Articles 17 and 25 of the Bylaws

in order to:

- deduct from the amount of the management fees paid to the Manager a sum equal to 1.80% of the book value

of the investment made by Altamir Amboise in FCPR Apax France VIII;

- and deduct from the restated income, serving as a basis for the profit entitlements of the Manager and the B

shareholders, the fraction of the net income of Altamir Amboise deriving from its investment in this FCPR.
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7. Liquidity of the share

In 2008, Altamir Amboise took advantage of the possibilities opened up by the new AMF regulation allowing a

company to repurchase shares in order to ensure liquidity or stimulate the market for the shares. A new

programme is proposed to you at this General Meeting.

8. Corporate governance

The Supervisory Board of Altamir Amboise is composed of independent shareholders. 

All members together directly or indirectly held 338,803 shares at 31 December 2008.

We inform you of the following measures taken so that the Supervisory Board may properly fulfil its role.

8.1 Audit Committee

The Supervisory Board has created an Audit Committee comprising two members, currently Jean Besson,

Chairman, and Gérard Hascoët. 

In 2008, the Audit Committee met 4 times in order to carry out its audit of the accounts of the Company and to

study the internal control procedures implemented by the Management.

Within the context of this work, the Audit Committee heard the opinions of the statutory auditors and the finan-

cial management at the time of the quarterly accounts.

For 2009, the Audit Committee will continue to meet each quarter, prior to the closing of each periodic statement.

8.2 Other Committees

Since the Company has no employees, the Supervisory Board has not had to create a Remuneration Committee

or any other committee.

8.3 Valuation

The Board examined the criteria of independence of its members.

Two members of the Supervisory Board, Alain Afflelou and Philippe Santini, are corporate officers of companies

in which Altamir Amboise is or has been a shareholder. The very minority position of Altamir Amboise creates

no risk of a conflict of interest.

Two members of the Board, Jean Besson and Charles Hochman, have been members of the Supervisory Board

since 16 April 1996. Thus they have more than 12 years’ seniority in this position, which according to the legis-

lation may be considered as a loss of their independent status. The Supervisory Board holds, however, that these

two members can continue to be regarded as independent, partly because they have never received any privileged

treatment or remuneration of any kind (except for Supervisory Board members’ fees) from the Company, but

above all because they contribute remarkable expertise due to their experience as chief executives and their

knowledge of the private equity business. 

The Supervisory Board met five times in 2008, with an attendance rate of 65%. It examined the Management

reports providing information on the valuations of the portfolio companies, the quarterly statements, and the

semi-annual and annual accounts. 

It was therefore able to work and make decisions with full information on the accounts and financial reporting.
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The Supervisory Board therefore has no objection to the General Meeting discharging the Management for the

performance of its duties in 2008.

Your Supervisory Board has no particular observation to make on these various projects, the content of the

Management Report or the text of the resolutions proposed by the Management.

The Supervisory Board
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Articles L 225-37 and L 225-68 of the French Commercial Code, implementing Article 117 of the Law on Finan-

cial Security, amended by Law No. 2005-842 of 26 July 2005, require that the Chairman of the Board of Direc-

tors or Supervisory Board, as applicable, of any SA (société anonyme) having its registered offices in France

which makes a public offering must report on the conditions of preparation and organisation of the work of the

Board of Directors or Supervisory Board and on the internal control procedures implemented by the company.

Article L 621-18-3 of the French Monetary and Finance Code, implementing Article 120 of the abovementioned

law, stipulates that “legal entities making public offerings must publish the information concerning the matters

mentioned in the last paragraph of Articles L 225-37 and L 225-68 of the Commercial Code in accordance with

the conditions established by the general regulations of the Autorité des Marchés Financiers”.

Altamir Amboise, as a Limited Partnership by shares, has not to date fallen within the scope of application of

Article 117 of the Law on Financial Security, but it has solicited funds from the public and was therefore subject

to the requirements of Article 120 of the abovementioned law. 

Law 2008-649 of 3 July 2008 amended Article L226-10-1 of the French Commercial Code and extended to
Limited Partnership by shares (sociétés en commandite par actions) the same obligations imposed on joint-
stock companies (sociétés anonymes), except for the issuance of the report by the statutory auditors (position
of the Compagnie Nationale des Commissaire aux Comptes).

As of the period ended 31 December 2008, the report is written by the Chairman of the Supervisory Board and

not by the Manager. This is the only modification brought about by this legislation for Altamir Amboise.

Conditions of preparation and organisation of the work of the Supervisory Board 

– Corporate governance

Altamir Amboise adheres to the AFEP-MEDEF Corporate Governance Code of December 2008. The main points

are explained in detail in this report.

1. Composition of the Supervisory Board

Following the merger of Altamir & Cie and Amboise Investissement, certain members of the Supervisory Board

were asked to rejoin the Supervisory Board of the merged entity. The number of members increased from 7 to

10 following the approval by the General Meeting of 4 June 2007.

This number may be increased after approval of a resolution to this effect by the Ordinary General Meeting.

All members of the Board are or were independent. There is no required minimum number of shares to be a

member of the Supervisory Board.

For Altamir Amboise, “independent” means that the members of the Board receive no remuneration other than

Supervisory Board members' fees from Altamir Amboise or a company of the Apax group. 

One member of the Board is an executive of companies in which Apax Funds and the Company are shareholders,

but only with minority stakes. Another member was an executive of a company sold in 2007.

Two members of the Board, Jean Besson and Charles Hochman, have been members of the Supervisory Board

since 16 April 1996. Thus they have more than 12 years’ seniority in this position, which according to the legis-

lation can be considered as a loss of their independent status. The Supervisory Board holds, however, that these

two members can continue to be regarded as independent, firstly because they have never received any privileged

treatment or remuneration of any kind (except for Supervisory Board members’ fees) from the Company, but

above all because they contribute remarkable expertise due to their experience as chief executives and their

knowledge of the private equity business. 

> REPORT FROM THE CHAIRMAN 
OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD  
on the conditions of preparation and organisation of the work of the Supervisory
Board and on the internal control procedures implemented by the company



At the time of each proposal for renewal or appointment, the Board examines the situation of the candidates with

respect to this question of independence.

All members together directly or indirectly held 338,803 shares at 31 December 2008. 

Since the Company has no employees, there are no employee representatives on the Supervisory Board.

2. Role and operation of the Supervisory Board

2.1 Internal Regulations of the Board

The Supervisory Board has a set of Internal Regulations covering the following areas:

- Role and operating rules

- Audit Committee

- Control and valuation procedure

- Use of videoconferencing

- Ethics charter

2.2 Evaluation of the Supervisory Board

As indicated in the report from the Chairman of the Supervisory Board, the Supervisory Board met five times

during the course of 2008. The attendance rate was 65%. 

The Board reviewed the Management's reports on the valuations of the portfolio companies, the quarterly

accounts, and the half-yearly and annual accounts. It also examined the documents concerning the exercise of

the two series of warrants that resulted in capital increases.

It was therefore able to work and make decisions with full information on the accounts and financial reporting.

2.3 Work and operating methods of the Supervisory Board and the Audit Committee

The Supervisory Board created an Audit Committee in 2003 comprising two members, currently Jean Besson,

Chairman, and Gérard Hascoët. 

These two persons are specifically recognised as competent, as being two chief executives, and independent

(see below with regard to Jean Besson).

The role of the Audit Committee is specified in the Internal Regulations of the Supervisory Board.

In 2008, the Audit Committee met 4 times in order to carry out its controls on the accounts of the Company and

study the internal control procedures implemented by the Management.

Within the context of this work, the Audit Committee heard the opinions of the statutory auditors and the finan-

cial management at the time of the quarterly accounts.

For 2009, the Audit Committee will continue to meet each quarter, prior to the closure of each periodic state-

ment.

Other committees

Since the Company has no employees, the Supervisory Board has not had to create a Remuneration Committee.

No other committee exists.
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3. Remuneration of the corporate officers and stock option plans

Supervisory Board members' fees totalling €89,700 were distributed in equal shares of €6,900 to each member
of the Board attending at least 50% of meetings. The members of the Audit Committees of Altamir Amboise and
of Amboise prior to the merger received €6,900 in addition to the amount received in connection with their Board
member status. 

There are no individual corporate officers other than the members of the Supervisory Board.

The governance bodies of the SCA consist of a Manager, the company Apax Partners & Cie Gérance, and a
General Partner, the company Apax Partners & Cie Gérance.

The rules for the remuneration of the manager company are set out in the Bylaws and in the Reference
Document.

This is also true for the rules governing the allocation of a dividend to the General Partner and to the holders of
B preferred shares. 

The Company has not implemented a stock option plan.

4. Other elements of governance

4.1 Limitations on the powers of the Manager

No formal limitation exists on the power of management.

4.2 Potential conflicts of interest in the administrative, executive, and supervisory bodies, 
and in the Management

To the best knowledge of the Management, no potential conflict of interest exists.
To the best knowledge of the Company, the executives have no holdings in the portfolio companies of Altamir
Amboise, with the exception of two companies in which Altamir Amboise and the funds managed by Apax
Partners SA are or have been very minority shareholders (Alain Afflelou SA through three holding companies: 
3AB Optique Développement, 3AC Finance, and 3AB Optique Espagne; and Aprovia, the last assets of which were
sold in 2007), and securities of listed companies for which they have made the usual declarations to the Compli-
ance and Internal Control Officer (RCCI) of Apax Partners.

4.3 Procedures relating to the participation of shareholders in General Meetings

The procedures relating to the participation of shareholders in General Meetings are described in Article 23 of
the Bylaws.

Internal control procedures implemented by the company

1. General framework

Apax Partners and Altamir Amboise refer to the internal control principles described by the COSO report
(Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway Commission).

The French translation of the COSO defines internal control as follows:
“As a whole, internal control is a process implemented by the general management, the company’s hierarchy and
its staff, meant to provide reasonable assurance regarding the achievement of objectives in the following
categories:

- Completion and optimisation of operations,

- Reliability of financial reporting,

- Compliance with laws and regulations in force.”
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A system of internal control designed to achieve the various objectives described above does not, however, provide

certainty that the defined objectives will be achieved, due to the limitations inherent in any procedure.

The specific objective of Apax Partners and Altamir Amboise in the context of the conduct and optimisation of

these operations is divided into three elements: 1) identification and implementation of the best possible invest-

ments consistent with the Group’s strategy, 2) monitoring of the performance of the companies in the portfolio

and compliance with the plan approved with their executives, 3) protection of their own assets and those managed

on behalf of third parties, by monitoring financial flows, financial values and the securities in the portfolio.

We recall that Altamir Amboise does not have any funds of its own, and that it invests pari passu with the funds

managed by Apax Partners.

The procedures relating to Altamir Amboise therefore cannot be dissociated from the procedures of Apax

Partners.

In the remainder of this document, unless otherwise specified, the term “Company” refers both to Apax Partners

and to Altamir Amboise.

Within the context of this frame of reference, in 2003 the Company took stock of all existing procedures, reviewed

them, supplemented them, and issued a preliminary guide on procedures and internal control. 

This guide is regularly updated on the basis of an assessment of the potential risks and any changes in regula-

tions or professional rules.

2. Measures taken during 2008

The Company has advanced on several fronts:

- strengthening of the control of valuations, 

- monitoring of the implementation of the MiFID directive and its consequences on the management of conflicts

of interest,

- continuation of the programme to strengthen rules for the security and backup of information systems,

- conduct of periodic checks on Internal Controls and correct application of the specific rules for SCRs (quotas).

2.1 Continuation of strengthening of information systems security and backup rules

Since Apax Partners has two sites on either side of Avenue Kléber (45 and 48 bis), a backup plan has been imple-

mented to ensure the rapid startup of key applications in the event of any incident in the administrative offices

at No. 45.

The first step, taken in 2006, was to allow the use of Equity Works (the core of the internal management system)

at No. 48 bis immediately, using the data from the previous day (or from the day before that, if the incident were

to occur prior to 01:00).

As planned, this principle has been extended to the other applications, including accounting and data manage-

ment.

Only the messaging system has not yet been duplicated.

The security of the information systems was also improved with the installation of an anti-spam server and the

implementation of remote operating access secured by strong authentication.

2.2 Strengthening of the control of valuations

The valuations of unlisted companies are prepared by the investment teams, then reviewed by the statutory

auditors and approved by the partners of Apax Partners.

Despite these various stages of preparation and control, some anomalies or a lack of consistency between the

different calculations could arise.
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In order to improve the process, numerous steps have been taken:

- design of a new, highly detailed calculation file;

- centralisation of data sources in the Documentation department in order to ensure that all the figures taken

from the market are consistent and generated on the same date;

- analysis of value creation from one period to another, distinguishing the elements arising from:

a) a change in the multiples of the comparables,

b) a change in the performance of the company (EBITDA),

c) a change in net debt.

2.3 Following the implementation of the MiFID directive

2007 was the year of implementation of the European Directive on Markets in Financial Instruments (MiFID).

The implementation of the MiFID directive was initiated in 2007 as provided for by the legislation. Apax Partners

wanted to conduct an independent audit of its application by a group of specialised legal advisers. Additional

measures were implemented.

This directive does not concern listed companies such as Altamir Amboise. It is, however, applicable in part to

Apax Partners SA as a portfolio management company, and could have indirect effects on Altamir Amboise,

particularly in the management of conflicts of interest. 

2.4 Conduct of periodic checks on Internal Controls and correct application 

of the specific rules for SCRs (quotas)

The controls carried out during the year include:

- compliance with the purchasing procedure for unlisted securities; 

- observance of the pari passu investment rule;

- analysis of the co-investment procedure of the Apax Partners teams (excluding partner directors);

- coverage of the procedures for control and monitoring of the principal operational and regulatory aspects,

issued by the AMF through specific instructions and the general regulations;

- proper investment of cash.

A more substantial and more ambitious programme of risk mapping, department by department, has been

undertaken and should be completed during 2009.

No significant irregularity was noted.

Certain procedures were enhanced in response to the comments of the controllers.

We recall that Paragraph II of Article 242 quinquies of the French General Taxation Code and Article 171 AS bis

of Annex II have instituted, as from the closing date of 31 December 2006, a detailed tax declaration allowing the

tax authorities to monitor compliance with the 50% quota for SCRs. This declaration was filed with the tax author-

ities as required, and is in conformity with the detailed calculations already made by the Company.

3. Summary description of the Company's internal control procedures

This section essentially reiterates the content of the 2007 report on internal controls. It serves to remind readers

of the practices implemented by the Company.

3.1 General organisation of internal control procedures within the Company

3.1.1 Internal control participants and their activities 

The purpose of the Company is to invest essentially in the securities of unlisted companies.

To do so, it relies on investment teams and on support teams.
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The primary objective of internal control concerns the quality of the investment and disinvestment process. 

It consists of verifying that each investment team is dedicated only to projects that correspond to the strategy of

the Company in terms of sector, maturity, size, and expected financial performance.

The investment control bodies are as follows:

- Orientation Group (OG): composed of two experienced partners, this group will follow the due diligence and

negotiation procedures set in motion by the investment team;

- Investment Committee (IC): composed of five senior partners, this committee makes the final decisions on

investments and disinvestments (full or partial realisations, mergers, stock-exchange listings, re-investments);

- Portfolio Monitoring Committee: composed of 4 partners and external legal advisors, this committee meets

once a month to study the development of the companies in the portfolio.

Each investment gives rise to a financial, legal and tax audit by one or more reputable independent firms. Other

reviews (market, insurance, environment) may also be carried out if necessary.

The second objective concerns the control of flows and assets.

To achieve this, the following methods are implemented:

- The fund accounting and administration functions (“Fund Administration”) are separated.

- Securities are recorded in registered form alone and periodically reconciled with the custodian bank and the

registry keepers of each company.

- Payment instructions are centralised with the Chairman of the Management company for the funds, who is also

Chairman of the Management of Altamir Amboise.

- The Fund Administration ensures that the legal documentation is comprehensive, in liaison with the custodian

bank, prior to forwarding the documents for the signature of the Chairman.

- The Fund Administration and the accounting department ensure the pari passu distribution of investments and

divestments between the funds and Altamir Amboise based on the rules defined at the beginning of each six-

month period. 

We recall that the Supervisory Board of Altamir Amboise has created an audit committee which may be assisted

by the statutory auditors of the company.

The third objective is the reliability of financial information. This is mainly reflected in cross-controls carried out

between the data derived from accounting and the data derived from the securities management system. Increas-

ingly sophisticated automation enables the risk of human error to be limited. The process was complicated in

2007 by the first-time implementation of IFRS. The Company was assisted by a major local accounting firm.

The fourth objective is compliance with laws and regulations in force. All measures are taken to ensure compli-

ance with general legislation and with the regulations specific to SCRs (quotas of securities eligible for SCR

status) and those specific to listed companies.

The Company has appointed a Compliance and Internal Control Officer (CICO). The ethical rules form an integral

part of the Internal Regulations. The CICO decided to outsource to the Aplitec company, under his responsibility,

the performance of the permanent task of supervision of the compliance and internal control of the management

company. This assistance is within the scope of Article 322-22.7 of the General Regulations of the AMF, appli-

cable to small management companies in which the CICO function is assumed by one of their directors. 

3.1.2 External references

Apax Partners SA is a portfolio management company (société de gestion de portefeuille: SGP) approved by the

AMF. It is a member of a French professional association, the Association Française des Investisseurs en Capital

(AFIC). This association has published a code of ethics and reference guides which concern, in particular, the

valuation of securities and reporting. Apax Partners SA is also a member of the European Venture Capital Associ-

ation (EVCA).
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Apax Partners SA and thus also Altamir Amboise comply with the rules and methods of the IPEV (International

Private Equity and Venture Capital Valuation Guidelines, developed by, among others, the AFIC, the EVCA, and

the BVCA), and refer to the COSO standards with regard to internal control.

3.1.3 Preparation of financial and accounting information for shareholders

Systems and processes for preparing accounting and financial statements

The management of financial and accounting data relies on the use of three software programs: 

- Sage 100 Accounting, developed by the company SAGE for general accounting and payroll,

- EquityWorks, developed by the company Relevant for management of the securities of FCPRs and Altamir

Amboise.

- Open Executive, developed by the company Cegid for the creation of financial statements and analytical reports.

The IFRS financial statements are provisionally produced using Excel files.

These three systems are widely used, in France in the case of the accounting system and Open Executive, and

throughout the world in the case of EquityWorks. They are well documented.

The two transactional systems are used independently by the accounting department (Sage 100 Accounting) and

by “Fund Administration” (EquityWorks). This generates reconciliations and controls at the time when syntheses

are done. Open Executive uses the data generated by the two transactional systems to produce all the required

statements and analyses.

The accounting department has a formal accounting plan and its own operating procedures. Each account gener-

ates an analysis sheet. Each valuation of financial instruments also generates a detailed analysis sheet.

After checking the conformity of the data derived from the two transactional systems, this data is automatically

centralised and enables the publishing of financial and accounting reports.

The Audit Committee, after conducting its investigations, informs the Supervisory Board of its comments and

recommendations.

Valuation of portfolio securities

The reporting of a portfolio management company or a private equity company is based in particular on the

valuation of the securities held in its portfolio.

A quarterly valuation is prepared by each partner in charge of an equity holding. 

These proposals are reviewed and may be amended during meetings of all the partners. The Audit Committee

of Altamir Amboise may also question a valuation. 

The valuations derived from financial models (for securities acquired in LBOs) are checked by the finance depart-

ment, which carries out tests of consistency with past valuations. 

As indicated above, the process of preparation and control of the valuations has been strengthened by including,

among other things, an analysis of the value creation trend.

The statutory auditors and the financial management review the valuations with the sector teams.

3.2 Presentation of summary information on the internal control procedures implemented by the Company

The procedures, which are grouped together in the internal control guide, cover the following subjects: infor-

mation technology systems, cycles (case studies, portfolio, investors, expenses and income, reporting, audit)

and aspects of ethics and compliance. A complete overhaul of this guide is currently in progress.

The presentation of the key figures in operations and control has already described the mechanism for the control

and monitoring of investment and disinvestment operations carried out by specific committees (OG, IC, Portfolio

Monitoring Committee).

>
 R

E
P

O
R

T
 F

R
O

M
 T

H
E

 C
H

A
IR

M
A

N
 O

F
 T

H
E

 S
U

P
E

R
V

IS
O

R
Y

 B
O

A
R

D



The control of flows and assets is based on the segregation of tasks between the accounting department and

“Fund Administration”, the centralisation of signatures, and reconciliations with the custodian of the securities.

Monitoring of compliance with the ethical rules incorporated in the Internal Regulations is centralised under an

ethics officer, who reports to the Compliance and Internal Control Officer (CCIC).

The ethical rules are presented above in the framework of “Ethical Regulations”.

In order to avoid risks of insider trading, the Compliance and Internal Control Officer keeps an up-to-date list of

the companies whose securities are prohibited in any transactions conducted by employees and their families.

In practice, any investment in a listed or unlisted company must be authorised in advance by the ethics officer. 

This control is exercised not only on transactions internal to the Company but also on the portfolio companies

themselves. Apax Partners SA is a corporate officer of almost all the companies in the portfolio. The permanent

representatives of the management firm (or direct administrators) effectively perform their role of executive

director. They take active part in the boards and committees dealing with audits and remuneration. They receive

a monthly activity report and, in turn, comment on this at the plenary meeting of partners. They ensure with the

greatest possible diligence that the funds invested by Apax Partners and Altamir Amboise are used in conformity

with the objectives established at the time of investment.

The Company exercises its voting rights at each General Meeting.

3.3 Procedures applied

In order to prepare this report, the Chairman of the Supervisory Board interviewed all those involved in the area

of control: the Finance Director, the Compliance and Internal Control Officer, the Deputy Internal Controller, the

statutory auditors, and the members of the Audit Committee.

The subjects of internal control and ethics have been discussed several times at the meetings of the Supervi-

sory Board.   

3.4 Identification of serious deficiencies or failures of internal control

To our knowledge, no serious deficiency or failure of internal control was revealed in the evaluation or during the

preparation of this report.

4. Relationship between risk factors and internal control procedures

4.1 Market Risks

4.1.1 Risks inherent in the private equity business

The risks of the private equity business are listed in the Registration Document as:

- Risk associated with the economic environment;

- Risk associated with the absence of liquidity of investments;

- Risks inherent in activities of acquisition and equity investments;

- Special risks associated with leverage operations;

- Special risks associated with risk capital operations;

- Special risks associated with risk capital and capital development operations;

- Risks associated with the costs incurred on unrealised investment projects;

- Risks associated with estimation of the value of the Company’s equity investments.

Owing to their nature, it is obviously impossible to completely eliminate these risks.

As described in Section 3 (Summary description of internal control procedures), the Company has established

committees that 1) monitor the entire investment process and approve the expense budgets project by project,

2) control the proper progress of the business plans and anticipate declines in the performance of the compa-

nies, 3) decide on and monitor the proper execution of realisations and any market placements.
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The investment and disinvestment actions are never left to the judgement of one person alone, but are always

monitored and controlled by committees made up of highly experienced investors.

4.1.2 Risks associated with the investment capacity of Altamir Amboise

These risks are not associated with control procedures, but with the Company’s ability to call upon the market.

It cannot be guaranteed that the market conditions existing at a given moment will allow it to raise funds, or to

do so in sufficient proportions to enable it to make the proposed investments.

We recall that the Management determines at the start of every six-month period the rate of co-investment of

Altamir Amboise with the Apax France VII Fund according to the cash flow forecasts for each entity.

4.1.3 Risks associated with co-investment with FCPR Apax France VII

These risks are similarly not associated with internal control procedures. Under certain circumstances listed in

the Registration Document and associated with the Fund or the management company, Altamir Amboise might

be without investment opportunities for a more or less extended period of time.

4.1.4 Stock-market risks

• Risks associated with fluctuations in the market prices of investments

Altamir Amboise holds a certain number of listed securities, either directly or indirectly via holding companies,

and may therefore be affected by any negative change in the market price of such securities.

The Company performs a daily review of the market prices and the impact on the IFRS Net Assets compared to

the valuations of the preceding quarter. According to certain developments, actions may be taken on behalf of

the FCPR concerned and on behalf of Altamir Amboise.

At this time, the Company has decided not to cover the risks of fluctuations in market prices, because the sched-

uled exits are generally planned including control premiums.

• Risks on portfolio securities and treasury shares

Altamir Amboise invests its liquid assets only in (stable) cash SICAVs and in negotiable debt securities issued by

large French banks. It can therefore be assumed that there is no risk for the invested capital.

Treasury shares are held only as part of the liquidity programme. At 31 December 2008, these securities were

valued at €136,786. A 10% change would represent only €13,678.

4.1.5 Interest rate risk

• Risks associated with LBO operations

In the context of leveraged operations, Altamir Amboise is indirectly subject to the risk of an increase in the cost

of debt and the risk of not finding financing or not being able to finance the planned new operations under condi-

tions that will allow satisfactory profitability.

No investment is made if the financing is not assured in advance and negotiated under terms and conditions that

satisfy the profitability objectives.

• Risks associated with cash investments

As indicated above, Altamir Amboise’s cash is invested in interest rate products. There is no risk relating to the

capital, but these investments remain subject, by definition, to the risk of falls in interest rates with respect to

their income.

• Risks associated with other financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets that include a rate are represented by current accounts or by securities such as bonds issued

by companies that fall into the category of TIAPs. These financial assets are assumed to be redeemed or

converted at maturity. Consequently, they do not present any rate risk as such.

Altamir Amboise has no financial liabilities.
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4.1.6 Currency risk

Altamir Amboise does not hedge against currency fluctuations, because the currency exchange effect is not

significant with respect to the expected gains in absolute value on securities denominated in foreign currencies.

4.2 Legal and tax risks

4.2.1 Legal risks associated with the status of a Limited Partnership by shares (SCA)

This legal status means that any wish on the part of the Altamir Amboise shareholders (even by a large majority)

to end the Management functions of Apax Partners & Cie Gérance SA without its agreement would in practice

be virtually impossible to implement.

4.2.2 Risks associated with the legal and tax rules governing SCRs

The main risk concerns the loss of the status of a SCR due to non–compliance with the tax quota.

Not only is a very detailed review conducted in every six-month period as provided by law, but prior to the reali-

sation of any planned investment, the quota is simulated in order to confirm that the transaction will not entail

a breach of legal obligations.

Although opting for this regime means that Altamir Amboise must pay the greatest attention to complying with

the constraints imposed upon it, any failure to adhere to certain conditions could lead to the loss of SCR tax

status, and consequently to the retroactive loss of the tax advantages enjoyed by the shareholders.

Moreover, the legal and tax status of SCRs has been subject to frequent amendments in the past. Consequently,

Altamir Amboise cannot guarantee that it will not be subject to additional management constraints in addition

to those currently in existence, nor that the tax regime applicable to its shareholders will remain unchanged, or

that it will able to safeguard the benefit of the favourable tax regime.

4.2.3 Risks associated with the holding of minority interests

This risk does not fall within the scope of internal control per se. Bearing in mind the ratios of co-investment with

FCPR Apax France VII, Altamir Amboise will always hold minority interests in the companies in which it invests.

However, it is the policy of Apax Partners to obtain, within the companies in which it decides to invest, the rights

necessary to protect the investment of FCPR Apax France VII and of Altamir Amboise.

However, Apax Partners is not prohibited, in principle, from investing in companies in which the funds that it

manages and Altamir Amboise together hold a minority of the capital or voting rights, and these might not be in

a position to protect their interests.

4.2.4 Risks associated with the holding of privileged information

Because of the responsibility associated with their activities, some managing partners or employees of Apax

Partners may have knowledge of confidential or unpublished information about a company in which Altamir

Amboise plans to invest or in which it already holds an interest. Altamir Amboise and the FCPRs managed by

Apax Partners may consequently be unable to acquire or dispose of the interest concerned within the required

timescale. 

The Company makes its best efforts to plan its realisations so that they occur on the dates authorised by the

stock-market regulations.

4.2.5 Risks associated with the regulation of economic concentrations

Because of the legal links between Altamir Amboise and Apax Partners, Altamir Amboise may be subject, for the

acquisition of certain of its interests, to the regulations governing economic concentrations applicable in France,

Europe and in other countries.

There is thus a risk that certain investment operations planned by Altamir Amboise may be delayed, limited or

prevented by the authorities invested with decision-making powers with regard to these regulations. 

This risk is taken into account in the scheduling of the dates of signature and finalisation of the investment

projects.
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4.2.6 Other legal and tax risks

Legal, tax, and regulatory changes may occur and could have an unfavourable effect on Altamir Amboise, the

companies in its portfolio and its shareholders. For example, the private equity transactions market has in the

past been affected by the unavailability of senior and subordinate financing, partly due to regulatory pressures

on banks to reduce their risk in such transactions. 

In addition, Altamir Amboise may invest in various countries that might change their tax legislation with possible

retroactive effects.

4.3 Competition risks

Altamir Amboise is unable to guarantee that Apax Partners will continue to be able or will wish to study certain

opportunities for investment, nor that any investment proposals formulated by Apax Partners for Altamir Amboise

and for FCPR Apax France VII will be taken up by the vendors in view of competing offers.

Moreover, the pressure exerted on prices by the presence of more numerous players may lead Altamir Amboise

either to be obliged to invest under financial conditions that adversely affect the expected profitability of its invest-

ment, or to encounter difficulties in identifying and obtaining investments that meet its criteria for profitability.

The best approach to this risk is to seek “proprietary” projects, i.e. those in which Apax Partners is the originator

of the transaction.

4.4 Risks associated with Apax Partners

4.4.1 Risks associated with the dependence of Altamir Amboise on Apax Partners

Altamir Amboise is linked to Apax Partners SA by an investment consultancy contract.

In view of Altamir Amboise's legal status as a Limited Partnership by shares, and due to the fact that Maurice

Tchenio and the other partners of Apax Partners SA hold together, directly and indirectly, almost all the capital

of Apax Partners & Cie Gérance SA, the General Partner and Manager of the Company, it would in practice be

almost impossible for the shareholders of the Company to terminate the agreement and this charter during

their period of validity without the agreement of Apax Partners SA, regardless of the performance achieved by

Altamir Amboise on the investment portfolio created on the basis of its advice.

Altamir Amboise is therefore linked, for the management of its assets, to Apax Partners SA for a considerable

period of time, regardless of the evolution of Apax Partners SA, its shareholders, managers, co-workers,

methods, performances and/or strategy.

The partners of Apax Partners do everything possible to ensure that the interests of Altamir Amboise are best

served.

4.4.2 Risks associated with key personnel

• Risks associated with the management and control of Apax Partners

Maurice Tchenio is the founder of Apax Partners, and for over 20 years has played a major role in the manage-

ment of the company and of the funds created by Apax Partners. He also holds capital control of Apax Partners

SA and of Apax Partners & Cie Gérance SA, the Manager and General Partner of the Company.

His departure, prolonged unavailability or death could thus have a significantly unfavourable effect on the opera-

tions and organisation of Apax Partners, and consequently on the operations of Altamir Amboise and its

prospects for growth.

However, a plan for succession is in place, both organisationally and in terms of control of the capital of the Apax

Partners company, in the event of the death or incapacity of Maurice Tchenio, which relies on the other managing

partners of Apax Partners.
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• Risks associated with other professionals working for Apax Partners

The success of Altamir Amboise depends to a large extent on the skills and expertise of the managing partners

and other professionals employed by Apax Partners, and no guarantee can be given that these persons will

continue to be employed by Apax Partners.

The size of the team of professionals of Apax Partners, the reputation of the company itself and the collegial

character of the investment, monitoring and disinvestment decisions tend to limit the impact for Altamir Amboise

of isolated departures of one or more co-workers of the group. However, because the teams are specialised

according to operating sectors of activity, the departure of a given professional, and especially of a managing

director, could have a negative effect on the ability of Altamir Amboise to invest in the sector in which that profes-

sional was working.

This report does not aim to describe the procedures in detail. By describing the organisation and principles of

internal control, we have summarised the main lines of operation of our internal control procedures.

2008 saw a strengthening of the security of data and information systems, evaluation of the risks of conflicts of

interest, confirmation of the adequacy of measures for the management or avoidance of risks, and continued

monitoring of the proper application of the procedures in force.

In 2009 we will continue in our efforts, and will take corrective action if we or our controllers identify any

weaknesses or omissions.

The Chairman of the Supervisory Board
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Dear Shareholders,

In performance of the duties that have been conferred on us by your General Meetings of Shareholders, we

present to you our report for the fiscal year ending 31 December 2008, regarding:

• the audit of the annual accounts of the company Altamir Amboise, as attached to the present report,

• the justification for our assessments,

• the specific verifications and information required by law.

The annual accounts were drawn up by the Manager. It is our responsibility, on the basis of our audit, to express

an opinion on these accounts.

1. Opinion on the Annual Accounts

We have performed our audit pursuant to the professional rules applicable in France; these rules require the

implementation of procedures enabling reasonable assurance to be obtained that the annual accounts do not

contain any significant irregularities. An audit consists of verifying, by sampling and other selection methods, the

documentation substantiating the amounts and information appearing in the annual accounts. It also consists

of assessing the accounting principles followed and the significant estimations used, and of assessing the

presentation of the accounts as a whole. We believe that the elements we have gathered form a sufficient and

appropriate basis for our opinion.

We certify that the annual accounts, with respect to French accounting rules and standards, are accurate and

sincere and give a true and fair statement of the operating results for the past fiscal year, as well as of the finan-

cial position and capital of the company at the end of that fiscal year.

2. Justification of assessments

The financial crisis, which has been increasingly accompanied by an economic crisis, is producing numerous

consequences for businesses, particularly in terms of their operations and their financing. The very high level

of volatility in the financial markets, which have remained active, the increasing scarcity of transactions in finan-

cial markets, which have become inactive, and the lack of foreseeability of the future are creating special condi-

tions this year for the preparation of the accounts, particularly with regard to the accounting estimates that are

required in application of the accounting standards. It is in this context that we have performed our assessments,

in application of the provisions of Article 823-9 of the Commercial Code, and that we draw the following points

to your attention:

• Our assessments have particularly concerned compliance with the accounting standards applicable to venture

capital companies (SCRs).

• The financial instruments of capital investment have been valued according to the methods described in Part

2 of the Appendix to the Annual Accounts; we have reviewed the procedures defined by the Management, as

well as the information and the assumptions used for the valuation of these financial instruments. 

The assessments thus made fall within the framework of our audit of the annual accounts, taken as a whole, and

have therefore contributed to the formation of our opinion as expressed in the first part of this report.

> GENERAL REPORT OF THE STATUTORY AUDITORS 
ON THE ANNUAL ACCOUNTS



3. Specific information and verifications

We have also carried out the specific verifications required by law.

We have no comment to make with respect to:

• the truthfulness and conformity with the annual accounts of the information given in the Management report

of the Manager and in the documents addressed to the shareholders regarding the financial situation and the

annual accounts,

• the truthfulness of the information given in the Management report in relation to the remuneration and benefits

paid to the executive directors concerned, as well as to the commitments made in their favour at the time of

their taking, leaving or changing office, or subsequent to such events.

In application of the law, we have satisfied ourselves that the various elements of information relating to acqui-

sitions of equity interests and control, to the identity of the holders of equity and voting rights and to reciprocal

equity interests have been communicated to you in the Management report.

Neuilly-sur-Seine, 6 April 2009

The Statutory Auditors

CFA Ernst & Young et Autres

Pierre Esmein François Villard
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Dear Shareholders,

In our capacity as statutory auditors of your company, we present to you our report on regulated commitments

and agreements.

It is not our responsibility to search for the existence of agreements or commitments, but rather to inform you,

on the basis of the information supplied to us, of the characteristics and essential details of the agreements and

commitments notified to us, without making a judgment as to their usefulness or merit. It is our responsibility,

under the terms of Article R 226-2 of the Commercial Code, to assess the benefits that accompanied the conclu-

sion of these agreements and commitments in view of their approval.

Absence of notice of commitments and agreements
We hereby inform you that we were not informed of any agreement or commitment entered into in the course of

the year that would be subject to the provisions of Article L 226-10 of the Commercial Code.

Agreements and commitments approved in previous years 
whose performance was continued during this year
In other respects, in application of the Commercial Code, we were informed that the performance of the follo-

wing agreements and commitments approved in previous years was continued in the course of the last year. 

With the company Apax Partners SA

Nature and Purpose

The company Apax Partners SA entered into an investment consultancy contract with your company on 

30 November 2006, which provided for Apax Partners to render the services summarised below to your company:

• consultancy relating to operations concerning the investment and disinvestment of the assets of your company

in accordance with the company’s investment policy;

• provision of consultancy or services, as the case may be, to companies and other entities in the portfolio of your

company;

• assistance in calculating the values of the equity interests of your company.

This investment consultancy contract was authorised by the Supervisory Board of your company at its meeting

of 12 October 2006.

Terms

This contract is remunerated by the payment of a sum equivalent to 95% of the amount of the remuneration of

the Manager as provided for in the Bylaws, with the stipulation that any sum received by Apax Partners SA within

the context of transactions concerning the assets of Altamir or paid to it by the companies in the portfolio under

this contract is accordingly deducted from the remuneration due.

This investment consultancy agreement was signed for an indefinite period. However, either of the parties may

terminate it prematurely and automatically if the other party fails to meet any of its obligations arising therefrom

and has not remedied this default within thirty days after receiving formal notice of this fact.

For fiscal year 2008, the company Apax Partners SA billed your company under this agreement for the amount

of €4,273,734.82, inclusive of all taxes.

We have performed the due diligence in relation to this commission that we deemed necessary in observance of

the professional standards of the Compagnie Nationale des Commissaires aux Comptes. This due diligence

consisted of verifying the conformity of the information provided to us with the underlying documents on which

it is based.

Neuilly-sur-Seine, 6 April 2009

The Statutory Auditors

CFA Ernst & Young et Autres

Pierre Esmein François Villard

> SPECIAL REPORT OF THE STATUTORY AUDITORS 
ON REGULATED AGREEMENTS



1. Assets (in euros) 31/12/06 31/12/07 31/12/08

Gross Write-downs Net

Provisions

Uncalled subscribed capital

FIXED ASSETS

Non-current intangible assets 

Start-up costs 0 0 0 0 0

Concessions, patents and trademarks 0 1,000 1,000 0 1,000

Non-current tangible assets

Office furnishings and equipment 

Transport equipment

Installations and fittings 

Net long-term investments

Portfolio investments held 
as non-current assets [TIAP] 70,706,657 265,107,288 353,930,403 124,685,616 229,244,786

Receivables linked to capitalised 
portfolio securities 4,038,438 1,625,523 31,997,329 4,161,542 27,835,787

Other receivables 1,914,302 10,296,650 24,041,660 24,041,660 0

Other non-current financial assets 230,841 451,838 436,397 126,993 309,404

Total (I) 76,890,238 277,482,298 410,406,789 153,015,812 257,390,977

CURRENT ASSETS

Other receivables 13,690 23 0 0

Marketable securities 22,094,407 69,742,222 2,176,664 0 2,176,664

Cash and cash equivalents 79,293 68,762 12,409 12,409

Total (II) 22,187,391 69,811,007 2,189,074 0
2,189,074

Expenses of issuing tender offer

Pre-booked expenses 22,315 46,370 61,095 61,095

Positive exchange differences

Total (III) 22,315 46,370 61,095 0 61,095

Total assets (I) + (II) + (III) 99,099,944 347,339,676 412,656,959 153,015,812 259,641,146

Commitments given:

- Supplementary commitments 2,995,644 1,393,180 3,481,845

- New investment commitments 15,254,687 50,663 0

- Other commitments 1,649,454 5,251,529 1,840,721

> STATUTORY ANNUAL ACCOUNTS
Balance sheet at 31 December 2008
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2. Liabilities (in euros) 31/12/06 31/12/07 31/12/08

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Capital 53,990,330 178,019,226 219,259,626

Premiums 14,197,771 107,760,744 107,760,744

Reserves 500,215 11,399,920 12,859,262

Retained earnings 3,295,832 19,882,988 36,203,601

Earnings for the year 26,922,006 29,186,839 -117,010,695

Interim dividends

Total (I) 98,906,154 346,249,717 259,072,538

OTHER EQUITY

Bonds convertible into shares

Total (II) 0 0 0

PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES

Total (III) 0 0 0

PAYABLES

Various financial debts

Debts on fixed assets 0 0 0

Trade payables and related 179,894 1,066,165 565,802

Tax and employee-related liabilities 12,234 0 0

Other debts 1,663 23,794 2,806

Total (IV) 193,790 1,089,959 568,608

Total Liabilities (I) + (II) + (III) + (IV) 99,099,944 347,339,676 259,641,146
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3. Income statement (in euros) 31/12/06 31/12/07 31/12/08

1. REVENUE OPERATIONS

Commissions and brokerage fees

Financial income

Income from equity investments

Income on receivables related to equity investments

Income from capitalised portfolio securities 0 0 0

Income from cash investments 165,861 1,121,357 1,341,087

Net income from disposals of marketable securities 1,440,935 629,943 196,968

Other financial income 0 0 0

Provisions written back 0 1,341 0

Other income 7,001 1 2

Transfers of expenses

Operating expenses

Purchases and other out-of-house expenses 1,970,777 6,785,090 7,103,142

Wages and payroll expenses

Taxes, fees and similar payments 397,495 1,281,205 1,353,044

Depreciation, amortization and provisions 0 0 0

Financial expenses

Interest and similar expenses 257 0 10,396

Net expenses from disposals of marketable securities

Provisions for write-downs 1,341 38,854 88,140

Other financial expenses 0 0 0

Other expenses 39,259 76,000 100,577

Income from revenue operations (before corporate tax) -795,333 -6,428,507 -7,117,240

2. CAPITAL OPERATIONS

Income

Gains on disposals of portfolio investments held as fixed assets 29,901,786 45,834,411 3,064,030

Provisions written back 1,330,806 11,876,492 4,689,021

Other income 2,286,474 9,015,946 14,146,768

Expenses

Losses on disposals of portfolio investments held as fixed assets 948,858 7,353,764 1,249,439

Provisions for write-downs 4,762,582 22,362,587 130,026,357

Other expenses 89,387 1,389,816 330,185

Income from capital operations 27,718,240 35,620,682 -109,706,161

Non-recurring income 42,827 35,387 1,988

Non-recurring expenses 43,729 40,723 189,282

Corporation tax

Total net income 26,922,006 29,186,839 -117,010,695

74



ALTAMIR AMBOISE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2008 75

4. Cash flow (in euros) 31/12/06 31/12/07 31/12/08

Cash flow related to operations

Net income 26,922,006 29,186,839 -117,010,695

Elimination of income and expenses not affecting cash flow 

or not related to operations:

- Amortization, depreciation and provisions 3,433,117 10,523,607 125,425,476

- Change in deferred taxes

- Gains (losses) from disposals, net of tax -28,952,928 -38,480,647 -1,814,591

Gross cash flow 1,402,195 1,229,799 6,600,190

Dividends received 

Change in working capital requirement related to operations 577,039 780,650 -536,053

Net cash flow generated by operations 1,979,234 2,010,449 6,064,137

Cash flow related to investment operations

Acquisition of non-current intangible assets

Acquisition of portfolio investments held as fixed assets 

and related receivables -41,600,884 -151,368,808 -94,393,806

Disposals of portfolio investments held as fixed assets 41,338,433 69,121,076 4,278,417

Change in interest accrued on related receivables -1,614,800 -6,064,681 -13,458,468

Acquisition of other long-term investments 902 -7,231 54,294

Net cash flow related to investment operations -1,876,349 -88,319,643 -103,519,563

Cash flow related to financing operations

Dividends paid -1,864,883 -8,988,750 -3,679,154

Capital increase in cash* 1,126,200 116,228,297 33,512,670

Merger costs charged to the merger premium -1,984,823

Issues of obligations

Repayment of obligations

Net cash flow related to financing operations -738,683 105,254,724 29,833,516

Change in cash position -635,798 18,945,530 -67,621,910

Cash at start 22,809,500 22,173,701 69,810,985

Effect of mergers (starting cash of Amboise merged with Iena) 28,691,754 0

Cash at start withdrawn from the merger 50,865,455 69,810,985

Cash at close 22,173,701 69,810,985 2,189,073

of which: interest accrued on related receivables 

Cash at close not including accrued interest

Effect of changes in currency exchange rates

Breakdown of the cash line

Gross marketable securities 22,094,407 69,742,222 2,176,664

liquid assets 79,293 68,762 12,409

accrued interest

Total 22,173,701 69,810,985 2,189,073

* At 31 December 2007, this line corresponds to the issue of the B share warrants and the capital increase of 10 July 2007.

* At 31 December 2008, this line corresponds to the capital increase related to the exercise of the share warrants on 31 March 2008 and 

29 September 2008.
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5. Notes to the statutory annual accounts at 31 December 2008

1. Significant activities and events to 31 December 2008

Altamir Amboise is the new company name of the Altamir company following the absorption of the company
Amboise Investissement on 4 June 2007 with retroactive effect to 1 January 2007. Altamir Amboise is a company
limited by shares (SCA) governed by Articles L 226.1 to L 226.14 of the Commercial Code. Its principal activity is
the acquisition of equity interests in all types of companies. The Company has opted for the status of SCR
(Sociétés de Capital Risque) - venture capital companies - as of the financial year 1996.

The main events occurring during the course of the year 2008 were as follows:

New Investments 

Companies Amounts Change in Total
invested commitments investments and
in 2008 in 2008 commitments

in 2008

Unlisted securities

Maisons du Monde 25,248,506 25,248,506

Listed securities

Altran (Altrafin Participations) 52,381,313 52,381,313

Total 1 77,629,819 0 77,629,819

Additional investments in new companies, including second round investments

Companies Amounts Change in Total
invested commitments investments and
in 2008 in 2008 commitments

in 2008

Unlisted securities

Aprovia 43,839 43,839

Centerbeam Inc. 10,955 10,955

DXO Labs 0 557,743 557,743

Equalliance (Finalliance) 4,947,460 4,947,460

Faceo -1,271,136 -1,271,136

IEE (Captor) -1,388 -1,388

MG Participations 3,012 3,012

Morgan 35,899 35,899

Morgan International Participations 0 122,869 122,869

Neurotech 42,459 -52,610 -10,151

Parkeon 5,619 5,619

Prosodie (Camelia Participations) 129,990 129,990

Season (Fin. Season) 10,371 10,000 20,371

Vizada (Mobsat Group Holding) -167,581 -167,581

Total 2 3,789,499 638,002 4,427,501

Listed securities

GFI (Itefin) 11,180,000 11,180,000

Hybrigenics 9,756 9,756

Newron Pharma (NWL Invest) 1,500 1,500

Orexo - ex Biolipox AB 96 96

Séchilienne (Financière Hélios) 1,400,000 1,400,000 2,800,000

U10 383,130 383,130

Total 3 12,974,482 1,400,000 14,374,482

Totals 1+2+3 94,393,800 2,038,002 96,431,802
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Disposals

Total companies Sale Gain Loss Provisions Impact on
price written back earnings

Unlisted securities

Liquidation 2,926 746,932 746,844 -88

Full disposal 78,824 94,124 243,924 52,656 -97,144

Partial disposal 4,063,117 2,957,262 743 2,956,519

Listed securities in which Altamir

invested prior to listing

Full disposal 121,208 231,961 313,815 81,854

Partial disposal 12,342 13,230 -13,230

Total 4,278,417 3,051,386 1,236,790 1,113,315 2,927,911

Distribution of Dividends

Altamir Amboise distributed total dividends of €11,406,884 during the first half of 2008, of which €548,711 went
to the general partner, €4,938,397 to the B shareholders and €5,919,776 to the limited partners holding A shares.

€3,679,154 was distributed in cash. 
€7,727,730 was distributed in shares.

Capital operations

(in thousands of euros) Share Premiums Reserves Retained Earnings Total
capital earnings for the year

Equity capital at 31/12/07 178,019  107,761  11,400  19,883  29,187  346,250  

Capital increase related 
to the exercising of 360,021 12,827  12,827  

A share subscription warrants

Capital increase related 

to the non-payment of dividends 7,728  7,728  

Capital increase related 

to the exercising of 13,159,873 

B share subscription warrants 20,685 0 

Earnings for the year 2008 -117,010  -117,010  

Allocation of earnings for 2007 1,459  16,321  -29,187  -11,407  

Final position at 31/12/08 219,259  107,761  12,859  36,204  -117,010  259,073  

Capital increase

• Prior to the merger, Altamir issued 539,041 March 2008 share subscription warrants (name: Altamir Amb
BS0308).
These SSWs allowed their holders to subscribe, between 17 March 2008 and 21 March 2008 inclusive, to new
ordinary shares at the ratio of 17,816 new Altamir Amboise shares for three SSWs.
The exercise price of the SSWs was set at 85% of the average price of the ordinary Altamir Amboise share,
weighted by transaction volumes, over the ten trading days from 3 March 2008 to 14 March 2008 inclusive (the
“Reference Period”), subject to a lower limit equal to the par value of the share, i.e. 6 euros.
Taking account of the Altamir Amboise share price during this period, the price of 6 euros has been used.
360,021 SSWs were exercised, entailing the creation of 2,137,824 new shares and thus a capital increase of
€12,826,944.
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• The General Meeting of 3 April 2008 approved a total dividend of €11,406,884 for the various stakeholders:

€5,919,776 was allocated to the A shareholders, and €3,379,578 of this sum was reinvested in ordinary shares.

€5,487,108 was allocated to the B shareholders and the general partner, and €4,348,152 of this sum was

reinvested in ordinary shares. 

The reinvestments allowed the creation of 1,287,955 new A shares.

• Following the merger, Altamir issued 19,610,400 September 2008 share subscription warrants (name: Altamir

Amb BS0908).

These SSWs allowed their holders to subscribe, between 15 September 2008 and 19 September 2008 inclusive,

to new ordinary shares at the ratio of 0.262 new shares of Altamir Amboise for 1 SSW (with a minimum of 4 SSWs

to subscribe to one new share).

The exercise price of the SSWs was set at 85% of the average price of the ordinary Altamir Amboise share,

weighted by transaction volumes, over the ten trading days from 1 September 2008 to 12 September 2008 inclu-

sive (the “Reference Period”), subject to a lower limit equal to the par value of the share, i.e. 6 euros.

Taking account of the Altamir Amboise share price during this period, the price of 6 euros has been used.

13,159,873 SSWs were exercised, entailing the creation of 3,447,621 new shares and thus a capital increase of

€20,685,726.

At 31 December 2008, the number of A and B shares is 36,530,883.

Following these operations, the share capital breaks down as follows:

31/12/06 31/12/07 31/12/08
Number of ordinary shares 539,041   29,638,901   36,512,301   

Par value of ordinary shares 100   6   6   

Amount in euros 53,904,100   177,833,406   219,073,806   

Number of B preferred shares 8,623   18,582   18,582   

Par value of B preferred shares 10   10   10   

Amount in euros 86,230   185,820   185,820   

Total 53,990,330   178,019,226   219,259,626   

Co-investment percentages

As of 1 July 2007, the co-investment percentages between the funds managed by Apax Partners SA and Altamir

Amboise are 57% and 43% respectively for every new investment made.

5.2 Accounting rules and methods

The annual accounts are presented in conformity with the legal and regulatory provisions currently in force in

France and recommended by the General Accounting Plan.

The presentation of the income statement is based on Opinion No. 30 of 13 February 1987 of the National

Accounting Board, which proposes a structure for the accounts that is better suited to the nature of the

company's activities.

In the area of company law, the law requires companies with annual accounts certified by a statutory auditor to

publish information on the payment turnarounds of their suppliers or of their customers (Art. 24). This new

obligation will be applied to financial years beginning subsequent to 1 January 2009.
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5.2.1 Non-current financial assets
(portfolio securities held as non-current assets [TIAP])

5.2.1.1 Accounting method for tracking and impairment of investments

In conformity with the accounting regulations for commercial companies, equity securities are recognised at
their acquisition cost. They may give rise to impairment, but not to revaluation. The manager conducts a review
of the listed and unlisted securities at the end of each half-yearly and annual accounting period. When the
estimated value is less than the cost price, then a provision is created in the amount of the difference.
When a company records an unfavourable change in its business with a risk of additional financing needs, a
discount is applied, which varies from 25% to 100% depending on the gravity of the situation.

More specifically, the following depreciation rates are applied:

25% = there is a problem for the company, but the investment is not in danger;

50% = there is a risk of losing a portion of our investment;

100% = there is a risk of losing the whole of our investment.

Intermediate rates (75% and 90%) may be applied depending on the gravity of the situation.

The provision for write-downs of securities and receivables related to the portfolio investments held as non-
current assets (TIAPs) amounted to €128,847,158 at 31 December 2008.

Exits are calculated on a “first-in, first-out” basis.

Receivables in foreign currencies on foreign companies are valued at the exchange rate on the closing date of
the accounts. A provision for risks and contingencies is recognised in the event of any decline in the currency
concerned in relation to the euro. This rule is applied to both the book value and the estimated value.

5.2.1.2 Economic valuation

Certain securities give rise to an economic valuation (estimated value) based on the following principles:

Financial instruments traded on a regulated market or similar

French and foreign financial instruments are valued on the basis of the last market price on their normal market;
foreign financial instruments are converted at the last exchange rate for the foreign currency on the date of the
valuation.
The Company may apply a discount of 5% to 15% on the market price if there are any limitations on the dispos-
ability of these securities.

Financial instruments not traded on a regulated market or similar

Financial instruments not traded on a regulated market or similar are valued by the Company based on their
acquisition cost, unless adjusted. Upward or downward adjustments may be made when a significant number
of securities are sold or subscribed at a price differing from that paid by the Fund. Downward adjustments may
also be made in order to take account of an unfavourable trend for a portfolio company.

When a company (1) has been in the portfolio for at least 12 months, (2) has shown a profit for two consecutive
years, and (3) its profitability is likely to be recurrent, Altamir Amboise’s stake in that company may be valued at
fair value with an appropriate tradability discount.

The acquisition cost of foreign financial instruments is converted into euros on the acquisition day. In the event
of an upward or downward adjustment, a new conversion is carried out on the date of the adjustment.

When there is a strong probability that an investment will be subject to a disposal operation in the near future,
the sale price may be used with a discount that takes into consideration the probability of success.

Share subscription warrants, options, convertible securities and bonds and any other options on securities are
valued based on the difference, as applicable, between the value of the underlying security and their exercise
price.
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5.2.1.3 Disposals with payment in securities

When a full or partial disposal gives rise to a payment in securities, Altamir Amboise records neither the disposal

value nor the acquisition value of the securities, but considers these securities to have been acquired free of

charge.

The same applies to dividends paid in shares.

5.2.2 Other non-current financial assets

This account corresponds to the mandate given to a market maker. The Company has given this mandate to act

on its behalf on the Eurolist by Euronext Paris market in order to promote the liquidity of the transactions and

the regularity of the trading in its securities. This account includes 52,010 shares for an amount of €264K and

€173K in a cash account, including €122K in marketable securities.

A provision at 31 December 2008 was recognised in the amount of €127K.

5.2.3 Other receivables

This account corresponds to interest accrued on equity investments.

The company confirmed that this income was generally included in the price of acquisition by third parties and

not paid by the debtor company. Consequently, it is henceforward included in the valuation of the companies

instead of being recorded in financial income receivable.

5.2.4 Portfolio investments held as non-current assets [TIAP]

Estimated value of portfolio

(in thousands of euros) Amount at start of period Amount at 31 December 2008
Gross Net Estimated Gross Net Estimated

Breakdown of book book value book book value
estimated value value value value value

Portions of portfolio valued:

- at cost 24,141 24,141 24,141 2,136 2,136 2,136

- at a lower value 134,399 122,964 122,964 34,627 4,203 4,203

- based on the stock price 68,529 52,699 155,601 110,240 33,500 66,842

- according to net shareholders’ equity

- according to restated net 
shareholders’ equity

- based on a yield or profitability 64,031 64,031 105,664 206,063 188,541 250,727
value

- based on other methods 1,273 1,273 2,167 865 865 4,392

Estimated portfolio value 292,373 265,108 410,537 353,931 229,245 328,300

Receivables linked to 

capitalised portfolio securities 1,625 1,625 1,625 31,997 27,836 27,834 

Total including receivables linked  
293,998 266,733 412,163 385,928 257,081 356,134

to capitalised portfolio securities

Accounting provisions 27,265 128,847      

Unrealised gains not recognised 145,430 99,053
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Change in value of capitalised securities portfolio

Portfolio value
Changes over the period Net Estimated
(in thousands of euros) book value

value

Amount at start of period 266,733 412,163

Acquisitions over the period 94,394 94,394

Conversion of current accounts into capitalised portfolio securities

Disposals over the period (sales price)* -2,464 -4,278

Write-backs of impairment on securities sold 1,113

Gains on disposals of securities

- held at the start of the period 4,489

- acquired in the fiscal year

Change in provision for depreciation of the portfolio -102,695

Other changes from unrealised gains

- on securities acquired in the fiscal year -46,965

- on securities acquired previously -103,668

Other accounting movements

Amount at end of period 257,081 356,134

* The amount indicated on the line “disposals during the year (at sale price)” represents, for the column “net book value”, the net book 

value of the assets disposed of and, for the column “estimated value”, their sale price.

Analysis of change in equity securities

(In thousands of euros) 31/12/06* 31/12/07 Allocations Write-back of Other write- 31/12/08
prov. on disp. backs of prov.

Provision 15,378 27,265 106,019 1,113 3,324 128,847

* Amboise Investissement did not have any recognised provision at 31 December 2006.

The unused provisions are chiefly related to revaluations of market prices.

Change in unrealised capital gains not recorded in estimated values

(In thousands of euros) 31/12/06 31/12/07 31/12/08

Estimated value 62,337 145,430 99,053

5.2.5 Receivables attached to portfolio investments held as non-current assets [TIAP]

Gross values Gross at Gross at Subscriptions Redemptions Gross at 
(in thousands of euros) 31/12/06 31/12/07 and conversions 31/12/08

Eligible for quota* 5,813 6,878 8,729 1,483 14,124

Not eligible for quota 3,956 -5,253 42,762 19,636 17,873

Total 9,769 1,625 51,491 21,119 31,997

* This represents the quota of equity securities that must be held by a venture capital Company (SCR) in order to benefit from preferential

tax status.
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5.2.6 Other receivables

Table of variation in gross interest accrued

(in thousands of euros) 31/12/06 31/12/07 Increases Decreases 31/12/08

Interest accrued on 

receivables linked to 4,518 10,583 13,879 421 24,041

capitalised portfolio securities

Table of variation in accrued interest provisions

(in thousands of euros) 31/12/06 31/12/07 Increases Decreases 31/12/08

Provisions for interest 

accrued on receivables 1,687 286 24,007 252 24,041

linked to capitalised portfolio securities

The accrued interest on convertible bonds or equivalent securities was totally written down in 2008. The company

confirmed that this income was generally included in the price of acquisition by third parties and not directly paid

by the debtor company. 

5.2.7 Other receivables

Not applicable.

5.2.8 Investment securities

5.2.8.1 Gross values

(in thousands of euros) 31/12/06 31/12/07 31/12/08

Cash mutual funds 22,094 59 2

Certificates of deposit

Negotiable debt securities 0 69,683 2,175

Other marketable securities

Total 22,094 69,742 2,177

Cash SICAVs are valued at the historical cost. Capital gains on disposals are calculated by the difference between

the sale price and the weighted average purchase price. The Company does not reflect any unrealized gains in

the accounts.

The nature of the securities does not justify any impairment. 

Quantity Unit price Book Value
in euros value at 31/12/08

in thousands in thousands
of euros of euros

Cash mutual funds
Sgam Inv liq 5DEC 22.998 72.54 2 2

Negotiable debt securities
BMTN medium-term notes 13 167,307.38 2,175 2,191

5.2.8.2 Provisions for write-downs

Since 2006, treasury shares have been recognised as other non-current financial assets. 
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5.2.9 Pre-booked expenses

(in thousands of euros) 31/12/06 31/12/07 31/12/08
Pre-booked expenses 22 46 61

These consist of advertising and insurance expenses.

5.2.10 Provisions for risks and contingencies

No provision was recognised at 31 December 2008.

5.2.11 Trade payables and related accounts, tax and employee-related debts and others

(in thousands of euros) 31/12/06 31/12/07 31/12/08

Trade payables 180 1,066 566

Tax and employee-related liabilities 12 0 0

Other debts 2 24 3

Total 194 1,090 569

Trade payables (€566K) primarily represent fees to be paid to lawyers and Statutory Auditors. All of these liabil-

ities are less than one year. The other debts correspond to current accounts of blocked associates for an amount

of €1.6K and miscellaneous for €1.1K. 

5.2.12 Off-balance sheet commitments

Summary table of obligations and commitments

Total Total Payments due by period
Contractual obligations 31/12/07 31/12/08 Less than From 1 to Over 5

1 year five years years
Long-term debt

Lease-financing obligations

Simple leases

Irrevocable purchase commitments 

(investment commitments) 1,443,843 3,481,845 3,481,845

Other long-term obligations 

(guarantees on liabilities and other) 5,251,529 1,840,721 647,618 1,193,103

Total 6,695,372 5,322,566 4,129,463 1,193,103 0

The presentation given does not omit the existence of a significant off-balance sheet commitment pursuant to

the accounting rules in force.
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5.2.12.1 Irrevocable purchase obligations (investment commitments)

Table: Monitoring of commitments to invest

Companies Commitments Investments Cancellation of New Commitments
at 31/12/07 over the period commitments commitments at 31/12/08

at 31/12/08 2008

Unlisted securities
DXO Labs 557,743 557,743

Morgan 122,869 122,869

Neurotech 52,610 42,115 10,495 0

Odyssey (Odyfinance) 1,391,233 1,391,233

Season (Financière Season) 10,000 10,000

Listed securities
Séchilienne Sidec (financière Hélios) 1,400,000 1,400,000

Total 1,443,843 42,115 10,495 2,090,612 3,481,845

5.2.12.2 Other long-term obligations (guarantees on liabilities and other)

Liability guarantees and other commitments

A guarantee was given in the Afflelou operation, made in the form of a price reduction. Three scenarios were
drawn up, with a maximum risk of €608,652 for Altamir Amboise.

The purchasers of the Cartesis company made a partial claim on the guarantee that was given to them. After
discussion, Altamir Amboise agreed to pay €21,545.34 to settle this claim. The sole remaining guarantee is that
applicable to a tax or employee-benefits recourse, as yet unvalued.

Within the context of the disposal of Webraska, Banque d'Escompte gave the purchasers a guarantee of €38,967
on behalf of Altamir Amboise until 5 May 2009.

Commitments receivable

At the time of the disposal of Créatifs par Alcyon Finance, the purchasers still owed the vendors the amount of
€1,500,033 (after use of the liability guarantee), including €32,361.62 owed to Altamir Amboise, after reimburse-
ment of the 2007 campaign credit. We have not received a response to our demands, and we have appealed to
the mediator of the 2006 protocol. 

Other off-balance sheet commitments

Within the context of the loan of €18.4 million granted by BRED to 3AB Optique Espagne, Altamir Amboise is
guarantor of 20% of its stake in 3AB Optique Espagne, amounting to €221,050.

A commitment was given to certain managers of the companies Financière Season, Maison du Monde, ETAI,
Faceo and Vizada to repurchase their shares and obligations in the event of their departure. These commitments
do not represent a significant risk that would require the establishment of a provision for risks and charges.

Itefin Participations: A clause adjusting the number of GFI Informatique shares given in guarantee was signed
by Itefin Participations. Altamir Amboise committed itself to a maximum ceiling amount in the event of a fall in
the share price of GFI Informatique, and part of this amount has already been paid. 

Within the context of a bank loan to F2L, the Apax entities issued a counter-guarantee of €363,401 in favour of
Alain Afflelou and Bridgepoint following the issuing of guarantees by the latter companies.

A first demand guarantee was signed by Apax Funds including Altamir Amboise, in favour of a bank. This
guarantee could be called by this bank when a determined average price on a certain period is reached for certain
stocks.
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Altamir Amboise made a commitment not to sell 6,950 shares of Cegid before June 2009 in order to cover a
potential price adjustment. These shares were depreciated in the portfolio.

Securities pledged against overdraft

In the context of the overdraft facility authorised by Société Générale, the equivalent of 150% of the amount used
by Altamir Amboise must be pledged in financial instruments in favour of Société Générale, i.e. at 31 December
2008: 

- 4,563,445 shares of 3AC Finance

- 152,855 shares of Cegid

- 51,331 redeemable SSWs of Cegid

- 580,824 shares of Groupe Outremer Telecom

- 261,300 shares of Rue du Commerce 

- 415,832 shares of Financière Season

These quantities will be adjusted to take account of the valuations at 31/12/08.

At 31 December 2008, the €34 million overdraft facility had not been utilised.

5.3 Notes relating to certain items on the income statement 

5.3.1 Revenue operations

5.3.1.1 Financial income

(in thousands of euros) 31/12/06 31/12/07 31/12/08

Income from cash investments 166 1,121 1,341

Net income from disposal of 1,441 630 197

marketable securities

Other financial income 7 0 0

Provisions written back 0 1 0

Total 1,614 1,752 1,538

In order to improve the presentation of income relating to the portfolio companies, the income from the portfolio
investments held as non-current assets (TIAPs) and the corresponding provision writebacks are now found in
income from capital operations. 

5.3.1.2 Financial expenses

(in thousands of euros) 31/12/06 31/12/07 31/12/08

Interest and similar expenses 10

Provisions 1 39 88

Total 1 39 98

For the same reasons as for financial income, the expenses connected with portfolio investments held as non-
current assets (TIAPs) and the corresponding allocations are now found in expenses on capital operations.

5.3.1.3 Other purchases, external expenses and other expenses

(in thousands of euros) 31/12/06 31/12/07 31/12/08

Intermediary compensation and fees 1,874 6,590 6,804

Other expenses 97 195 299

Total 1,971 6,785 7,103
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Remuneration to the Management and the investment advisers, exclusive of taxes, for the year 2008 would have
been €6,714,176.17 according to Article 17.1 of the Articles of Association.

However, the internal regulations annexed to the Articles of Association stipulate that all fees, directors' fees and
commissions received by the manager or by the investment consultancy company in the context of transactions
concerning the assets of Altamir Amboise, and the fees paid by the portfolio companies up to the percentage held
by Altamir Amboise, must be deducted from the investment advisers’ fees. The sum total share of fees paid by
the portfolio companies for the year 2008 amounted to €2,104,732.55 excluding taxes.

The net expense for the fees of the Management and the investment advisers is therefore equal to the difference
between these two amounts, i.e. €4,609,443.62 excluding taxes.

The other fees mainly concern auditors’ and lawyers’ fees payable by the Company as a result of investment
projects that did not come to fruition.

Pursuant to Decree No. 2008-1487 of 20 December 2008, the fees of the statutory auditors break down as follows: 

Other expenses include such items as publicity, advertising and publication expenses.

5.3.1.4 Taxes

(in thousands of euros) 31/12/06 31/12/07 31/12/08

Non-deductible VAT 378 1,258 1,350

Other tax 19 23 3

Total 397 1,281 1,353

5.3.1.5 Depreciation, amortisation, and provisions

None.
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Ernst & Young and others Compagnie Deloitte Touche 
Member of Française d'Audit Tohmatsu Audit

Ernst & Young network Member of  Deloitte network
Amount exc. taxes % Amount exc. taxes % Amount exc. taxes %

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

Audit

Auditor, certification,

examination of individual and 

consolidated accounts

- Issuer 142,428.15   130,550.00   97% 100% 25,000.00   100% 95,500.00   100%

- Fully integrated subsidiaries

Other due diligence and services 5,000.00 3%

directly linked to the task of the 

auditor

- Issuer

- Fully integrated subsidiaries

Subtotal 147,428.15   130,550.00   100% 100% 25,000.00   100% 95,500.00   100%

Other services rendered by the 
networks to fully integrated 
subsidiaries

Legal, tax, employee-related

Others

Subtotal

Total 147,428.15   130,550.00   100% 100% 25,000.00   100% 95,500.00   100%
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5.3.2 Capital operations

5.3.2.1 Income

(in thousands of euros) 31/12/06 31/12/07 31/12/08

Gains on disposals of 
capitalised portfolio securities 29,902 45,834 3,064

Provisions written back 1,331 11,876 4,689

Other income 2,286 9,016 14,147

Total 33,519 66,726 21,900

In order to improve the economic presentation of the income statement, other income corresponding to revenues
from portfolio investments held as non-current assets (TIAPs) has been classified as income on capital opera-
tions. Up to 30 June 2006 such income was classified as revenue operations. The provision writebacks represent
reversals of provisions on portfolio investments held as non-current assets (TIAPs), on related receivables and
on interest accrued on receivables posted as other receivables.

5.3.2.2 Expenses

(in thousands of euros) 31/12/06 31/12/07 31/12/08

Losses on disposals of capitalised 

portfolio securities 949 7,354 1,249

Provisions for write-downs 4,763 22,363 130,026

Other expenses 89 1,390 330

Total 5,801 31,107 131,605

Other expenses correspond to losses on bad debts associated with equity interests. Until 30 June 2006, in the
presentation of the accounts, these other expenses were classified as other financial expenses. Allocations to
provisions consist of allocations to the provisions on securities and portfolio investments held as non-current
assets (TIAPs), on related receivables, and on interest accrued on receivables posted as other receivables.

5.3.2.3 Corporation tax

The Company opted for the status of Venture Capital Company (SCR) as of the fiscal year ending 31 December
1996. The new legislation on Venture Capital Companies applicable as of fiscal year 2001 exempts all revenues
from corporation tax.

5.3.2.4 Non-recurring expenses

(in thousands of euros) 31/12/06 31/12/07 31/12/08

Non-recurring expenses 44 41 189

5.3.2.5 Non-recurring income

(in thousands of euros) 31/12/06 31/12/07 31/12/08

Non-recurring income 43 35 2

5.4. Other information

5.4.1 Workforce

None.

5.4.2 Right of the general partner and B shareholders

The allocation and distribution of profits is carried out according to Paragraph 25 of the Articles of Association. 

For 2008, the restated profit was negative, and no distribution will be made.
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Financial information Capital Reserves Share Book value Loans and Amount Revenues Earnings Dividends Notes
(in euros) and premiums and retained of capital of securities held (***) advances of deposits (net of tax) for last received by 

earnings before held (%) granted by and guarantees for last year the Company 
allocation of Gross Net the Company given by year ended over the 

Subsidiaries and equity holdings income and not yet the Company (*) (**) (*) (**) year
paid back

A- Securities whose gross value

exceeds 1% of the capital

of Altamir Amboise

1. Subsidiaries (owned at + 50%)

None

2. Equity interests

(held at between 10 and 50%)

Afflelou (3AC Finance) 15,479,846 -26,046 29.48% 2,999,060 2,999,060 0 0 0 -9,791 0 (*) 30/04/08

45, avenue Kléber

75116 Paris

Altran (Altrafin Participations) 99,538,725 0 42.32% 52,381,313 16,433,947 10,254,690 0 N/A N/A 0 Balance sheet

45, avenue Kléber not yet

75116 Paris prepared

Equalliance (Finalliance) 106,300,000 952 24.05% 25,569,108 2,556,911 0 0 800,000 2,795,865 0 (*) 31/12/07

Le Sequana II

87/89, quai Panhard et Levassor

75013 Paris

Faceo (Financ. Famax) 19,418,500 0 27.02% 26,116,966 26,116,966 0 0 N/A N/A 0 Balance sheet

157, rue de la Minière not yet

78530 Buc prepared

GFI Informatique (Itefin) 78,254,597 0 27.22% 32,484,666 7,464,237 11,180,000 0 0 -35,423,075 0 (*) 31/12/07

45, avenue Kléber

75116 Paris

Vizada (Mobsat Group Holding) 1,337,516 0 20.86% 22,973,704 22,973,704 4,532 0 0 -2,401,872 0 (*) 31/12/07

9, Parc d'Activité Syrdall

L-5365 Luxembourg

Odyssey (Odyfinance) 2,513,375 119,875 28.00% 3,066,210 1,257,584 0 0 0 -184,291 0 (*) 31/12/07

40, boulevard Joseph II

L- 1840 Luxembourg

Prosodie (Camelia Part.) 36,638,491 -1 042,211 32.54% 29,465,495 29,465,495 0 0 0 -3,190,709 0 (*) 31/12/07

150, rue Galliéni

92100 Boulogne

Royer SA 4,408,416 20,235,895 11.12% 20,230,401 19,021,616 0 0 42,593,949 16,375,543 0 (*) 31/12/07

ZI de l'Aumaillerie

1, rue Eugène Freyssinet

35233 Javene

Séchilienne- Sidec (Fin. Helios) 9,780,884 -14,300,997 27.46% 23,619,533 23,619,533 2,214,049 0 0 -8,538,119 0 (*) 31/12/07

45, avenue Kléber

75116 Paris

Etai (Infopro Communications) 14,783,316 0 17.76% 24,148,369 23,971,082 0 0 N/A N/A 0 Balance sheet 

12-14, rue Médéric not yet

75017 Paris prepared

U10 (U10 Partenaires) 56,790,000 0 21.38% 12,568,560 0 428,403 0 0 -4,438,792 0 (*) 31/12/07

1, place Verrazzano

69009 Lyon

> LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES AND EQUITY HOLDINGS 
(portfolio investments held as fixed assets – TIAPs)
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Financial information Capital Reserves Share Book value Loans and Amount Revenues Earnings Dividends Notes
(in euros) and premiums and retained of capital of securities held (***) advances of deposits (net of tax) for last received by 

earnings before held (%) granted by and guarantees for last year the Company 
allocation of Gross Net the Company given by year ended over the 

Subsidiaries and equity holdings income and not yet the Company (*) (**) (*) (**) year
paid back

B- Other securities held at more than 5% 

or representing more than 5% of 

the capital stock of Altamir Amboise

1. Subsidiaries (ownned at 50%)

None

2. Equity interests 

(held at between 10 and 50%)

IEE (Captor) 79,000 -2,570,525 10.00% 811,843 81,185 36,925 0 0 -1,385,474 0 (*) 30/09/07

ZAE Weiergewan

11, rue Edmond Reuter

L 5326 Contern Luxembourg

3. Other equity interests

Afflelou (3AB Optique Espagne) 525,000 0 6.01% 109,438 109,438 77,022 0 -31,009 N/A 0 (*) 30/04/07

45, av. Victor Hugo  - Bât. 264

93300 Aubervilliers

Capio (Capio Lux TopHlg) 5,846,975 0 5.48% 36,989,350 33,680,902 0 0 N/A N/A 0 Balance sheet

Gullbergs Strandgata 9 not yet

P O Box 1064 prepared

SE 405 22 Goteborg Sweden

Unilabs (Capio Lux TopHlg) 5,846,975 0 5.48% 10,655,700 10,655,700 0 0 N/A N/A 0 Balance sheet

Gullbergs Strandgata 9 not yet

P O Box 1064 prepared

SE 405 22 Goteborg Sweden

Dbv Technologies 13,151,832 -3,989,771 8.43% 1,383,375 1,037,531 0 0 244,597 -3,527,425 0 (*) 31/12/07

Pépinière Paris Santé Cochin

29, rue du Faubourg Saint Jacques

75014 Paris

Dxo Labs 3,312,811 352,294 9.65% 1,715,501 1,715,501 0 0 4,006,949 -1,741,122 0 (*) 31/12/07

3, rue Nationale

92100 Boulogne

Faceomanagement 1,201,002 0 6.07% 93,133 93,133 3,440 0 N/A N/A 0 Balance sheet

157, rue de la Minière not yet

78530 Buc prepared

Faceoteam 1,041,006 0 5.35% 62,233 62,233 4,300 0 N/A N/A 0 Balance sheet

157, rue de la Minière not yet

78530 Buc prepared

Maisons du Monde (Inagua) 24,768,124 8,733,080 9.13% 6,400,496 0 0 0 226,030,247 20,374,633 0 (*) 31/12/07

Le Portereau

44120 Vertou

Morgan International Part. 31,853,057 28,617,800 5.65% 2,233,634 -122,870 0 0 1,305,947 -1,229,410 0 (*) 30/06/07

94, rue de Villiers

92300 Levallois Perret

Newron Pharma (NWL Inv) 1,100,000 -127,773 6.00% 494,300 230,761 3,300 0 0 -83,266 0 (*) 31/12/07

124, boulevard de la Pétrusse

L2330 Luxembourg

Season (Fin. Season) 20,193,004 12,718,568 9.69% 1,955,956 195,596 0 0 2,400,000 16,722,182 0 (*) 31/12/07

672, rue des Mercières

69740 Rilleux la Pape

Vedici Groupe 93,154,045 0 9.80% 3,272,912 3,272,912 0 0 N/A N/A 0 Balance sheet

32, avenue de Friedland not yet

75008 Paris prepared

Vizada (Mobast Gérance Sarl) 12,500 0 28.00% 3,500 3,500 0 0 N/A N/A 0 Balance sheet

9, Parc d'Activité Syrdall not yet

L-5365 Luxembourg prepared

Vizada (Mobast Management Sarl) 1,393,508 0 7.53% 346,970 346,970 0 0 N/A N/A 0 Balance sheet

9, Parc d'Activité Syrdall not yet

L-5365 Luxembourg prepared

C- All other equity interests 43,776,005 29,837,947 37,425 0 159,805

General total 385,927,731 257,080,574 24,244,086 0 159,805

The first name of the company corresponds to the operational company, while the second corresponds to the holding company in which Amboise Investissement has invested. The figures given are those of the

holding company.     N/A = Non available       (***) Including obligations other related receivables



Dear Shareholders,

In performance of the duties that have been conferred on us by your General Meetings of Shareholders, we

present to you our report for the fiscal year ending 31 December 2008, regarding:

• the audit of the annual accounts of the company Altamir Amboise, as attached to the present report,

• the justification for our assessments,

• the specific verification required by law.

The consolidated annual accounts were drawn up by the Manager. It is our responsibility, on the basis of our audit,

to express an opinion on these accounts.

1. Opinion on the Consolidated Annual Accounts

We have performed our audit pursuant to the professional rules applicable in France; these rules require the

implementation of procedures enabling reasonable assurance to be obtained that the consolidated annual

accounts do not contain any significant irregularities. An audit consists of verifying, by sampling and other selec-

tion methods, the documentation substantiating the amounts and information appearing in the consolidated

annual accounts. It also consists of assessing the accounting principles followed and the significant estimations

used, and of assessing the presentation of the accounts as a whole. We believe that the elements we have

gathered form a sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion.

We certify that the consolidated annual accounts, with respect to the IFRS standards adopted by the European

Union, are accurate and sincere and give a true and fair statement of the capital, the financial position and the

results of the group consisting of the persons and entities included in the consolidation.

2. Justification of assessments

The financial crisis, which has been increasingly accompanied by an economic crisis, is producing numerous

consequences for businesses, particularly in terms of their operations and their financing. The very high level

of volatility in the financial markets, which have remained active, the increasing scarcity of transactions in finan-

cial markets, which have become inactive, and the lack of foreseeability of the future are creating special condi-

tions this year for the preparation of the accounts, particularly with regard to the accounting estimates that are

required in application of the accounting standards. It is in this context that we have performed our assessments,

in application of the provisions of Article 823-9 of the Commercial Code, and that we draw the following points

to your attention:

• Our assessments have particularly concerned compliance with the accounting standards applicable to venture

capital companies (SCRs).

• The financial instruments of capital investment have been valued according to the methods described in Part

5.4 of the Appendix to the Annual Accounts; we have reviewed the procedures defined by the Management, as

well as the information and the assumptions used for the valuation of these financial instruments. 

The assessments thus made fall within the framework of our audit of the consolidated annual accounts, taken

as a whole, and have therefore contributed to the formation of our opinion as expressed in the first part of this

report.

> REPORT OF THE STATUTORY AUDITORS 
ON THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL ACCOUNTS
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3. Specific verification

We have also carried out the specific verification required by law regarding the information on the group as

provided in the Management report.

We have no comment to make with respect to its sincerity and conformity with the consolidated annual accounts.

Neuilly-sur-Seine, 6 April 2009

The Statutory Auditors

CFA Ernst & Young et Autres

Pierre Esmein François Villard



1. Income statement (in euros)

Note 31/12/08       31/12/07 
12 months 12 months

Valuation differences on disposals during the period 5.12 1,596,625 31,778,493

Changes in fair value of the portfolio -157,958,802 56,733,604

Other portfolio revenues 5.13 279,990 1,681,548

Net income from the portfolio of equity investments -156,082,188 90,193,645

Purchases and other out-of-house expenses 5.14 -8,453,503 -10,028,526

Taxes, fees and similar payments -2,681 -22,593

Other income 0 2,001

Other expenses -100,575 -76,000

Gross operating income -164,638,947 80,068,528

Share pertaining to general partners 
and B shareholders 5.11 29,086,021 -16,401,701

Net operating income -135,552,926 63,666,828  

Income from cash investments 1,350,264 1,130,307

Net income from disposals of marketable securities 196,968 629,943

Interest, income and similar charges 7,392,906 682,900

Net income pertaining to ordinary shareholders -126,612,787 66,109,977

Earnings per basic share 5.16 -3.85 2.75

Earnings per diluted share 5.16 -3.85 2.53

At 31 December 2008, accrued interest was recategorised under “fair value of the portfolio” and not on the line for “other portfolio revenues”.

At 31 December 2007, this accrued interest came to €7,454,496.

At 31 December 2008, non-deductible VAT was recategorised under “Purchases and other out-of-house expenses” and not on the line for

“Taxes, fees and similar payments”.

At 31 December 2007, non-deductible VAT came to €1,575,778. 

> IFRS CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 
FOR ALTAMIR AMBOISE At 31 December 2008
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2. Balance sheet (in euros)

Note 31/12/08 31/12/07

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Non-current intangible assets 0 0

Investment portfolio 5.7 356,134,364 422,459,287

Interest accrued on receivables 5.8 0 0

Other financial assets 172,617 127,160

Total non-current assets 356,306,981 422,586,447

CURRENT ASSETS

Other receivables 61,095 46,393

Other current financial assets 0 0

Cash and cash equivalents 5.9 2,207,212 69,819,934

Interest accrued on receivables 0 0

Total current assets 2,268,307 69,866,327

Total assets 358,575,288 492,452,774

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Capital 5.10 219,259,626 178,019,226

Premiums 102,492,980 101,955,539

Reserves 162,863,137 102,760,478

Retained earnings

Earnings for the year -126,612,787 66,109,977

Total shareholders' equity 358,002,957 448,845,221

Non-current share 3,724 29,089,745

Current share 0 5,487,108

Share pertaining to general partners 

and B shareholders 5.11 3,724 34,576,853

Share warrants – non-current 0 0

Total non-current liabilities 0 0

Share warrants – current 0 7,940,742

Bank overdraft 0 0

Trade payables and related 565,802 1,066,165

Other debts 2,806 23,794

Other current liabilities 568,608 9,030,701

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 358,575,288 492,452,774

At 31 December 2008, accrued interest was recategorised under “investment portfolio” and not on the line for “interest accrued on 

receivables”.

At 31 December 2007, this accrued interest came to €10,296,650.



3. Table of variation in capital and reserves (in euros)

Change in IFRS consolidated shareholders’ equity 

Share Premium Treasury Reserves Earnings Total
capital shares for the year

Shareholders' equity 31/12/06 112,821,530 60,697,133 -109,118 32,433,164 66,217,457 272,060,166

Earnings for the year 66,109,977 66,109,977

Total income and expenses recorded for the year 0 0 0 0 66,109,977 66,109,977

Transactions with treasury shares -216,712 -43,697 -260,409

Capital increase 65,197,696 51,128,200 116,325,896

Allocation to legal reserve -9,869,794 9,869,794 0

Allocation of earnings 66,217,457 -66,217,457 0

Distribution of dividends to A shareholders -5,390,410 -5,390,410

Shareholders' equity 31/12/07 178,019,226 101,955,539 -325,830 103,086,308 66,109,977 448,845,221

Share Premium Treasury Reserves Earnings Total
capital shares for the year

Shareholders' equity 31/12/07 178,019,226 101,955,539 -325,830 103,086,308 66,109,977 448,845,221

Earnings for the year -126,612,788 -126,612,788

Total income and expenses recorded for the year 0 0 0 0 -126,612,788 -126,612,788

Transactions with treasury shares 189,044 -276,588 -87,544

31/03/08- capital increase: 
exercise of warrants (BSAs) 12,826,944 90,005 0 0 0 12,916,949

21/05/08- capital increase: 
reinvestment of dividends in shares 7,727,730 7,727,730

29/09/08- capital increase: 
exercise of warrants (BSAs) 20,685,726 447,436 21,133,162

Allocation of earnings 66,109,977 -66,109,977 0

Distribution of dividends to A shareholders -5,919,776 -5,919,776

Shareholders' equity 31/12/08 219,259,626 102,492,980 -136,786 162,999,921 -126,612,788 358,002,955
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4. Cash flow statement (in euros)

Note 31/12/08       31/12/07 
12 months 12 months

Acquisition of equity interests -94,393,806 -151,368,808

Disposals of equity interests 4,278,417 69,121,076

Disposals of carried securities 0

Interest received on the portfolio 196,062 1,370,129

Dividends received 162,052 191,321

Operating expenses -9,103,208 -9,329,405

Investment income received 1,547,232 1,760,250

Operating cash flow -97,313,251 -88,255,436

Dividends paid to A shareholders -2,540,198 -5,390,410

Capital increase (net of issuing expenses) 33,512,670 116,325,896

Issue of share warrants 0

Transactions with treasury shares -133,001 -14,568

Share pertaining to general partners 
and B shareholders -1,138,956 -3,598,340

Cash flow from financing operations 29,700,515 107,322,578

Net change in cash and cash equivalents -67,612,736 19,067,142

Cash and cash equivalents at start of period 5.9 69,819,934 50,752,793

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 5.9 2,207,212 69,819,934
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5. Notes to the financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS standards

5.1 Entity presenting the financial statements

Altamir Amboise (the "Company") is a Société en Commandite par Actions (SCA) (Partnership Limited by Shares)
governed by Articles L 226.1 to L 226.14 of the French Commercial Code. Its principal activity is the acquisition
of equity interests in all types of companies. The Company has opted for the status of SCR (Société de Capital
Risque) - venture capital company - as of the financial year 1996.
The Company is domiciled in France. The registered office is situated at 45 avenue Kléber, 75016 Paris.

5.2 Preparation basis

5.2.1 Declaration of conformity

Pursuant to European Regulation 1606/2002 of 19 July 2002, the annual consolidated accounts of Altamir
Amboise at 31 December have been prepared in conformity with IAS/IFRSS international accounting standards. 

The accounting principles used for the preparation of the annual consolidated accounts are in conformity with
the IFRS principles and interpretations as adopted by the European Union on 31 December 2008 and available
on the website http://ec.europa.eu/internal_market/accounting/ias_fr.htm#adopted-commission.
These accounting principles are consistent with those used in the preparation of the annual consolidated
accounts for the year ending 31 December 2007, except for the adoption of the following new standards and
interpretations: IFRIC 11, IFRS 8. These new standards and interpretations did not have any influence on the
accounts of Altamir Amboise.
These principles do not differ from the IFRS standards as published by the IASB inasmuch as the application of
the following standards and interpretations, mandatory for accounting years starting as of 1 January 2008 and
not yet endorsed by the European Union, have no impact on the accounts: IFRIC 12 and IFRIC 14.

These consolidated financial statements cover the period from 1 January to 31 December 2008. They were
prepared by the Manager on 29 January 2009.

5.2.2 Valuation bases

The financial statements drawn up in accordance with IFRS standards are prepared on a historical cost basis,
with the exception of the following elements, which are valued at fair value:

• financial instruments for which the Company has chosen the “fair value by profit and loss” option, pursuant to
the provisions of IAS 28 and IAS 31 for venture capital companies whose object is to hold a portfolio of securi-
ties with a view to the disposal of such securities in the short or medium term, 

• derivative financial instruments,

• sums due to the general partners and the B shareholders.

The methods used to determine the fair value are examined in Note 5.4.

5.2.3 Functional currency and presentation 

The financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS standards are presented in euros, which is the
functional currency of the Company. 

5.2.4 Recourse to estimates and judgements

The preparation of the financial statements according to IFRS standards requires the Management to formulate
judgements, estimates and hypotheses which have an impact on the application of the accounting methods and
on the amounts of the assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The real values may differ from the estimated
values. 

The underlying estimates and hypotheses are re-examined on a continuous basis. The impact of changes in
accounting estimation is accounted for during the period of the change concerned and in all affected subse-
quent periods.
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More specifically, the information on the principal sources of uncertainty regarding the estimates and judge-

ments made in order to apply the accounting methods, that have the most significant impact on the amounts

recorded in the financial statements, is described in Note 5.4 on the determination of fair value.

5.2.5 Key hypotheses

The continuity of operations is based on key hypotheses including: the availability of sufficient cash throughout

the entire year of 2009. The Company has already asked for the renewal of its bank credit line after 22 July 2009,

and has initiated various actions to ensure adequate financing to meet its commitments.

5.3 Method of consolidation of equity interest securities

At 31 December 2008, no situation of exclusive control exists. 

Since these are equity interests in which the percentage of control held by Altamir Amboise ranges from 20% to

50%, Altamir Amboise does not have a representative on the executive body of the company and is therefore not

in a position of sharing the control of its business activity. Consequently, all equity interests for which the

percentage of control ranges between 20% and 50% are deemed to be under significant influence.

Moreover, all equity interests that are under significant influence or that are jointly controlled are excluded from

the scope of consolidation by application of standards IAS 28 and IAS 31, as provided for venture capital organ-

isations. Thus Altamir Amboise has designated, from their initial recognition, all these equity interests as being

at their fair value with variation in profit and loss.

5.4 Principal accounting methods

The accounting methods detailed below have been applied continuously to all the periods presented in the finan-

cial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS standards.

5.4.1 Valuation of the portfolio:

Equity instruments

The Company has chosen the “fair value through profit and loss” option provided for by IAS 39 as the principle

for valuing the equity instruments of companies on which it has no significant influence. The monitoring of the

performance and management of these securities is carried out on the basis of the fair value. Where the

Company has a significant influence, the fair value option provided for by IAS 39, as permitted for venture capital

companies by IAS 28, is also used.

In application of the fair value option, the financial instruments held are valued at their fair value in the assets

on the balance sheet, and positive and negative variations in fair value are recorded under profit and loss for the

period. 

The principles for the determination of fair value are detailed in Note 5.4.

Hybrid securities instruments

Pursuant to IAS 39, convertible bond instruments are treated as hybrid instruments. The Company records the

incorporated derivative (option for conversion into shares) separately from the underlying credit at the date of

issue. 

At subsequent reporting dates, only the incorporated derivative is valued in the balance sheet at its fair value,

and positive and negative variations in fair value are recorded under profit and loss for the period. The fair value

takes account of the intrinsic value of the conversion option, determined on the basis of the price of the under-

lying shares. 

The bare debt is classed under loans and receivables for the IAS 39 valuation. It is recognised as the difference

between the investment value and the value attributed to the derivative, on the date of issue. This means valuing

the debt at the investment cost when the derivative is of negligible value on the date of issue. The receivable is

subsequently maintained at amortised cost according to the effective interest rate method.
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Derivative instruments

Pursuant to IAS 39, share subscription warrants are classed as derivatives and valued on the balance sheet at

their fair value. Positive and negative variations in fair value are recorded under profit and loss for the period. The

fair value is determined according to the intrinsic value of the conversion option, on the basis of the price of the

underlying shares.

Loans and receivables

Pursuant to IAS 39, these investments are classed for accounting purposes under “loans and receivables” and

valued at the depreciated historical cost. The associated interest income is recorded under profit and loss for the

period according to the effective interest rate method.

5.4.2 Interest accrued on receivables

The interest accrued on receivables is recorded at depreciated cost according to the effective interest rate method.

It is subject to depreciation when the recoverable value becomes less than the depreciated cost.

5.4.3 Debt and equity capital

The Company has issued B shares which entitle their holders to a preferential dividend (“carried interest”) equal

to 18% of the adjusted net accounting profit from investment income and any negative balances carried forward.

In addition, a sum equal to 2% calculated on the same basis must be paid to the general partner. 

The remuneration of the B shareholders and the general partners is payable as soon as an adjusted net profit

is recorded. 

Pursuant to IAS 39, the remuneration payable to the B shareholders and the general partners must be calcu-

lated by taking account of unrealised capital gains and losses, and must be entered in the income statement. Any

difference between the amounts due and those actually paid is recorded as a debt at the end of the accounting

period. 

The Company has issued B share subscription warrants: 

The SSW B warrants entitle their holders to subscribe to one B share of the Company for each SSW B warrant

held, at a subscription price of €10. These SSW B warrants allow the manager, the sole holder, by exercising the

warrants and retroceding the corresponding shares to the members of the Management teams, to modify the

distribution of B shares among them according to the need to balance this remuneration. However, this remuner-

ation remains globally fixed at 18% of the adjusted net profit as seen earlier. From the point of view of the issuer,

Altamir Amboise, the value of the SSW B warrants is therefore not dependent on the value of the B shares and

must be maintained in the IFRS accounts at their subscription price. The SSW B warrants are recorded under

non-current debts on the balance sheet.

Finally, in accordance with IAS 32, the Company’s treasury shares are entered as being deducted from share-

holders’ equity. 

5.4.4 Merger expenses and capital increase expenses

Merger expenses are recorded as expenses for the period in which they were incurred. Capital increase expenses

are charged to the corresponding premium.

They include direct expenses arising from these operations, such as the fees and commissions paid to the

Company’s advisers and auditors.

5.4.5 Cash equivalents and other short-term investments

The Company’s surplus cash equivalents are invested in the form of negotiable investment securities which

satisfy the definition of cash equivalents according to IAS 7 (easily convertible to a known cash sum and subject

to negligible risk of a change in value). 

The Company has also adopted, as a principle for the valuation of this portfolio, the fair value option provided for

by IAS 39. The unrealised capital gains or losses at the accounting date are therefore recorded under profit and

loss for the period. 
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5.4.6 Tax regime

The Company opted for the tax status of a venture capital company on 1 January 1996. It is exempt from corpo-

ration tax. Consequently, no deferred tax is recorded in the accounts.

The Company does not recover VAT. Non-deductible VAT is recorded in the income statement and classed in the

line “Purchases and other external expenses”.

5.4.7.Non-current assets held for sale

In application of IFRS 5, non-current assets or groups of assets whose sale is highly probable at the accounting

date are presented separately under current assets. 

The portfolios likely to fulfil the IFRS 5 criteria are those for which negotiations are underway at the date of the

balance sheet and for which the Company has already received at least one clear offer or promise to buy. 

5.4.8 Sectorial information

The Company carries out investment capital activities exclusively, and invests only in the euro zone. Conse-

quently, IAS 14 “Sectorial information” is not applicable.

5.5 Determination of fair value

The principles of valuation by fair value used in the IFRS accounts are those defined in the “Valuation Guidelines”

of the IPEV:

Companies whose shares are traded on a regulated market (“listed”)

The shares of listed companies are valued at the last stock market price, without any discount. For listed shares

that are subject to a temporary limitation of contractual transfer (“lock-up clause”), the fair value used may,

however, differ from the last listed price in order to take account of this clause in the valuation of the share.

Companies whose shares are not traded on a regulated market (“unlisted”)

• Venture capital operations (biotechnology, telecommunications), investment capital operations, or LBOs of

companies in difficulty: price of the last financing round leading to the involvement of a third party for a signifi-

cant sum. The last round may be that during which the Apax entities were involved. In this case, the price of the

last financing round, used for the determination of fair value, of the investment is retained for as long as there

is no major change in the factors used for determining the fair value. The search for signs of any modification of

the appraisal factors includes the identification of any shortage of cash for meeting payment dates until the

planned organisation of a new financing round.

In the event of any slippage of the project, exhaustion of cash or other recognised negative factors, the securi-

ties give rise to a value adjustment, variable according to the gravity of the situation, of 25% to 100%. 

- 25%: there is a problem for the company, but the investment is not in danger;

- 50%: there is a risk of losing a portion of the investment;

- 100%: there is a risk of losing the whole of the investment.

- Intermediate rates (75% and 90%) may be applied according to the seriousness of the situation and the proba-

bility of loss of a significant portion of the investment.

• When a company i) has been in the portfolio for at least 12 months, ii) has shown a profit for two consecutive

years, and iii) its profitability is likely to be recurrent, the holding may be valued on the basis of comparable listed

securities. A tradability discount is applied to the valuation thus obtained, up to a maximum of 30%, according

to the ability of Apax Partners to organise the disinvestment from the company. The tradability discount makes

it possible to arrive at a bid price.

Altamir Amboise is in conformity with the recommendations of the International Private Equity Valuation organ-

isation (IPEV), which in turn are in conformity with IFRS standards.
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To take account of the current volatile environment, the IPEV reaffirmed in November 2008 the continued use of

fair value for valuing private equity portfolios, while specifying that the determination of fair value must take

account of the specificities associated with each equity investment.

Consequently, the manager decided to retain its valuation method, which it describes as extremely prudent,

since it is based on fair value and on a discount applied to unlisted securities, which may be as high as 30%. 

The elements taken into account to determine fair value at 31 December were the following:

- the sample of multiples of comparables of listed companies was enlarged to take into account multiples of

recent transactions;

- the discounted cash flow (DCF) method proved to be more relevant in two isolated cases;

• Other situations: 

- companies in the withdrawal negotiation phase. The disposal price may be used at the closure of a six-month

period if the state of advancement of the project suggests a strong probability of success in the short term and

the disposal price is known with sufficient precision. A risk rate is applied to the price used, according to the

degree of firmness of the buyer’s commitment and the possible variation in the final price.

- an option value estimated at 10% of the cost price was used for two companies for which the mathematical

application of the multiples method would have resulted in a zero valuation of the equity interest, even though

the companies involved showed real prospects in the medium term.

5.6 Significant events in the period

• Prior to the merger, Altamir issued 539,041 March 2008 share subscription warrants (name: Altamir Amb

BS0308).

These SSWs allowed their holders to subscribe, between 17 March 2008 and 21 March 2008 inclusive, to new

ordinary shares at the ratio of 17,816 new Altamir Amboise shares for three SSWs.

The exercise price of the SSWs was set at 85% of the average price of the ordinary Altamir Amboise share,

weighted by transaction volumes, over the ten trading days from 3 March 2008 to 14 March 2008 inclusive (the

“Reference Period”), subject to a lower limit equal to the par value of the share, i.e. 6 euros.

Taking account of the Altamir Amboise share price during this period, the price of 6 euros has been used.

360,021 SSWs were exercised, entailing the creation of 2,137,824 new shares and thus a capital increase of

€12,826,944.

• The General Meeting of 3 April 2008 approved a total dividend of €11,406,884 for the various stakeholders:

€5,919,776 was allocated to the A shareholders, and €3,379,578 of this sum was reinvested in ordinary shares.

€5,487,108 was allocated to the B shareholders and the general partner, and €4,348,152 of this sum was

reinvested in ordinary shares. The reinvestments allowed the creation of 1,287,955 new A shares.

• Following the merger, Altamir issued 19,610,400 September 2008 share subscription warrants (name: Altamir

Amb BS0908).

These SSWs allowed their holders to subscribe, between 19 September 2008 and 19 September 2008 inclusive,

to new ordinary A shares at the ratio of 0.262 new A shares of Altamir Amboise for 1 SSW (with a minimum of 

4 SSWs to subscribe to one new A share).

The exercise price of the SSWs was set at 85% of the average price of the ordinary Altamir Amboise share,

weighted by transaction volumes, over the ten trading days from 1 September 2008 to 12 September 2008 inclu-

sive (the “Reference Period”), subject to a lower limit equal to the par value of the share, i.e. 6 euros.

Taking account of the Altamir Amboise share price during this period, the price of 6 euros has been used.

13,159,873 SSWs were exercised, entailing the creation of 3,447,621 new shares and thus a capital increase of

€20,685,726.

At December 2008, the number of A and B shares is 36,530,883.
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5.7 Details of financial instruments on the balance sheet and the income statement

5.7.1 Balance Sheet 
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31 December 2008 
(in euros) Fair value Loans and Financial Non-financial Total

by income statement receivables debts at cost instruments
On option Derivatives

ASSETS

Non-current intangible assets

Investment portfolio 148,814,311 31,476,965 175,843,088 356,134,364

Interest accrued on receivables 0 0

Other financial assets 172,617 172,617

Total non-current assets 148,814,311 31,476,965 176,015,705 0 0 356,306,981

Other receivables 61,095 61,095

Other current financial assets 0

Cash and cash equivalents 2,194,803 12,409 2,207,212

Interest accrued on receivables 0

Non-current assets held for sale 0

Derivatives 0

Total current assets 2,194,803 0 12,409 0 61,095 2,268,307

Total assets 151,009,114 31,476,965 176,028,113 0 61,095 358,575,288

LIABILITIES

Non-current share 0 3,724 3,724

Current share 0 0

Share pertaining to general partners 

and B shareholders 0 0 0 3,724 0 3,724

Share warrants – non-current 0

Other non-current liabilities 0 0 0 0 0 0

Share warrants – current 0 0

Bank overdraft 0

Trade payables and related 565,802 565,802

Other debts 1,662 1,144 2,806

Other current liabilities 0 0 0 567,464 1,144 568,608

Total liabilities 0 0 0 571,188 1,144 572,332
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31 December 2007 
(in euros) Fair value Loans and Financial Non-financial Total

by income statement receivables debts at cost instruments
On option Derivatives

ASSETS

Non-current intangible assets

Investment portfolio 248,198,646 561,852 173,698,789 422,459,287

Interest accrued on receivables 0 0

Other financial assets 127,160 127,160

Total non-current assets 248,198,646 561,852 173,825,949 0 0 422,586,447

Other receivables 46,393 46,393

Other current financial assets 0

Cash and cash equivalents 69,751,172 68,762 69,819,934

Interest accrued on receivables 0 0

Non-current assets held for sale 0

Derivatives 0

Total current assets 69,751,172 0 68,762 0 46,393 69,866,327

Total assets 317,949,818 561,852 173,894,711 0 46,393 492,452,774

LIABILITIES

Non-current share 29,086,021 0 3,724 29,089,745

Current share 5,487,108 5,487,108

Share pertaining to general partners 

and B shareholders 34,573,129 0 0 3,724 0 34,576,853

Share warrants – non-current 0

Other non-current liabilities 0 0 0 0 0 0

Share warrants – current 7,940,742 7,940,742

Bank overdraft 0

Trade payables and related 1,066,165 1,066,165

Other debts 20,573 3,222 23,794

Other current liabilities 0 7,940,742 0 1,086,738 3,222 9,030,701

Total liabilities 34,573,129 7,940,742 0 1,090,462 3,222 43,607,554

At 31 December 2008, accrued interest was recategorised under “investment portfolio” and not on the line for “interest accrued on receivables”. 

At 31 December 2007, this accrued interest came to €10,296,650.
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5.7.2 Income statement 
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31 December 2008 

(in euros) Fair value Loans and Financial Non-financial Total
by income statement receivables debts at cost instruments

On option Derivatives

Valuation differences on disposals during the period -82,706 -197,762 1,877,093 1,596,625

Changes in fair value of the portfolio -152,373,225 -332,784 -5,252,793 -157,958,802

Other portfolio revenues 162,052 117,938 279,990

Net income from the portfolio 

of equity investments -152,293,879 -530,546 -3,257,763 0 0 -156,082,188

Purchases and other out-of-house expenses -8,453,503 -8,453,503

Taxes, fees and similar payments -2,681 -2,681

Other income 0 0

Other expenses -100,575 -100,575

Gross operating income -152,293,879 -530,546 -3,257,763 0 -8,556,759 -164,638,947

Share pertaining to general partners 

and B shareholders 29,086,021 29,086,021

Net operating income -123,207,858 -530,546 -3,257,763 0 -8,556,759 -135,552,926

Income from cash investments 1,350,264 1,350,264

Net income from disposals of marketable securities 196,968 196,968

Interest, income and similar charges 7,392,906 7,392,906

Net income pertaining to ordinary shareholders -121,660,626 6,862,360 -3,257,763 0 -8,556,759 -126,612,787

31 December 2007 

(in euros) Fair value Loans and Financial Non-financial Total
by income statement receivables debts at cost instruments

On option Derivatives

Valuation differences on sales during the year 28,900,431 84,031 2,794,031 31,778,493

Changes in fair value of the portfolio 44,663,122 191,521 11,878,961 56,733,604

Other portfolio revenues 191,321 1,490,227 1,681,548

Net income from the portfolio 

of equity investments 73,754,874 275,552 16,163,219 0 0 90,193,645

Purchases and other out-of-house expenses -10,028,526 -10,028,526

Taxes, fees and similar payments -22,593 -22,593

Other income 2,001 2,001

Other expenses -76,000 -76,000

Gross operating income 73,754,874 275,552 16,163,219 0 -10,125,117 80,068,528

Share pertaining to general partners 

and B shareholders -16,401,701 -16,401,701

Net operating income 57,353,173 275,552 16,163,219 0 -10,125,117 63,666,827

Income from cash investments 1,130,307 1,130,307

Net income from disposals of marketable securities 629,943 629,943

Interest, income and similar charges 682,900 682,900

Net income pertaining to ordinary shareholders 59,113,423 958,452 16,163,219 0 -10,125,117 66,109,977

At 31 December 2008, accrued interest was recategorised under “fair value of the portfolio” and not on the line for “other portfoliorevenues”.

At 31 December 2007, this accrued interest came to €7,454,496. 

At 31 December 2008, non-deductible VAT was recategorised under “Purchases and other out-of-house expenses” and not on the line for “Taxes, fees and  

similar payments”. At 31 December 2007, non-deductible VAT came to €1,575,778.



5.8 Equity portfolio 

The variations in the equity portfolio over the period were as follows:

(in euros) Portfolio

Fair value at 31 December 2007 412,162,637 

Acquisitions 99,781,680 

Disposals -8,069,676

Changes in fair value -147,740,277

Fair value at 31 December 2008 356,134,364 

Of which: positive changes in fair value 49,261,606 

Of which: negative changes in fair value -197,001,883

The portfolio breaks down as follows according to the valuation methods used:

(in euros) 31/12/08 31/12/07

Valuation methods

Listed companies 86,831,024 156,416,374 

Companies valued at the price of the last financing round - 2,167,852 

Companies valued based on comparables 258,568,810 106,377,078 

Companies valued at cost price 2,135,896 24,140,919 

Others 8,598,639 123,060,414 

Total portfolio 356,134,369 412,162,637 

At 31 December 2008, the shares of companies whose fair value plus accrued interest is equal to the cost price are categorised under "com-

panies valued at cost price" and not on the line for "others" as at 31 December 2007. At 31 December 2007, these shares came to €121,876,399.

The valuation methods are based on the determination of the fair value as described in paragraph 5.5.

% of listed instruments in the portfolio 24.4% 38.0%

% of listed instruments in the NAV 24.3% 34.8%

The portfolio breaks down as follows according to the degree of maturity of the investments:

(in euros) 31/12/08 31/12/07

Development stage

LBO 335,064,992 387,310,486 

Development 9,597,500 12,493,090 

Venture 11,471,877 12,359,061 

Total portfolio 356,134,369 412,162,637 

(in euros) 31/12/08 31/12/07

Industry

Financial services to businesses 92,453,806 160,894,997 

Telecommunications and IT 134,073,888 108,378,128 

Retail and consumer goods 45,269,484 61,374,315 

Healthcare 60,366,109 57,839,130 

Media 23,971,082 23,676,067 

Total portfolio 356,134,369 412,162,637 
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5.9 Interest accrued on receivables

The interest accrued on receivables breaks down as follows:

(in euros) 31/12/08 31/12/07

Gross value 24,041,660 10,583,192 

Write-downs -24,041,660 -10,583,192

Net value - - 

Gross value 23,775,442 10,583,192 

Write-downs -23,775,442 -10,583,192

Accrued interest - share greater than one year - - 

Gross value 266,218 - 

Write-downs -266,218 - 

Accrued interest - share less than one year - - 

The accrued interest on convertible bonds or equivalent securities was totally written down. The company

confirmed that this income was generally included in the price of acquisition by third parties and not directly paid

by the debtor company. Consequently, it is henceforth included in the valuation of the companies.

For the sake of consistency, the 2007 accounts were adjusted according to the same principle.

5.10 Cash and cash equivalents

This item breaks down as follows:

(in euros) 31/12/08 31/12/07

Marketable securities 2,194,803 69,751,172 

Liquid assets 12,409 68,762 

Cash and cash equivalents 2,207,212 69,819,934 

The negotiable investment securities consist of cash SICAVs and certificates of deposit.
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5.11 Share capital

The number of shares in circulation for each of the categories is presented below. The number has been adjusted

to take account of the impact of the retrospective treatment of the merger with regard to the number and par

value of the ordinary shares.

(Number of shares) 31 December 2008 31 December 2007
Common shares B shares Common shares B shares

Shares issued at the start of the period 29,638,901 18,582 18,968,897 8,623 

Capital increase after merger 9,959 

Capital increase of 10 July 2007 10,670,004 

Capital increase of 31 March 2008 2,137,824 

Capital increase of 21 May 2008 1,287,955 

Capital increase of 29 September 2008 3,447,621 

Shares issued at the end of the period 36,512,301 18,582 29,638,901 18,582 

Treasury shares held 52,010 - 35,876 - 

Shares outstanding at the end of the period 36,460,291 18,582 29,603,025 18,582 

Net Asset Value per common share 9.82 15.16

(IFRS shareholders’ equity/number of common shares)

(in euros) 31 December 2008 31 December 2007
Common shares B shares Total Common shares B shares Total

Nominal value at end of period 6.00 10.00 6.00 10.00 

Share capital 219,073,806 185,820 219,259,626 177,833,406 185,820 178,019,226

The dividend paid to the limited partners during the year 2008 for 2007 represents €0.162 per ordinary share in

circulation, excluding treasury shares, at 31 December 2008 (2007 dividend of €0.28 per ordinary share for 2006).

The dividend actually paid in 2008 per share eligible for 2007 was €0.20.

The NAV per ordinary share was €9.82 at 31 December 2008 (€15.16 at 31 December 2007).

5.12 Portion due to general partners and B shareholders

This item breaks down as follows:

(in euros) 31/12/08 31/12/07

Current share - 5,487,108 

Non-current share - 29,086,021 

Share pertaining to general partners 

and B shareholders - 34,573,129 

B share warrants 3,724 3,724 

Total share pertaining to general partners and B shareholders 3,724 34,576,853 
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The variation in the portion due to general partners and B shareholders over the period is explained below:

(in euros) Total

31 December 2007 34,573,129 

Amount paid in 2008 -5,487,108

Share pertaining to general partners and B shareholders on 2008 earnings -29,086,021

Share pertaining to general partners and B shareholders - 

5.13 Valuation differences on disposals during the period

(in euros) 31/12/08 31/12/07

Disposal price 4,271,670 69,652,707 

Fair value at the start of the period 2,675,045 37,874,214 

Impact on earnings 1,596,625 31,778,493 

Of which: positive valuation differences on disposals 2,126,539 33,371,391 

Of which: negative valuation differences on disposals -529,914 -1,592,898

5.14 Other portfolio income

The other portfolio income is detailed as follows:

(in euros) 31/12/08 31/12/07

Interest 117,938 1,490,227

Dividends 162,052 191,321 

Total 279,990 1,681,548 

At 31 December 2007, the impact of the recategorisation of interest came to €7,454,496.

5.15 Purchases and external expenses

The purchases and external expenses break down as follows:

(in euros) 31/12/08 31/12/07

Merger costs - 1,667,658 

Fees for management and advice on investments 4,609,444 4,008,129 

Other fees 2,194,677 2,581,986 

Non-recoverable VAT 1,350,363 1,575,778 

Other expenses 299,019 194,975 

Total 8,453,503 10,028,526 

At 31 December 2007, the impact of the recategorisation of non-recoverable VAT came to €1,575,778.

Remuneration to the Management and investment advisors, exclusive of taxes, for the year 2008 would have

been €6,714,176.17 according to Article 17.1 of the Articles of Association.

However, the internal regulations annexed to the Articles of Association stipulate that all fees, directors' fees and

commissions received by the manager or by the investment consultancy company in the context of transactions
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concerning the assets of Altamir Amboise and the fees paid by the portfolio companies up to the percentage

held by Altamir Amboise must be deducted from the investment advisors’ fees. The sum total share of fees paid

by the portfolio companies for the year 2008 amounted to €2,104,732.55 excluding taxes.

The net expense for the fees of the Management and the investment advisors is therefore equal to the difference

between these two amounts, i.e. €4,609,443.62 excluding taxes.

The other fees mainly represent auditors’ and lawyers’ fees to be paid by the Company as a result of investment

projects that did not come to fruition.

Other expenses include such items as publicity, advertising and publication expenses.

5.16 Sensitivity

Altamir Amboise does not use firm or conditional forward instruments for hedging or to expose itself to market

risks (market, rate, exchange and credit risks).

5.16.1 Stock-market risks

Risks associated with the stock-market price of shareholdings

The primary object of Altamir Amboise is not to invest in the securities of listed companies. However, Altamir

Amboise may come to hold listed securities as a result of initial public offerings of companies in which it holds

an interest, or as payment of the sale price of equity interests in its portfolio. These securities may on occasion

be subject to retention or "lock-up" clauses signed at the time of the initial public offering. Even in the absence

of such clauses, Altamir Amboise may deem it useful to retain certain listed securities in its portfolio for a certain

period in order to obtain a better valuation, an objective whose achievement cannot be guaranteed. Moreover,

Altamir Amboise is not prohibited, in principle, from investing directly or indirectly in the capital of a company

for the sole reason that it is listed for trading when the company falls within the scope of its investment strategy.

Consequently, Altamir Amboise holds a certain number of listed securities, either directly or indirectly via holding

companies, and may therefore be affected by any negative change in the market price of such securities. A fall

in the market price at a given moment would result in a fall in the valuation of the portfolio and the Net Asset

Value of the Company. This fall would be recorded in the income statement as a loss on the line “changes in fair

value of the portfolio”. 

Finally, a fall in the market price would also be liable to impact the gains or losses realised when these securi-

ties are sold by Altamir Amboise.

At 31 December 2008, listed companies represented 24.38% of the portfolio (38% at 31 December 2007) or 24.25%

of the total Net Asset Value (34.8% at 31 December 2007). These are securities of market-listed companies in

the portfolio, obtained as payment for sales or from LBOs of listed companies. They will be sold on the market

as and when the valuations and liquidity conditions are found to be favourable.

A 10% rise in the market prices of these listed securities would have an impact of €13.1 million on the valua-

tion of the portfolio at 31 December 2008. The impact on the Net Asset Value of Altamir Amboise would be 

€13.1 million, taking account of the portion due to the general partners and B shareholders. 

In addition, certain unlisted securities are valued in part on the basis of multiples of comparables for the listed

companies, and in part on multiples of recent private transactions. 

A change in the market prices of the comparables does not represent a risk, properly speaking, because while

these comparables provide an element for calculating fair value at a given date, the final value of the invest-

ments will be based on over-the-counter trades, which are by definition unlisted transactions, in which the

strategic position of the companies or their ability to generate cash flow takes precedence over the market

comparables. For information, the -10% sensitivity of the multiples of comparables of the listed companies

amounts to €91.7 million.
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5.16.2 Interest rate risks

Risks associated with LBO operations

In the context of leveraged operations, Altamir Amboise is indirectly subject to the risk of an increase in the cost

of debt and the risk of not finding financing or not being able to finance the planned new operations under condi-

tions that will allow satisfactory profitability.

Risks associated with other financial assets and liabilities

The financial assets that include a rate are represented by current accounts, or by securities such as bonds

issued by companies in the investment portfolio. These financial assets are assumed to be reimbursed or

converted at maturity, and therefore do not present any rate risk as such.

The Company has no financial liabilities subject to rate risk.

5.16.3 Foreign exchange risk

The objective of Altamir Amboise is to invest primarily in France or in the euro zone. However, some investments

made by Altamir Amboise to date are denominated in foreign currencies, and consequently their value may vary

according to exchange rates. 

At 31 December 2008, the only assets denominated in foreign currencies were the securities and receivables of

five portfolio companies, which represented €5.1 million or 1.43% of the investment portfolio (€2.8 million or

0.7% of the investment portfolio at 31 December 2007).

The portfolio's exposure by currency was as follows:

31 December 2008

Equity investment securities US Dollars Swedish Krona Swiss Francs 
(USD) (SEK) (CHF)

Assets in euros 4,706,542 145,045 230,761

Liabilities

Net position before management 4,706,542 145,045 230,761

Off-balance sheet position

Net position after management 4,706,542 145,045 230,761

Impact in euros of a 10 % variation

in the exchange rate 470,654 14,505 23,076

31 December 2007

Equity investment securities US Dollars Swedish Krona Swiss Francs 
(USD) (SEK) (CHF)

Assets in euros 1,853,825 183,574 752,915

Liabilities

Net position before management 1,853,825 183,574 752,915

Off-balance sheet position

Net position after management 1,853,825 183,574 752,915

Impact in euros of a 10 % variation

in the exchange rate 185,383 18,357 75,292

Altamir Amboise does not hedge against currency fluctuations, because the currency exchange effect is not

significant with respect to the expected gains in absolute value on the securities concerned.

>
 I

F
R

S
 C

O
N

S
O

L
ID

A
T

E
D

 A
N

N
U

A
L

 A
C

C
O

U
N

T
S



5.17 Earnings per share

The weighted average number of shares in circulation was determined by taking account of the retrospective

treatment of the merger.

Earnings per normal share 31/12/08 31/12/07

Numerator (in euros)

Earnings for the period attributable to holders of common shares -126,612,787 66,109,977 

Denominator

Number of shares at the start of the period 29,638,901 18,968,897 

Impact of treasury shares -43,415 -15,308

Impact of capital increase 3,279,540 5,086,522 

Weighted average number of (normal) shares over the period 32,875,026 24,040,111 

Earnings per (normal) share -3.85 2.75 

Earnings per diluted share 31/12/08 31/12/07

Numerator (in euros)

Earnings for the period attributable to holders of common shares -126,612,787 66,109,977 

Adjustments: cancellation of expense/(income) shown 

for dilutive A share warrants - -3,917,146

Earnings for the period attributable to holders of withdrawn common shares -126,612,787 62,192,831 

Denominator

Weighted average number of (normal) shares over the period 32,875,026 24,040,111 

Impact of A share warrants in the period - 559,879 

Impact of treasury shares 43,415 15,308 

Weighted average number of (diluted) shares over the period 32,918,441 24,615,298 

Earnings per (diluted) share -3.85 2.53 

5.18 Associates

5.18.1 Shareholder

Apax Partners SA and Apax Partners & Cie Gerance, as investment adviser and manager respectively, invoiced

the Company for total fees of €4,609,444 over the year 2008 (€4,008,129 over the year 2007). 

The amount remaining due at the end of the accounting period is €333,292 (€646,898 at 31 December 2007). 
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5.18.2 Associated businesses

A significant influence is presumed when the equity interest of the Company exceeds 20%.

Investments subject to significant influence are not treated by the equity method, as permitted by IAS 28.

However, they do constitute associates. The closing balances and the transactions for the period with these

companies are presented below: 

(in euros) 31/12/08 31/12/07

Income Statement

Valuation differences on disposals during the year 26,152 14,972,110 

Changes in fair value of the portfolio -67,935,636 43,812,047 

Other portfolio revenues - - 

Balance Sheet

Portfolio of equity investments 194,966,469 248,105,869 

Accrued interest - - 

At 31 December 2008, accrued interest was recategorised under “change in fair value of the portfolio” and not on the line for “other portfolio

revenues”. At 31 December 2007, this accrued interest came to €2,634,653.

At 31 December 2008, accrued interest was recategorised under “equity investment portfolio” and not on the line for “interest accrued”.

At 31 December 2007, this accrued interest came to €2,850,391.

5.18.3 Principal directors

The directors' fees paid to the members of the Supervisory Board amounted to €89,700 at 31 December 2008

(€50,000 for Altamir and €25,000 for Amboise Investissement at 31 December 2007).

5.19 Contingent liabilities

The contingent liabilities of the Company break down as follows:

(in euros) 31/12/08 31/12/07

Irrevocable purchase commitments (investment commitments) 3,481,845 1,443,843

Other long-term obligations (guarantees on liabilities and other) 1,840,721 5,251,529

Total 5,322,566 6,695,372

5.19.1 Investment commitments

Companies Commitments Investments Cancellation of Nouveaux Commitments
at 31/12/07 over the period commitments commitments at 31/12/08

at 31/12/08 2008

Unlisted securities

Neurotech 52,610 42,115 10,495 0

Morgan International Participations 0 0 0 122,869 122,869

DXO Labs 0 0 0 557,743 557,743

Season (Fin.Season) 0 0 0 10,000 10,000

Séchilienne (Fin. Hélios) 0 0 0 1,400,000 1,400,000

Odyssey (Odyfinance) 1,391,233 1,391,233

Total 1,443,843 42,115 10,495 2,090,612 3,481,845
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5.19.2 Liability guarantees and other commitments

Liability guarantees

A guarantee was given in the Afflelou operation, made in the form of a price reduction. Three scenarios were

drawn up, with a maximum risk of €608,652 for Altamir Amboise.

The purchasers of the Cartesis company made a partial claim on the guarantee that was given to them. After

discussion, Altamir Amboise agreed to pay €21,545.34 to settle this claim. The sole remaining guarantee is that

applicable to a tax or employee-benefits recourse, as yet unvalued.

Within the context of the disposal of Webraska, Banque d'Escompte gave the purchasers a guarantee of €38,967

on behalf of Altamir Amboise until 5 May 2009.

Commitments receivable

At the time of the disposal of Créatifs by Alcyon Finance, the purchasers still owed the vendors the amount of

€1,500,033 (after use of the liability guarantee), including €32,361.62 owed to Altamir Amboise, after reimburse-

ment of the 2007 campaign credit. We have not received a response to our demands, and we have appealed to

the mediator of the 2006 protocol. 

Other off-balance sheet commitments

Within the context of the loan of €18.4 million granted by BRED to 3AB Optique Espagne, Altamir Amboise is

guarantor of 20% of its stake in 3AB Optique Espagne, amounting to €221,050.

A commitment was given to certain managers of the companies Financière Season, Maison du Monde, ETAI,

Faceo and Vizada to repurchase their shares and obligations in the event of their departure. These commitments

do not represent a significant risk that would require the establishment of a provision for risks and charges.

Itefin Participations: A clause adjusting the number of GFI Informatique shares given in guarantee was signed

by Itefin Participations. Altamir Amboise committed itself to a maximum ceiling amount in the event of a fall in

the share price of GFI Informatique, and part of this amount has already been paid. 

Within the context of a bank loan to F2L, the Apax entities issued a counter-guarantee of €363,401 in favour of

Alain Afflelou and Bridgepoint following the issuing of guarantees by these latter companies.

Altamir Amboise made a commitment not to sell 6,950 shares of Cegid before June 2009 in order to cover a

potential price adjustment. These shares were depreciated in the portfolio.

A first demand guarantee was signed by Apax Funds including Altamir Amboise, in favour of a bank. This

guarantee could be called by this bank, when a determined average price on a certain period is reached for

certain stocks.

Securities pledged against overdraft 

In the context of the overdraft facility authorised by Société Générale, the equivalent of 150% of the amount used

by Altamir Amboise must be pledged in financial instruments in favour of Société Générale, i.e. at 31 December

2008: 

4,563,445 shares of 3AC Finance,

152,855 shares of Cegid,

51,331 redeemable SSWs of Cegid,

580,824 shares of Groupe Outremer Telecom,

261,300 shares of Rue du Commerce ,

415,832 shares of Financière Season.

These quantities will be adjusted to take account of the valuations at 31 December 2008.

At 31 December 2008, the €34 million overdraft facility had not been utilised.
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I - Resolutions proposed to the Ordinary General Meeting

First resolution
(Approval of the accounts for the year ending 31 December 2008; discharge of the Management 
and of the members of the Supervisory Board)

The General Meeting, having satisfied the requisite conditions of quorum and majority for Ordinary General

Meetings and having considered the reports of the Management, the Supervisory Board and the Auditors,

approves the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2008, including the balance sheet, the income state-

ment and the notes to the accounts, as drawn up and presented, as well as the operations expressed in the said

accounts and summarised in the said reports.

Consequently, the Meeting fully discharges the Management and the Members of the Supervisory Board for the

execution of their offices for the year ended 31 December 2008.

Second resolution
(Allocation and distribution of the year's profits)

The General Meeting, having satisfied the requisite conditions of quorum and majority for Ordinary General

Meetings, on the proposal of the Management and the Supervisory Board, resolves to allocate the loss for the

year of €117,010,695 to the “Retained Earnings” account on the balance sheet.

Furthermore, the General Meeting notes, in conformity with the provisions of Article 243 bis of the "Code Général

des Impôts" [General Taxation Code], that no dividend was distributed for the financial year 2004, that a dividend

of €1,864,884 or €3.50 per share was paid for 2005, that a dividend of €5,390,410 or €10.00 per share was paid

for 2006, and that a dividend of €5,927,780 or €0.20 per share was paid for 2007.  

The Meeting also notes that a statutory dividend of €359,834 was paid to the General Partner and of €3,238,506

to the holders of B shares for 2006, that a statutory dividend of €548,711 was paid to the General Partner and of

€4,938,397 to the holders of B shares for 2007, and that no dividend was paid for 2005.

Third resolution
(Approval of the consolidated accounts for the year ended 31 December 2008) 

The General Meeting, having satisfied the requisite conditions of quorum and majority for Ordinary General

Meetings and having considered the reports of the Management, the Supervisory Board and the Auditors on the

consolidated accounts, approves the consolidated accounts for the year ended 31 December 2008 as presented,

showing a consolidated net loss of €126,612,788, as well as the operations expressed in the said accounts and

summarised in the said reports. 

Fourth resolution
(Special report of the Auditors; 
approval of the agreements envisaged in Article L 226-10 of the "Code de Commerce")

The General Meeting, having satisfied the requisite conditions of quorum and majority for Ordinary General

Meetings and after hearing a reading of the special report of the Auditors on the agreements envisaged in Article

L 226-10 of the "Code de Commerce", approves the terms of the said report and the agreements contained

therein.

> RESOLUTIONS
proposed to the Ordinary and Extraordinary Annual General Meeting
of 29 april 2009



Fifth resolution
(Attendance fees for Members of the Supervisory Board)

The General Meeting, having satisfied the requisite conditions of quorum and majority for Ordinary General

Meetings, decides to allocate a global sum of €90,000 to the Members of the Supervisory Board in respect of

Attendance Fees for the current year.

Sixth resolution
(Renewal of the mandate of a member of the Supervisory Board)

The General Meeting, having satisfied the requisite conditions of quorum and majority for Ordinary General

Meetings, decides to renew for a period of two years, i.e. until the end of the Ordinary General Meeting convened

to approve the accounts for the year ending 31 December 2010, the mandate as a Member of the Supervisory

Board of:

Mr Charles Hochman

Resident at 19 rue Raynouard – 75016 Paris,

Mr Charles Hochman declares that, subject to the approval of the Meeting, he accepts the renewal of his

mandate, and that he is subject to no measure or provision liable to prevent him from performing the said

functions within the Company.

Seventh resolution
(Renewal of the mandate of a member of the Supervisory Board)

The General Meeting, having satisfied the requisite conditions of quorum and majority for Ordinary General

Meetings, decides to renew for a period of two years, i.e. until the end of the Ordinary General Meeting convened

to approve the accounts for the year ending 31 December 2010, the mandate as a Member of the Supervisory

Board of:

Mr Jean Besson

Resident at 179 rue Saint Honoré, 75001 Paris.

Mr Jean Besson declares that, subject to the approval of the Meeting, he accepts the renewal of his mandate,

and that he is subject to no measure or provision liable to prevent him from performing the said functions within

the Company.

Eighth resolution
(Renewal of the mandate of a member of the Supervisory Board)

The General Meeting, having satisfied the requisite conditions of quorum and majority for Ordinary General

Meetings, decides to renew for a period of two years, i.e. until the end of the Ordinary General Meeting convened

to approve the accounts for the year ending 31 December 2010, the mandate as a Member of the Supervisory

Board of:

Mr Jean-Hugues Loyez

Resident at 9 rue de l’Eglise – 7618 Taintignies - Belgium,

Mr Jean-Hugues Loyez declares that, subject to the approval of the Meeting, he accepts the renewal of his

mandate, and that he is subject to no measure or provision liable to prevent him from performing the said

functions within the Company.
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Ninth resolution
(Renewal of the mandate of a member of the Supervisory Board)

The General Meeting, having satisfied the requisite conditions of quorum and majority for Ordinary General

Meetings, decides to renew for a period of two years, i.e. until the end of the Ordinary General Meeting convened

to approve the accounts for the year ending 31 December 2010, the mandate as a Member of the Supervisory

Board of:

Mr Joël Séché, 

Resident at Les Hêtres – 53810 Changé,

Mr Joël Séché declares that, subject to the approval of the Meeting, he accepts the renewal of his mandate, and

that he is subject to no measure or provision liable to prevent him from performing the said functions within the

Company.

Tenth resolution
(Non-renewal of the mandate of a Member of the Supervisory Board)

The General Meeting notes that Mr Jacques Veyrat, whose mandate as a Member of the Supervisory Board

expires at the end of the Annual Ordinary General Meeting convened to approve the accounts for the year ended

31 December 2008, does not wish his mandate to be renewed.

The General Meeting thanks him for his performance of his duties, and decides not to provide for his replace-

ment.

Eleventh resolution
(Resignation of a member of the Supervisory Board)

The General Meeting, having satisfied the requisite conditions of quorum and majority for Ordinary General

Meetings, notes the resignation of Mr Alain Afflelou from his duties of a member of the Supervisory Board, as

of today.

The General Meeting thanks him for his performance of his duties, and decides not to provide for his replace-

ment.

Twelfth resolution
(Death of a member of the Supervisory Board)

The General Meeting, having satisfied the requisite conditions of quorum and majority for Ordinary General

Meetings, notes the death of Mr Fernand-Luc Buffelard, a member of the Supervisory Board, and decides not

to provide for his replacement.

Thirteenth resolution
(Share buyback programme and delegation of powers to the Management)

The General Meeting, having satisfied the requisite conditions of quorum and majority for Ordinary General

Meetings and after hearing a reading of the reports of the Management and the Supervisory Board, 

Authorises the Management, with the power of sub-delegation, to trade the shares of the Company, subject to

compliance with the legal and administrative provisions applicable at the time of such trading, and particularly

the conditions and obligations imposed by Articles L 225-209 to L 225-212 of the "Code de Commerce", with

reference to Article L 226-1 of the same Code.
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The Company may acquire its own shares on the market or by private negotiation and sell all or part of the

shares thus acquired, in compliance with the following limits:

•  the total shares held may not exceed 5% of the share capital (this percentage corresponds to 1,825,615 shares

on the basis of the capital at 31 December 2008),

• the unit purchase price may not exceed €20 per share (excluding acquisition costs).

The maximum amount that the Company may devote to the buyback of its own shares will, in any event, be

capped at €36,512,300, which is less than the total amount of free reserves, which was €39,812,912 at 

31 December 2008.

The buyback programme will be financed out of the company's existing cash resources.

These operations will be carried out in conformity with the rules established by Articles 241-1 to 241-7 of the

General Regulations of the AMF on the conditions and periods for trading on the stock market.

This authorisation is intended to allow the Company, in decreasing order of priority, to:

1) optimise the Management of its Net Asset Value per share by purchasing shares and, if necessary, by

cancelling shares by means of a capital reduction, subject in the latter case to approval by the Extraordinary

General Meeting of a specific resolution;

2) stimulate the market by means of a liquidity contract drawn up in conformity with the AMAFI (Association

française des marchés financiers) Code of Conduct.

The General Meeting decides that:

• the purchase of shares and the conservation, sale or transfer of the shares thus purchased may be carried out

on one or more occasions, at any moment, including during periods of public purchase and/or exchange offers

or standing offers, by any means, either on the market or by private negotiation, particularly through the acqui-

sition or sale of blocks of shares, or by recourse to transactions on options or derivatives, in compliance with

regulations in force;

• in the event of any modification of the nominal value of the share, any increase in capital by incorporation of

reserves and allocation of free shares, any splitting or consolidation of shares, any amortisation or reduction of

capital, any distribution of reserves or other assets, or any other operations affecting the shareholders’ equity,

in order to take account of the impact of such operations on the value of the share, the prices indicated above

will be adjusted by a multiplier equal to the ratio between the number of shares comprising the capital prior to

the operation and the number of shares after the operation.

The General Meeting decides to give full powers to the Management, including the power of sub-delegation, to

execute and implement the share buyback programme, particularly for the following purposes:

• to carry out the effective launch of the present share buyback programme;

• subject to the limits established above, to place any market orders or OTC orders;

• to adjust the purchase or sale prices of shares in order to take account of the impact of the above-mentioned

operations on the share value;

• to conclude any agreements, particularly with a view to the keeping of registers of share sales and purchases;

• to ensure the full traceability of all transactions;

• to make any declarations and carry out any formalities vis-à-vis any bodies, particularly the Financial Markets

Authority (AMF), in conformity with regulations in force;

• to carry out any other formalities and generally take whatever measures may be necessary.

This authorisation replaces that agreed by the General Meeting of 3 April 2008 and is given for a period of 

18 months as of 30 April 2009, i.e. until 29 October 2010.
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Fourteenth resolution
(Powers)

The General Meeting, having satisfied the requisite conditions of quorum and majority for Ordinary General

Meetings, gives full powers to the bearer of an original or a copy of this document to carry out all publication

formalities relating to the adoption of the above resolutions, and more generally to take whatever measures may

be necessary.

II - Resolutions proposed to the Extraordinary General Meeting 

Fifteenth resolution
(Authorisation given to the Management to reduce the share capital by cancelling shares bought in application
of the share buyback programme)

The General Meeting, having satisfied the requisite conditions of quorum and majority for Extraordinary General

Meetings, 

Having considered the reports of the Management and the Supervisory Board and the Auditors' special report:

• authorises the Management, at its sole discretion, on one or more occasions and up to a limit of 5% of the share

capital, to cancel any shares that may be held by the Company as a result of purchases made in application of

the thirteenth resolution above, including any purchases made this day, and to reduce the share capital of the

company accordingly, in conformity with legal and regulatory provisions currently in force;

• decides that any excess in the purchase price of cancelled shares with respect to their nominal value may be

charged under the headings of issue premiums, merger premiums, contribution premiums or any other heading

of available reserves, including the legal reserve up to the percentage limit of the capital reduction achieved;

• sets the period of validity of this authorisation at eighteen months as of the date of this Meeting;

• gives the Management full powers, including the power of sub-delegation, to carry out the operations neces-

sary for such cancellations and the corresponding reductions in the share capital, to modify the Bylaws of the

Company accordingly, and to carry out all formalities required.

Sixteenth resolution
(Amendments to Article 17 of the Bylaws – Reduction of management fee theoretically due to the Chairman of
Altamir Amboise in respect of sums invested in FCPR Apax France VIII ),

The General Meeting, having satisfied the requisite conditions of quorum and majority for Extraordinary General

Meetings, 

Having considered the reports of the Management and the Supervisory Board,

Decides to amend Article 17 of the Bylaws as follows:

Article 17 – Remuneration of Management

The following paragraph is added to the end of paragraph 17.1 of Article 17 of the Bylaws:

“The after-tax remuneration of the Management is reduced, moreover, by an amount equal to the product of the

nominal value of the units held by the Company in FCPR Apax France VIII B (and subsequent Apax France FCPRs)

multiplied by the average annual after-tax amount of the management fees for these FCPRs. In the event of a

change in this value during the course of a year, this amount shall be calculated on a pro-rata time basis.”
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Seventeenth resolution
(Amendments to Article 25 of the Bylaws – Elimination of theoretical rights of the General Partner 
and of the holders of B shares to income generated by the investment in FCPR Apax France VIII),

The General Meeting, having satisfied the requisite conditions of quorum and majority for Extraordinary General

Meetings, 

Having considered the reports of the Management and the Supervisory Board,

Decides to amend Article 25 of the Bylaws as follows:

Article 25 – Allocation and distribution of profits

Paragraph 25.2 of Article 25 of the Bylaws is henceforth revised as follows:

“The restated profit/loss, β, is defined as follows

β = [NR - (1-τ) P] - α - γ
where

• NR is equal to the net profit or loss for the year, as shown in the financial statements approved by the annual

ordinary general meeting, after deduction of non-externalized net capital gains generated through internal

restructuring operations (for example mergers, partial asset contributions, divisions) involving the company itself

or companies in which it holds an equity interest.

• τ is equal to the rate of corporation tax (including any additional contributions) actually applied to the amount

P defined below,

• P is equal to the amount of net financial revenues generated by investments of cash and capital gains from the

sale of investment securities, after deduction of financial costs of borrowings made by the company. If P is

negative for a given year, it will not be taken into account for that year, and its amount will be carried forward to

the P of subsequent years.

• α is equal to the sum of the restated net losses of previous years which have not yet been charged against a

restated net profit.

• γ is equal to the component of the net profit or loss for the year from the equity investment held by the Company

in FCPR Apax France VIII B and new Apax France FCPRs which are created in future.”

Eighteenth resolution
(Powers)

The General Meeting, having satisfied the requisite conditions of quorum and majority for Extraordinary General

Meetings, gives full powers to the bearer of an original or a copy of this document to carry out all publication

formalities relating to the adoption of the above resolutions, and more generally to take whatever measures may

be necessary.
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1. General information concerning the Company 

1.1 Name and registered offices (Articles 3 & 4 of the Bylaws)

Altamir Amboise, 45 avenue Kléber, 75116 Paris

[www.altamir-amboise.fr]

1.2 Date of incorporation

The Company was incorporated on 15 March 1993 in the form of a French Société Anonyme (public limited

company), and subsequently transformed into a Société en Commandite par Actions (Limited Partnership by

shares) by the Extraordinary General Meeting of 1 June 1995 in order to benefit from the experience and expertise

of the Apax Partners teams in the field of equity capital investments.

1.3 Duration (Article 5 of the Bylaws)

The duration of the Company is 99 years, expiring on 31 December 2092.

1.4 Legal form (Article 1 of the Bylaws)

The Company has the form of a Limited Partnership by shares, with registered capital of €219,259,626, governed

by Article 226-9 of the New Commercial Code on commercial companies and its implementing decree, such

shares being distributed between:

- its limited partners (or shareholders), owners of the shares currently in existence and those that may be subse-

quently issued; and

- its General Partner Apax Partners & Cie Gérance S.A., a French société anonyme with registered offices at 

45 avenue Kléber – 75116 Paris

Its registered capital is divided into 36,512,301 ordinary shares each with a par value of €6, and 18,582 shares

of preferred shares ("B shares") each with a par value of €10.

1.5 Transfer and transmission of shares (Article 10 of the Bylaws)

The common shares may be freely transmitted under the conditions stipulated by law.

The B shares (and any security that might give rights to B shares) may be subscribed or acquired only by the

following persons:

1- the manager;

2- the Company's Investment Advisory Company mentioned in the Internal Regulations (Apax Partners SA);

3- natural persons holding a corporate mandate or an employment contract with one of the persons mentioned

in sections 1 and 2 above;

4- any civil company made up exclusively of persons mentioned in sections 1, 2 and 3 above;

5- the Company itself, under the conditions prescribed by law and by the Bylaws.

> ADDITIONAL INFORMATION  



1.6 Accounting year (Article 24 of the Bylaws) 

Each accounting year has a duration of one calendar year, commencing on 1 January and ending on 31 December.

1.7 Corporate purpose (Article 2 of the Bylaws)

The purpose of the Company is as follows: 

- the subscription, acquisition, management and disposal by any means of French or international securities,

corporate rights, rights representing a financial investment and other financial rights; and

- generally, all transactions related to the purpose cited above or allowing its achievement, including all opera-

tions on personal and real property necessary for its operations.

1.8 Register of trades and companies, and business activity code

Siret No.: Paris B 390 965 895 – Business code: 741J

1.9 Appropriation and distribution of profits (Article 25 of the Bylaws)

Note: It is specified that the methods of determining the entitlement to profits for the General Partner and the

B shareholders as presented below were established on the basis of the Company accounts, and therefore have

not been modified by the Company’s adoption of IFRS international accounting standards for the purposes of its

first consolidated accounts relating to the year ended 31 December 2007.

The General Meeting approves the accounts for the past year and notes the existence of distributable profits. It

is expressly stipulated that the costs incurred by the General Partner in the interests of the Company will be

reimbursed to it upon presentation of supporting documentation and will be included in the expenses of the

Company.

For each year, the Company pays the General Partner a total sum equal to 2% of the restated income for that

year by way of dividends, at the times and places designated by the Management, within a maximum period of

nine months from the close of the year. 

“The restated profit/loss, β, is defined as follows:

β = [NR - (1-τ) P] - α
where

• NR is equal to the net profit or loss for the year, as shown in the financial statements approved by the annual

Ordinary General Meeting, after deduction of non-externalized net capital gains generated through internal

restructuring operations (for example mergers, partial asset contributions, divisions) involving the company itself

or companies in which it holds an equity interest.

• τ is equal to the full rate of corporation tax (including any additional contributions) applied to the taxable secto-

rial result for this year,

• P is equal to the amount of net financial revenues generated by investments of cash and capital gains from the

sale of investment securities, after deduction of financial costs of borrowings made by the company. If P is

negative for a given year, it will not be taken into account for that year, and its amount will be carried forward to

the P of subsequent years.

• α is equal to the sum of the restated net losses of previous years which have not yet been charged against a

restated net profit.

For each year, the Company also pays to the B shareholders, in respect of dividends, a total sum equal to 18%

of the restated income β for that year as defined above, at the times and places designated by the Management,

within a maximum period of nine months from the close of the year.
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The balance of the distributable profit is payable to the shareholders. Its appropriation is decided by the Ordinary

General Meeting on the recommendation of the Supervisory Board.

On the recommendation of the Supervisory Board, the General Meeting may decide to appropriate from the

balance of the profits paid to the shareholders the amounts it deems appropriate to be carried forward for share-

holders or to be allocated to one or more extraordinary, general, or special non-interest-bearing reserves, to

which the General Partner, in this capacity, has no right. The reserve fund(s) may also be capitalised.

Dividends are paid at the times and locations determined by the Management within a maximum period of nine

months from the close of the year, except in the event of any extension of this period ordered by the courts.

On the recommendation of the Supervisory Board, the General Meeting has the power to give each shareholder,

whether he holds ordinary shares or B shares, the option of taking payment either in cash or in shares for all or

part of the dividend or any interim dividends, under the conditions prescribed by law.

It will be recommended to the Combined Ordinary and Extraordinary General Meeting of 29 April 2009 to modify

this method of calculation in order to eliminate from the basis the results from the Apax France VIII-B Fund and

not to make double use of the “carried interest” paid by this Fund.

It is proposed to add the following paragraph to the end of paragraph 17.1 of Article 17 of the Bylaws:

“The after-tax remuneration of the Management is reduced, moreover, by an amount equal to the product of the

nominal value of the units held by the Company in the FCPR Apax France VIII B (and subsequent Apax France

FCPRs) multiplied by the average annual after-tax amount of the management fees for these FCPRs. In the

event of a change in this value during the course of a year, this amount shall be calculated on a pro-rata time

basis.”

The restated profit/loss, β, is defined as follows

β = [NR - (1-τ) P] - α - γ
where

• NR is equal to the net profit or loss for the year, as shown in the financial statements approved by the annual

ordinary general meeting, after deduction of non-externalized net capital gains generated through internal

restructuring operations (for example mergers, partial asset contributions, divisions) involving the company itself

or companies in which it holds an equity interest.

• τ is equal to the rate of corporation tax (including any additional contributions) actually applied to the amount

P defined below,

• P is equal to the amount of net financial revenues generated by investments of cash and capital gains from the

sale of investment securities, after deduction of financial costs of borrowings made by the company. If P is

negative for a given year, it will not be taken into account for that year, and its amount will be carried forward to

the P of subsequent years.

• α is equal to the sum of the restated net losses of previous years which have not yet been charged against a

restated net profit.

• γ is equal to the component of the net profit or loss for the year from the equity investment held by the Company

in FCPR Apax France VIII B and any new Apax France FCPRs which are created in future.

1.10 Conditions for the exercise of voting rights (Article 12 of the Bylaws)

The rights and obligations attached to the shares are derived from the legislation in force and the Bylaws.

Each ordinary share carries the right to one vote at General Meetings.

The voting right belongs to the beneficial owner at ordinary General Meetings and to the bare owner at extraor-

dinary or special General Meetings.

B shares carry no voting rights, except at special meetings of B shareholders called pursuant to L 225-99 of the

French Commercial Code.
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1.11 General Meetings (Article 23 of the Bylaws)

General Meetings are called under the conditions prescribed by law. Meetings are held at the registered offices
or at any other location specified in the notice of meeting. The right to participate in the General Meeting is
established by accounting registration of the securities in the name on the shareholder or of the intermediary
on his behalf (in application of paragraph 7 of Article L 228-1 of the Commercial Code) by the third business day
prior to the Meeting at midnight, Paris time, either in the registered securities accounts maintained by the
company or in the bearer securities accounts maintained by the authorised intermediary. Meetings may also be
attended by any persons invited by the Management or by the Chairman of the Supervisory Board. 

The General Partner is represented by its legal representative or by any person (who need not be a shareholder)
it has authorised to do so.

General Meetings are chaired by the Management, or otherwise by the General Partner, or failing that, by the
Chairman of the Supervisory Board.

Ordinary and Extraordinary General Meetings, deliberating under the conditions prescribed by law, carry out
their responsibilities as in conformity with the law.

With the exception of the appointment and dismissal of the members of the Supervisory Board, the appointment
and dismissal of the Statutory Auditors, the distribution of dividends for the year and the approval of regulated
agreements, no decision taken by the General Meeting is valid until approved in writing by the General Partner
no later than the end of the Meeting that approved the decision in question. The management of the Company
has all powers to note this approval, and will attach the document certifying such approval to the minutes of the
Meeting concerned.

1.12 Purchase by the Company of its own shares

1.12.1 Legal framework

A programme for the Company to purchase its own shares for the exclusive purpose of ensuring liquidity and
stimulating the market for the shares was authorised by the General Meeting of 3 April 2008. This programme
is limited to 5% of the shares held, taking account of the available reserves.

This programme has a dual aim:

• firstly, to permit the company to optimise the management of its Net Asset Value per share by purchasing
shares and, if necessary, by cancelling shares by means of a capital reduction,

• and secondly, to attempt to stimulate the market.

The buyback programme fulfils the following characteristics: 

The total number of shares eligible for buyback cannot exceed 5% of the capital. As a guide, this percentage
corresponds to 1,481,945 shares on the basis of the capital at 31 December 2007.

The maximum unit purchase price may not exceed €20.00 per share (excluding acquisition costs). 

The maximum amount that the Company may devote to the buyback of its own shares is capped, in any event,
at €36,512,300, which is far less than the total amount of free reserves, which was €144.0 million at 31 December
2007.

The purchase of the shares, as well as their eventual sale or transfer, may be performed by all methods autho-
rised by the applicable regulations, in the market or over-the-counter and, in particular, by the purchase or sale
of blocks. The company may likewise have recourse to option transactions or derivative products.

This authority is granted for a period of 18 months, commencing on 4 April 2008 and expiring on 3 October 2009.

The buyback programme is financed out of the company's existing cash resources.
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1.12.2 Proposed new programme

A new share buyback programme has been proposed to the General Meeting with the same dual aim:

• firstly, to permit the company to optimise the management of its Net Asset Value per share by purchasing

shares and, if necessary, by cancelling shares by means of a capital reduction,

• and secondly, to attempt to stimulate the market.

The possibility of cancelling treasury shares is extended subject to approval by the Extraordinary General Meeting

of a specific resolution allowing for such capital reductions.

This buyback programme will fulfil the following characteristics: 

•The total number of shares eligible for buyback may not exceed 5% of the capital. As a guide, this percentage

corresponds to 1,825,615 shares on the basis of the capital at 31 December 2008.

•The maximum unit purchase price may not exceed €20.00 per share (excluding acquisition costs). 

•The maximum amount that the Company may devote to the buyback of its own shares will, in any event, be

capped at €36,512,300, which is far less than the total amount of free reserves, which was €39.8 million at 

31 December 2008.

•The purchase of the shares, as well as their eventual sale or transfer, may be performed by all methods autho-

rised by the applicable regulations, in the market or over-the-counter and, in particular, by the purchase or sale

of blocks. The company may likewise have recourse to option transactions or derivative products.

•This authority is granted for a period of 18 months commencing on 4 April 2008 and expiring on 29 October 2010.

•The buyback programme will be financed out of the company's existing cash resources.

1.12.3 Tax treatment of the share buybacks

For Altamir Amboise

In application of the provisions of the 2001 Finance Law, which exempts SCRs as of 1 January 2001 from corpo-

ration tax on all gains, the Altamir Amboise SCR was not liable for taxes on gains resulting from transactions to

buy back its own shares.

For the Seller of the shares

The tax treatment of gains from the sale of marketable securities by individuals and the treatment of the profes-

sional gains realised by companies apply to sales of shares executed within the framework of a share buyback

plan as provided by Article L 225-209 of the French Commercial Code.

The gains from sales of shares realised by a legal entity subject to income tax on companies domiciled in France

are subject to the treatment of professional gains codified in Article 39 duodecies of the French General Tax

Code.

When the gains from sales of shares are realised by a natural person resident in France, they are, in practice,

subject to the rules instituted by Article 150-0 A of the General Taxation Code. Under these rules, the gains are

taxable at the rate of 18% (30.1% with social security deductions for sales occurring as from 1 January 2008), if

the annual total amount of sales and purchases made by the shareholder whose shares are bought back exceeds

a cap set at €25,000(1) for 2008 income . 

For buybacks of new or existing SCR shares purchased before 1 January 2001, the gains realised are taxable

under the conditions of common law stipulated in Article 150-0 A of the General Taxation Code if, for the year of

the purchase, the total amount of sales made by the taxpayer exceeds the threshold of €25,000 for 2008 income.

Gains from sales of SCR shares subscribed or acquired as from 1 January 2001 are exempt from tax on revenue

in application of Article 150-0 A III 1 bis of the General Taxation Code, subject to certain conditions having been

observed, especially that the shares have been held for at least five years as of the date of their sale. Moreover,

the sales of SCR shares not subject to tax are taken in account in the selling threshold provided for by Article 150-0

of the General Taxation Code. 
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(1) €25,730 for sales made as from 1 January 2009.



1.13 Intention of the person controlling the issuer

To the Company's knowledge, there is no shareholder who controls the capital of the Company either alone or

in concert with another shareholder.

The partners of Apax Partners increased their stake in the capital of Altamir Amboise through the acquisition of

shares, share subscription warrants and preferential subscription rights in the market, followed by the exercise

of these warrants and rights. Following these operations, the partners of Apax Partners SA hold 22.35% of the

capital (ordinary A shares) of Altamir Amboise. 

In a letter dated 1 October 2008 to the Autorité des Marchés Financiers, the partners of Apax Partners SA

declared that they did “not have any intention to appreciably increase their total equity stake in the Company in

the months to come.”
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2. INVESTMENT STRATEGY 

2.1 Relationship between Altamir Amboise and Apax Partners SA

2.1.1 Functioning until the Apax France VII Fund in the final investment phase

Since its initial public-offering in December 1995 under the name Altamir & Cie, the Company has co-invested

pari passu with the Apax funds based on the respective amount of capital under management. As of 31 March

2006, a new Company, Amboise Investissement was introduced on to the stock-market. Also advised by Apax

Partners SA, it too co-invested pari passu with the Apax and Altamir & Cie funds according to the same principle,

based on the size of the assets under management. Altamir & Cie and Amboise Investissement merged on 4 June

2007, and the company took the name Altamir Amboise.

The object of Altamir Amboise is to co-invest under the same conditions, in proportion to the funds managed, in

any project selected jointly with the FCPR funds (fonds communs de placement à risques) managed by Apax

Partners.

The co-investment percentage of Altamir Amboise with the FCPRs managed by Apax Partners SA is determined

on the basis of the provisional amount of the sums that could be devoted to new investments by each entity,

which is reviewed on the first day of each calendar six-month period according to the changes in the respective

projected liquid assets of the Company and the FCPR concerned. 

In the event of reinvestment in a holding, the percentage distribution of such reinvestment between the Company

and the FCPR concerned is the percentage applied at the time of the initial investment (and not the percentage

in effect on the date of the reinvestment, if different).

The percentage of co-investment progressed as follows:

Fund Date Rate of investment Total
FCPR Altamir Amboise Altamir

& Cie Investissement Amboise

Apax France IV 1996 85% 15% 100%

Apax France V 1998 80% 20% 100%

Apax France VI 2000 93% 7% 100%

same 1/01/01 94% 6% 100%

same 1/01/03 95.5% 4.5% 100%

same 1/07/04 90% 10% 100%

same (Amboise IPO) 1/04/06 72% 8% 20% 100%

Apax France VII 1/07/06 50% 25% 25% 100%

same (Altamir Amboise merger) 1/07/07 57% 43% 100%

As from 1 January 2009, this percentage was fixed within a range between 5% and 43% according to the cash

proceeds following any disposals.

Finally, it is specified that the unitholders of the FCPRs managed by Apax Partners, who are professionals

investing substantial amounts with a long-term investment horizon, have information on the interests acquired

in co-investment with Altamir Amboise which is more detailed than the information available to the shareholders

of these companies. This information is communicated to them in conformity with generally accepted practices

in the private equity market and the Regulations of the FCPRs concerned, simultaneously with the publication

by Altamir Amboise of its Net Asset Value. It is noted that if such information constitutes privileged information

as defined by the applicable regulations, these investors must refrain from trading in the shares of Altamir

Amboise.
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2.1.2 Proposed functioning after the Apax France VIII Fund, the first investments of which are expected to be
made in 2009 or 2010.

Since its creation in 1995 under the name Altamir & Cie, the Company has co-invested with the FCPRs managed
by Apax Partners by directly acquiring stakes in the companies in which these various FCPRs invest. This method
of operating, as regards FCPR Apax France VII, governed by a co-investment charter entered into in 2007, was
all the easier to implement because the management company of these FCPRs and the managing company of
Altamir Amboise was both under the management of Maurice Tchenio, the founder of the Apax Group.

FCPR Apax France VIII, which is in the process of raising funds, will for its part be managed by the Apax team
under the management of Eddie Misrahi, as has long been planned.

As a result, for the first time since the launch of Altamir Amboise, there will be more uniformity of decision-
making power between Altamir Amboise and the Apax FCPR in the investment phase.

This situation led to the decision that Altamir Amboise would invest directly in FCPR Apax France VIII, rather
than in each company individually in conjunction with the fund as in the past. This new method of proceeding will
make it possible to differentiate clearly between the assets that will be managed in future by the Apax team (via
FCPR Apax France VIII) under its new direction, and those that will continue to be managed directly by the
management under the direction of Maurice Tchenio.

In practice, Altamir Amboise will invest in an FCPR called “Apax France VIII B”, whose operating rules were
conceived in such a way as to allow Altamir Amboise to recognise the sales gains in its results from the time of
their allotment, in order to ensure the greatest possible accounting transparency and not to impair the distri-
bution capacity of the company.

In addition, so as to avoid double billing of management fees, the sums invested by Altamir Amboise in FCPR Apax
France VIII B will not result in billing of management fees by Apax Partners & Cie Gérance. Altamir Amboise will
therefore pay only the management fees billed by the management company of this FCPR, in the same way and
in exactly the same amount as the other investors in FCPR Apax France VIII. During the investment phase of the
Fund, these management fees are 2%, inclusive of all taxes, on the amount of the commitment of the unit
subscriber, thereafter declining over the following years. The average rate of the management fees will thus be
around 1.80%, inclusive of all taxes.

Similarly, in order to prevent a double assessment of carried interest on the performances of FCPR Apax France
VIII B, the fraction of the Altamir Amboise result coming from this Fund will be excluded from the basis used to
calculate the rights to benefits of the General Partner and the B shareholders.

These neutralising mechanisms will give rise to the amendments to the Bylaws that are presented in the resolu-
tions proposed for the vote of the Combined Ordinary and Extraordinary General Meeting of 29 April 2009 and
included in this Registration Document.

With this in view, the maximum subscription by Altamir Amboise in Apax France VIII, for which the investment
period is likely to be between 2010 and 2013, will be on the order of €200 million, with the option to adapt the
level of the investments to the cash actually available, in the knowledge that this level may be revised every 6
months, as is the case at present for the rates of co-investment.

2.2 Investment strategy

In view of the rule regarding the Company's co-investment with the FCPRs managed by Apax Partners, described
on page 5 of the co-investment charter, the Company's investment strategy cannot be dissociated from the
strategy of Apax Partners.

2.2.1 History of Apax Partners and current activities

Apax Partners is a pioneer in its field and one of the largest private equity groups active in the international
market. It has ten offices, including six in Europe, one in Israel, one in the United States and two in Asia. 
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On behalf of the world's biggest institutional investors, it manages over €25 billion in capital through private
equity funds.

The group was created in 1972 in Europe and the United States by Ronald Cohen and Maurice Tchenio. In 1976

they joined forces with Alan Patricof in the United States.

Since the creation of the first British fund in 1981 and the first French fund in 1983, the Apax Partners group has

been structured around independent companies held by the local partners and directors who manage the

national funds.

Today the Apax Partners group in Europe includes two distinct and independent legal entities: Apax Partners LLP

(London) and Apax Partners SA (Paris), licensed by the French Autorité des Marchés Financiers since 24 March

1997 as management companies. Owned by their respective partner directors, these two companies whose

decision-making bodies are independent manage distinct funds each with their own “carried interest”: the funds

managed by Apax Partners SA invest in medium-sized companies in France and Europe, and the funds managed

by Apax Partners LLP focus on large-scale LBOs worldwide. They share the same brand name, an investment

strategy based on sector specialisation and similar internal processes. 

A new management company, Apax Partners MidMarket SAS, approved by the Autorité des Marchés Financiers

on 19 December 2008, will manage the successor funds of Apax Partners SA, starting with Apax France VIII. It

will apply the same investment strategy as Apax Partners SA. 

Apax Partners was a pioneer in the creation and development of private equity in France: it created the first

FCPR and defined the rules for the industry. It is a founding member of the Association Française des Investis-

seurs en Capital (AFIC). In France, its contribution has been a determining factor in promoting shares and private

equity in asset allocation policies.

Apax Partners SA is one of the major private equity players in France, and one of the most experienced teams.

In the course of the last five years, the funds managed by Apax Partners SA (including Altamir Amboise) have

invested over €1 billion and realised disposals for more than €1.3 billion.

The current investment strategy, which consists of backing growing businesses in a limited number of specialised

sectors, has been implemented since the launch of the Apax CR III fund in 1990. This sector specialisation clearly

differentiates Apax Partners from the main private equity companies, which tend to specialise by operation (LBO,

growth capital or venture capital).

The normal investment cycle for private equity results in significant returns chiefly during the final years of the

life of the funds. Consequently, the performance of the funds must be assessed over the long term. 

The performance of private equity funds is generally measured in terms of multiples of capital subscribed and

the internal return rate (IRR). 

Apax Partners is developing a strategy geared to obtaining high multiples of capital subscribed, and has proven

its ability to achieve a performance, based on this criterion, in the top quartile of European private equity funds

(source: EVCA – Thomson Reuters – December 2007). It should, however be noted that the past performance

achieved by the funds managed by Apax Partners cannot under any circumstances offer any guarantee of the

future performance of the Company.

The investment strategy described above was implemented by the following funds, which are today fully invested:

Apax CR III (1990), Apax France IV (1996), Apax France V (1998), and Apax France VI (2000).

It has likewise been pursued by the Altamir company, which has invested pari passu in the equity investments

made by the FCPRs Apax France IV, Apax France V and Apax France VI.

The success of this investment strategy and the fact that FCPR Apax France VI was totally invested in 2006 led

Apax Partners to create FCPR Apax France VII on the model of FCPRs Apax CR III, Apax France IV, Apax France

V and Apax France VI. On the basis of the latest information available and current market conditions, Apax

Partners held, through its various investment vehicles (i.e. Altamir Amboise and FCPR Apax France VII), a total

investment capacity of approximately €900 million over a period of 3 to 5 years. 72% of this sum has already been

invested or committed. Consequently, Apax Partners has undertaken to raise a new FCPR, Apax France VIII.
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2.2.2 Description of the investment strategy of Apax Partners

The strategy of Apax Partners SA is to invest in companies with strong growth potential in its sectors of special-

isation: Technology, Telecom, Retail & Consumer, Media, Healthcare, and Business & Financial Services.

The principal elements of this strategy (which is liable to change depending on market conditions) are as follows:

1- To create a portfolio diversified by sector, capable of consistently generating high rates of return throughout
the economic cycle

The objective of Apax Partners is to obtain high profitability for the funds that it manages, by selecting businesses

with the potential to return 3 to 5 times the amounts invested (a multiple of 3 over 5 years corresponds to an

average annual internal return rate of 25%). It should, of course, be understood that these multiples and this rate

constitute goals, and that some investments may, in the event, generate a much lower or even a negative return. 

For Altamir Amboise, this strategy has resulted in the breakdown by sector provided in the section "Portfolio of

Altamir Amboise" in this Registration Document. (This historical breakdown does not in any way prejudice future

sectorial allocation, since an overweighting of one of the sectors cannot be ruled out).

2- To be the leading French investor in its sectors of specialisation: Technology, Telecom, Retail & Consumer,
Media, Healthcare, Business & Financial Services.

Apax Partners believes that these sectors should outperform the general economy and that they are the most

likely to contain companies with strong growth potential. 

Moreover, as they reach maturity, some of these sectors offer a growing number of Growth Capital or LBO oppor-

tunities, particularly in information technologies, new media and telecommunications. Apax Partners believes

that it is ideally positioned to take advantage of these opportunities, because they are outside the scope of invest-

ment of most private equity funds, while LBO funds generally have little appetite for technology investments. In

the other sectors, for example retail, Apax Partners has the advantage of being a recognised specialist, which

has allowed it to generate a strong flow of business and consistently high returns. 

The current unfavourable economic environment confirms the well-foundedness of this sectorial diversification

by making it possible to compensate for all or part of the underperformance of certain sectors (for example

retail and consumer goods) through the better strength of the other sectors of specialisation.

The approach currently developed by Apax Partners in each of these six sectors is described in the description

of the current portfolio of Altamir Amboise in the section "Portfolio of Altamir Amboise" in this Registration

Document.

3- To target growth and build world-class companies

The objective of the funds managed by Apax Partners is to support high-growth companies in the sectors of

specialisation in order to turn them into leaders in their sector.

Apax Partners works toward this objective by supporting the businesses over time. The stakes are acquired with

an average investment horizon of five years.

4- To have a large team organised by sector

The Apax Partners investment team is one of the largest and most experienced private equity teams in France.

The 10 partners bring their management experience and their strategic and financial expertise acquired in

multiple sectors. Their biographies appear in section C below. The team also includes 6 senior principals and

principals, and senior associates.

The investment team is organised around the sectors of specialisation of Apax Partners. In each sector, Apax

Partners has a dedicated team of three to five professionals. Each investment, from acquisition to development

to disposal, is monitored by the same partner director. Apax Partners has made the choice to have confirmed

specialists in each sector, thus limiting the use of outside consultants and developing the pipeline of investment

opportunities.
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Thanks to this rich team, Apax Partners can simultaneously (i) actively seek out opportunities, (ii) carry out in-

depth due diligence on various transactions, (iii) provide real support to the companies in its portfolio, and (iv)

maintain a constant dialogue with its investors.

5- To generate its investment opportunities

Apax Partners believes that the sectorial expertise and experience of its teams is especially appreciated by entre-

preneurs and therefore helps to generate investment opportunities.

Each sector team is responsible for identifying the best investment opportunities in its sector, and for actively

examining those opportunities well before the sale or fund-raising process has been initiated. The teams also

have marketing tools and programmes designed to find and develop a flow of quality opportunities.

In addition, a business development team, currently comprising two executive managers reporting to a partner,

works in close collaboration with the sector teams to identify investment opportunities and ensure the estab-

lishment and maintenance of contacts with important intermediaries, such as investment banks, accounting

firms and consultants.

Finally, Apax Partners maintains a wide network of contacts and opinion leaders through a press and public

relations programme, regular mailings of information letters and brochures, and sponsorship of conferences in

its sectors of expertise. To achieve all this, Apax Partners has a full-time Director of Communications and a

Financial Communications Manager.

6- To be the majority or leading investor, hold large stakes in the portfolio companies, and play an active role
in those companies

Apax Partners has always focused on holding majority or significant minority stakes. Thus, FCPR Apax France

VII is, with Altamir Amboise, the majority or leading investor in almost all of its investments.

As a general rule, the funds managed and advised by Apax Partners hold significant interests and a certain

percentage of the voting rights, which gives Apax Partners a strong position to negotiate acquisition conditions,

exert better control over the company's strategy and significantly influence the sale date and process. Apax

Partners believes that this makes it easier to create and realise value. Backed by solid industrial and commer-

cial experience, the partner directors are able to provide concrete support to the executive management teams

of the companies in the portfolio in order to meet challenges and take advantage of all opportunities.

In addition to its representatives on the Boards of Directors of the portfolio companies, Apax Partners dedicates

two partners (Martine Clavel and Claude Rosevègue, see the section below) to the mission of providing support

to these companies in terms of human resources and finance. This approach optimises the creation of value in

the investment portfolio.

2.2.3 The Apax Partners team 

Apax Partners has one of the most complete and experienced private equity teams in France, with 10 partners,

6 senior principals and principals, and a number of senior associates. Over the last twenty-five years, this team

has made, tracked and sold investments in companies at all stages of the economic cycle. The team has been

extremely stable: the 10 partners have been with Apax Partners for an average of 17 years. For the other profes-

sionals, the average time of the directors with Apax is 8 years.

This stability is enhanced through an incentive system which closely aligns the interests of the management

team with the interests of investors, giving the team a percentage of the overall gain realised by the funds, in

conformity with normal practice in the business (see section 3.14 below). Any early departure of a professional

during the life of a fund will generate the loss of all or part of this incentive, which is acquired only after a

minimum period with the company.

The investment team is organised around the sectors of specialisation of Apax Partners. In each sector, three

to five professionals are responsible for identifying investment opportunities. The name recognition of the sector

managers and most of the members helps to feed the flow of business.
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These sector teams work in close collaboration with a business development team (comprising two persons

under the direction of Monique Cohen) responsible for maintaining relations with intermediaries and identifying

investment opportunities. This team is supported by a Director of Communication, a Financial Communication

Manager dedicated to Altamir Amboise, and a Documentation Centre.

Current composition of the management team of Apax Partners:

Martine Clavel - (59) Martine Clavel joined Apax Partners in 1994 as partner. A graduate of the Ecole des Hautes

Etudes Commerciales (HEC), she began her career with Colgate Palmolive as head of product marketing. After

five years’ experience in consumer products, she joined American Express France, where she successively served

as Director of Marketing and Sales, then Vice-President for Cards, Travel Agencies and Travellers’ Cheques in

France. In 1987, she became president of a trade press publishing house in which Apax Partners had become

the majority shareholder. In this position, she acquired broad experience in management and acquisitions in the

media sector. She was president of the Union of Professional Directory Publishers. After many years of special-

ising in media and communications, she now works full-time to assist the companies of the Apax Partners

portfolio in the field of human resources.

Monique Cohen - (52) Monique Cohen joined Apax Partners in 2000 as partner. She studied at the Ecole Polytech-

nique and holds a master's degree in mathematics and a master's in business law, and began her career at

Paribas. She served as Senior Banker for monitoring relations with several French groups. She was then

appointed as an international director of the Equity Business at Paribas and then at BNP Paribas, where she was

responsible for syndicating capital operations and equity brokerage. At Apax Partners, she specialises in LBO

operations in the business services sector. She also supervises business development and is responsible for

maintaining relations with the principal intermediaries. She is also Deputy General Manager of Altamir Amboise.

Hervé Descazeaux - (41) A graduate of the Ecole Supérieure de Commerce de Paris (ESCP) and a certified

accountant, Hervé Descazeaux began his career with PriceWaterhouseCoopers, where he became Senior

Manager responsible for audits and due diligence work for international groups. In 1998 he joined Apax Partners,

and became partner in 2005. He specialises in the business services sector.

Patrick de Giovanni - (63) Patrick de Giovanni joined Apax Partners in 1983 as partner at the time of the creation

of the first fund. A former student at the Ecole Polytechnique, he launched his career with Cofror, a French

consulting company specialising in IT management, before joining the Neiman Group (automobile equipment)

for four years as management controller. After spending three years in the industrial design department of

Société Générale, he partnered with an entrepreneur to save Criss, an industrial plumbing installation company.

At Apax Partners, he has made a large number of investments in industrial and business service companies

and in all types of operations (venture, development, LBO). He is a former Chairman of the Association Française

des Investisseurs en Capital (AFIC).

Eddie Misrahi - (54) Eddie Misrahi is Managing Partner of Apax Partners SA. He was Chairman of the Associa-

tion Française des Investisseurs en Capital (AFIC) for the year 2007/2008. A graduate of the Ecole Polytechnique

and Harvard Business School, Eddie Misrahi began his career with McKinsey & Co., where he specialised for five

years in information technologies in Paris, and then in Mexico. In 1984, he joined MjA-COM in Boston, a defence,

electronics and telecommunications company, where he successively served as international sales director,

director of a profit centre, and then as sales and after-sales service director in the Communications division. He

joined Apax Partners as partner in 1991 and works on all types of transactions (venture, development, LBO) in

the telecommunications, information technologies and media sectors. 

Bertrand Pivin - (48) A former student at the Ecole Polytechnique and a graduate of the Ecole Nationale

Supérieure des Télécommunications, Bertrand Pivin began his career as an R&D engineer with Alcatel in France,

then served as project director with Alcatel Network Systems in the United States. He then earned an MBA from

Harvard Business School before joining Apax Partners in 1993. He was made a partner director in 1998 and

specialises in information technologies.
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Jean-Louis Rambaud - (44) A graduate of the Ecole des Hautes Etudes Commerciales (HEC), Jean-Louis

Rambaud's first position was with Citibank for four years, where he held the positions of deputy to the manage-

ment controller, then associate and manager in the structured financing department. He joined Apax Partners

in 1991 and was made a partner in 1998. He specialises in the retail and consumer goods sector.

Gilles Rigal - (50) Gilles Rigal is an ENSEEIHT engineer (Toulouse) and holds a DEA in Robotics from the Univer-

sity of Toulouse. He began his career as an entrepreneur, creating IGL, a software and IT services company,

which he sold five years later to Thalès. He then joined McDonnell Douglas Information Systems, where he

became division director, then worked for Systar, an international software company based in France, where he

was chief executive officer for France, Europe and global operations. In 1995 he joined BMC Software, the world's

fifth-largest software publishers, as CEO for France and Vice President of Marketing and Indirect Sales EMEA.

He joined Apax Partners in 2001, where he has specialised in investments in the IT sector.

Claude Rosevègue - (61) Claude Rosevègue is a graduate of the ESLSCA and a certified accountant. In 1969 he

joined General Electric Information Systems as a financial analyst. He spent three years with Ford France as

accounting director and IT director, followed by four years with Lawry's Food France as Chief Financial Officer.

He then joined Levi-Strauss, where he worked for 8 years and was promoted to Chief Financial Officer for Europe

in Brussels. Before joining Apax Partners he was management controller for the FNAC group. He has been a

partner with Apax Partners since 1987, and is primarily responsible for assisting the portfolio companies in the

area of financing.

Maurice Tchenio - (65) Maurice Tchenio is the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Apax Partners. He is a

graduate of the Ecole des Hautes Etudes Commerciales (HEC) and of Harvard Business School, where he gradu-

ated with high distinction and was a Baker Scholar. He began his career as an assistant professor of finance at

HEC, then as mission chief at the Institute of Industrial Development. In 1972, with Ronald Cohen, he founded

Multinational Management Group (MMG), which is today Apax Partners. Maurice Tchenio has worked in a broad

range of business sectors, with special expertise in retail and consumer goods, and in all types of operations

(venture, MBO/MBI, turnarounds). He is one of the founders and a former Vice-President of the Association

Française des Investisseurs en Capital (AFIC), and a former director of the EVCA (European Venture Capital

Association).

2.2.4 Investment procedures

Apax Partners SA is an entrepreneurial firm with proven in-house processes. 99.50% of its capital is held directly

or indirectly by its partners. It is managed by committees at the strategic, operational and investment process

levels. It also has an integrated information management system that has been developed over the years, based

on latest-generation software applications.

1- Internal committees    

A Strategic Committee comprising all partners meets four times a year to define the strategy of Apax Partners.

In particular, it reviews the overall performance of the funds and the investment strategy, and evaluates the

quality of the teams. An Operational Committee, comprising the three principal partners of Apax Partners, meets

once a month to manage Apax Partners.

The investment process is managed by two committees: the Investment Committee and a Portfolio Monitoring

Committee. There are also two annual reviews of the portfolio.

All investment decisions are made by the Investment Committee, which is chaired by Maurice Tchenio, and

includes three other partners.  

Before being presented to the Investment Committee, all opportunities are monitored by a sub-group of the

Investment Committee. This is the Strategy Group, comprising Maurice Tchenio and one or two other partners

appointed according to the business sector concerned.

The Investment Committee makes all disposal decisions.

The Portfolio Monitoring Committee regularly monitors the performance of all the companies in the portfolio. Its

members are partners who are not members of the Investment Committee.
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2- Investment process

Deal sourcing 

Investment opportunities are identified:

- primarily by the sector teams of Apax Partners, based on their expertise, experience and sectors networks, with

the active support of ad hoc marketing programs and tools;

- and also through the network of intermediaries established and cultivated by Apax Partners.

In 2008, Bernard Bourigeaud, founder and former Chairman of Atos Origin, joined Apax Partners SA as Senior

Advisor. Within the scope of his responsibilities, Bernard Bourigeaud offers his experience as an entrepreneur

and helps to develop portfolio, in the technology sector as well as in the other sectors of specialisation.

Investment process

The investment opportunities identified give rise to preliminary work defined by the manager of the investment

team, possibly with the assistance of another professional. This first phase is designed to determine, as quickly

as possible, firstly whether the opportunity complies with the investment strategy and criteria of the funds, and

secondly the priority and resources that should be allocated to it.

This phase results either in a rejection decision or in the drafting of a preliminary review containing the infor-

mation needed to confirm that the project appears to be in line with the investment strategy, as well as recom-

mendations on the size of the investment in question and the conditions for handling the investment (due

diligence, negotiations, financing, etc.).

This review is presented and discussed at the partners’ weekly meeting, and results in a decision by the partners

on whether to pursue the opportunity, on any possible expansion of the investment team, and on the composi-

tion of the Approval Committee that will monitor the investment process.

The Approval Committee, in collaboration with the investment teams, monitors the correct performance of the

due diligence plan and ensures throughout the process that satisfactory terms for each transaction have been

negotiated prior to any investment decision.

Due dilligence, conducted by independent and well-known firms, isintended to validate the net position and, if

possible, the level of results of the target company, and is used either to confirm or reject an investment project,

or to adjust the valuation when this is tied to the net position. It also may identify the risks and thus define clearly

the asset and liability guarantees that will be demanded from the sellers. A detailed memo is then prepared by

the deal team. This document is both factual (verifications, calculated data, analyses) and conclusive with regard

to the appropriateness of making the acquisition. It is used as support at the meeting of the Investment

Committee, which makes the final decision. Once the project is approved by the Investment Committee, the

investment team with the assistance of lawyers makes an offer to the seller and negotiates the acquisition and

financing terms, under the control of the Approval Committee. This Group consists of Maurice Tchenio and one

or two other partners, appointed according to the business sector concerned.

A proposal may be made only after consulting the Approval Committee. Proposals that involve no effective

commitment may be signed by the manager of the investment team, whereas proposals that involve a commit-

ment, even a conditional commitment, must be countersigned by a partner director of Apax Partners.

Monitoring process

The operational and financial performance of the portfolio companies is monitored by the investment team,

which meets regularly with the management of each portfolio company, at Board meetings or reporting

meetings.

Within Apax Partners, the partner directors hold a monthly meeting in which each presents a report summarising

a number of financial indicators for each company under his or her responsibility.

The Portfolio Monitoring Committee meets every month to study one company, in principle on its anniversary

date. The partner in charge of the company drafts a report that serves as the basis for the meeting. This
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committee tracks the investment from beginning to end. It reviews the post-acquisition plan, and presents the

progress made since the investment date.

In addition, a complete review of the portfolio by all the partners is conducted twice a year in order to update the

investment project and the IRR and multiples expected for each company in the portfolio. These updated projec-

tions are then summarised in a performance report, which is used to manage the overall performance of Apax

Partners.

Apax Partners has also implemented a set of administrative and internal control procedures to monitor, verify,

manage and archive all the financial and administrative operations involved in the investments and in the

management of the funds.

The assets in the portfolio of the funds and SCRs managed by Apax are valued in accordance with the principles

described on page 99.

Ethics

The employees of Apax Partners and any person acting on its behalf follow ethical rules based on compliance

with professional standards and the guidelines of the ethical charter of the AFIC.

Among other things, these ethical rules stipulate the following:

- compliance with the duty of transparency and fairness with respect to the investors;

- an obligation to ensure the honourable character of any new investors;

- the exercising of the rights attached to the securities held by the funds managed by Apax Partners, in the

interest of the investors;

- the prevention of conflicts of interest, in compliance with the principles of integrity and good faith;

- observance of confidentiality;

- appointment of a Compliance and Internal Control Officer (RCCI) responsible for ensuring compliance with

these rules;

- implementation of internal controls and measures to fight money-laundering and the financing of terrorism.

The Compliance and Internal Control Officers (RCCI) as required by the ethical charter are currently Patrick de

Giovanni for Apax Partners SA and Hervé Descazeaux for Apax Partners MidMarket SAS.
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3. Information regarding share capital

3.1 Amount of capital

Following the exercising of the March and September 2008 BSAs and the partial payment of the 2007 dividend
in shares, the share capital was €219,259,626 at 31 December 2008.

It is divided into 36,512,301 ordinary shares each with a par value of €6 and 18,582 preferred shares (called 
“B shares”) each with par value of €10.

The preferred shares do not carry a voting right.

Distribution of capital and voting rights at 31 December 2008

Shareholders Number % of Number % of Number of % of voting
of shares capital of shares capital voting rights rights

at 31/12/07 at 31/12/07 at 31/12/08 at 31/12/08 at 31/12/08 at 31/12/08

Shareholders having declared 
a crossing of a threshold

Maurice Tchenio and related companies 3,246,808 > 10% 7,259,823 > 15% 7,259,823 > 15%

Other partners of Apax Partners 299,890 < 5% 900,866 < 5% 900,866 < 5%

Invesco 866,605 < 5% N/A < 5% 866,605 < 5%

Altium Capital

Sycomore Asset Management 1,578,917 > 5% 3,508,448 > 5% 3,508,448 > 5% 

Fidelity Investments International 1,296,956 < 5% N/A < 5% N/A < 5%

Aviva

Schroders Plc 945,553 < 5% N/A < 5% N/A < 5%

Adelphi 900,000 < 5% N/A < 5% N/A < 5%

AGF 494,000 < 5% N/A < 5% N/A < 5%

SPGP 545,000 < 5% N/A < 5% N/A < 5%

Henderson 613,727 < 5% N/A < 5% N/A < 5%

Moneta 539,232 < 5% N/A < 5% N/A < 5%

Registered shares: 3,799,321 12.83% 7,531,779 20.63% 7,531,779 20.63%

Non-registered public sector 
(including shareholders having 
declared a crossing of a threshold) 25,820,998 87.17% 28,980,522 79.37% 79.37%

Total ordinary shares 29,620,319 99.84% 36,512,301 99.84% 36,512,301 100.00%

B Shares 18,582 0.06% 18,582 0.06% 18,582

Grand total 29,638,901 100.00% 36,530,883 100.00% 36,530,883 100.00%

N/A = Non Available

Maurice Tchenio, either directly or through the companies that he controls (MMG SAS, Apax Partners SA and Apax
Partners SNC), resident at 45 Avenue Kléber, 75116 Paris, as well as the other partners of Apax Partners,
exceeded the 20% threshold on 29 September 2008. Note that after this date, Apax Partners SNC absorbed 
MMG SAS.

In a letter to the AMF dated 1 October 2008, Maurice Tchenio and the partners of Apax Partners SA made the
following declaration:
“The Partners of Apax Partners, who hold 22.35% of Altamir Amboise, hereby declare that they do not have any
intention to appreciably increase their total equity stake in the company in the months to come.”

Sycomore Asset Management notified the Company on 16 March 2009 that it fell below the 10% threshold on 
30 September 2008. Subsequently, Sycomore Asset Management notified the Company on 19 March 2009 that
it fell below the 5% threshold on 17 March 2009. 
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During the financial year

A table tracing the development of the company’s capital from the time of its incorporation until 31 December

2008 is shown in Paragraph 3.2 of this Registration Document.

As far as the company is aware, there are no other shareholders holding 5% or more of the capital and voting

rights either directly, indirectly or in concert.

The company held 52,010 treasury shares on 31 December 2008. Thus, under the liquidity agreement entrusted

by the company to Royal Bank of Scotland, the following were the resources held in the liquidity account: 52,010

shares and €172,617.46 in cash.

Pursuant to the European Transparency Directive, shares directly held by the issuer or through a liquidity agree-

ment are no longer deducted from the total number of shares used to calculate threshold crossings.

Moreover, there are no shares with double voting rights.

List of B shareholders:

Current partners of Apax Partners SA:

Martine Clavel, Monique Cohen, Hervé Descazeaux, Patrick de Giovanni, Edgar Misrahi, Bertrand Pivin, Jean-

Louis Rambaud, Gilles Rigal, Claude Rosevègue, Maurice Tchenio. 

Former partners:
Laurent Ganem, Alan Patricof.

Shares held by members of the administrative, executive or supervisory bodies:

Name Position Number of Number of 
ordinary B shares

shares

Maurice Tchenio Chief Executive of the Management Team 7,259,823 4,432

Monique Cohen Deputy Managing Director of the Management Team 55,728 897

Joël Séché Chairman of the Supervisory Board 132,343

Charles Hochman Member of the Supervisory Board 57,331

Jean Besson Member of the Supervisory Board 43,693

Alain Afflelou Member of the Supervisory Board 0

Philippe Santini Member of the Supervisory Board 1

Fernand-Luc Buffelard Member of the Supervisory Board 59,071

Gérard Hascoët Member of the Supervisory Board 25,364

Jean-Hugues Loyez Member of the Supervisory Board 8,196

Jacques Veyrat Member of the Supervisory Board 12,804

As far as the company is aware, no pledge, collateral or surety has been given on the shares of the company.

>
 A

D
D

IT
IO

N
A

L
 I

N
F

O
R

M
A

T
IO

N
  



3.2 Development of Altamir Amboise capital

Date Operation Number of shares Par value in Issue Share capital
before after Francs/Euros premium Francs/Euros

1993 Incorporation 2,500 100 FF 0 250,000 FF 

(€15.2) (€38,112)

16/05/95 Drawdown of capital 2,500 100 FF 0 250,000 FF 

(€15.2) (€38,112)

16/05/95 Capital increase 2,500 500 100 FF 0 300,000 FF 

(€15.2) (€45,735)

01/06/95 Rise in par value 3,000 3 100,000 FF 0 300,000 FF

(€15.245) (€45,735)

01/06/95 Capital increase 3 15 100,000 FF 0 1,500,000 FF 

(€15.245) (€228,673)

30/11/95 Capital increase 15 815 100,000 FF 0 81,500,000 FF

(€15.245) (€12,424,595)

22/04/98 Division of par value 815 101,875 800 FF 0 81,500,000 FF

(€121.96) (€12,424,595)

07/07/98 Capital Increase 101,875 313,875 800 FF 250 FF 251,100,000 FF

(€121.96) (€38.11) (€38,279,948)

31/07/99 Capital increase through 313,875 314,696 800 FF 0 251,756,800 FF

exercising of BSAs (€121.96) (€38,380,077)

28/04/00 Capital increase through 314,696 320.770 800 FF 0 256,616,000 FF

exercising of BSAs (€121.96) (€39,121,109)

30/06/00 Capital increase through 320,770 490,361 800 FF 250 FF 392,288,800 FF

exercising of ORAs (€121.96) (€38.11) (€59,804,427)

20/12/00 Capital increase through 490,361 532,824 800 FF 0 426,259,200 FF

exercising of BSAs (€121.96) (€64,982,796.12)

22/01/01 Conversion of capital into euros 532,824 532,824 €122 0 €65,004,528

by allocation from the carried 

forward account balance and 

increase of capital

12/04/02 Capital reduction through charge 532,824 532,824 €100 0 €53,282,400

to the loss carried forward account 

– reduction of par value.

28/06/06 Capital increase following 532,824 539,041 €100 €67 €53,904,100

part-payment of 2005 dividend 

in shares

30/11/06 Capital increase following 539,041 539,041 €100

the merger with ordinary ordinary

Société Européenne Kléber shares shares €53,990,330

Creation of 8,623 B preferred 8,623 €10

shares without voting right B shares

04/06/07 Capital increase by capitalisation 539,041 18,968,897 €6

of issue premium and raising ordinary ordinary

of the par value of the ordinary shares shares

shares to €102, followed by division 

of the shares at a ratio of 17 new 

shares with a par value of €6 €113,999,202

for each prior share.

Capital increase following the merger 8,623 18,582 €10

with Amboise Investissement B shares B shares

– creation of 9,805,200  shares 

and 9,958 B preferred shares

without voting right
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Date Operation Number of shares Par value in Issue Share capital
before after Francs/Euros premium Francs/Euros

10/07/07 Capital increase 18,968,897 29,638,901 €6
in cash ordinary ordinary

shares shares €178,019,226

18,582 18,582 €10

B shares B shares

31/03/08 Capital increase in cash 29,638,901 31,776,725 €6

following the exercising ordinary ordinary

of 360,021 “March 2008” BSAs shares shares €190,846,170

18,582 18,582 €10

B shares B shares

21/05/08 Partial payment of dividend 31,776,725 33,064,680 €6

in shares ordinary ordinary

shares shares €198,573,900

18,582 18,582 €10

B shares B shares

29/09/08 Capital increase in cash 33,064,680 36,512,301 €6

following the exercising ordinary ordinary

of 13,159,873 “September 2008” BSAs  shares shares €219,259,626

18,582 18,582 €10

B shares B shares

3.3 B share subscription warrants 

The Extraordinary Meeting on 30 November 2006 decided to issue 17,246 B share warrants 

The Extraordinary General Meeting on 4 June 2007 decided to issue 19,918 new B warrants comparable to the

previous 17,246 B share warrants.

Subscription to these B warrants is reserved for the Company’s Managing Director and the company Apax

Partners & Cie Gérance. Their purpose is to enable the Director, by exercising these warrants and retroceding

the relevant shares to the members of the management team, to modify the allotment of B shares between its

members according to the need to rebalance this allotment.

The buying and selling of these B warrants, if it takes place, will not under any circumstances result in an

increase in the overall entitlement of B shares to the Altamir Amboise profits, which is definitively set at 18%,

and will therefore have no impact on the rights of holders of ordinary shares.

The General Meetings set out the conditions for the issuing of the B warrants as follows. The implementation of

some of these conditions is also shown.

3.3.1 Subscription to the B warrants

Subscription period of the B warrants

Subscriptions to the B warrants were recorded at the Company’s registered office from 30 November 2006 to 

30 December 2006 at 18:00 inclusive for the first 17,246 B warrants and to 30 June 2007 at 18:00 for the second

19,918.

These B warrants were effectively subscribed on 1 December 2006 and 30 June 2007 respectively. 

Issue price, subscription method and drawdown of the B warrants

The B warrants were issued at the price of €0.10 per warrant. Their price was fully paid-up. 
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3.3.2 Body of holders of B warrants

The holders of the B warrants form de facto a body having legal personality in accordance with Article L. 228-
103 of the French Commercial Code.

A representative will be appointed by the General Meeting of the holders.

Without restriction or reservation, this representative will have the power to accomplish all acts of management
in defence of the interests of the holder(s) of B warrants.

3.3.3 Characteristics of the B warrants

Form of the B warrants

B warrants are issued in registered form. Their title results from registration in an account in the name of their
holder. 

Transfer of B warrants

Pursuant to Paragraph 10.2 of the Bylaws, B warrants may be transferred by their holder only:

1- to the manager 

2- to the Company’s investment advisory company as mentioned in the Internal Rules (Apax Partners SA);

3- to natural persons holding a company mandate or an employment contract with one of the persons mentioned
in 1 and 2 above;

4- to any civil company composed exclusively of persons mentioned in 1, 2 and 3 above;

5- to the company itself, under the conditions provided for by law and the Bylaws.

Any transfer of B warrants shall automatically entail the transfer of all rights and obligations attached thereto,
and shall require the new holder to comply with all terms and conditions regarding the issue and exercising of
B warrants.

3.3.4 Conditions applicable to the exercising of B warrants

Period for exercising B warrants

B warrants may be exercised at any moment, on one or more occasions, during a period of ten years from the
date of their issue, i.e. until 29 November 2016 at 18:00 inclusive.

B warrants not exercised within this period shall automatically become void.

Terms and conditions applicable to the exercise of the B warrants and to the subscription of the shares

The exercising of B warrants and the subscription to new category B shares by exercising the B warrants shall
be confirmed by signing a subscription form, and the holders shall pay the subscription price of the shares
immediately in full, by payment in cash and/or by offsetting against one or more unquestionable, liquid and
payable accounts receivable held against the Company.

The issuing of shares and the increasing of capital shall be definitively realised through exclusively by exercising
the B warrants and paying the subscription price for the shares.

Subscription price for B shares, nature and number of B shares to which the B warrants carry entitlement

Each B shall entitle its holder to subscribe to one new category B preferred share, at a subscription price of €10
per share.

3.3.5 Capital increase

As a consequent of the issue of the B warrants, the General Meeting of 30 November 2006 authorised the
management team to increase the share capital by a maximum sum of €172,460 corresponding to a maximum
number of 17,246 category B preferred shares each with a par value of €10, by exercising all or part of the B
warrants issued – to which may be added any shares intended to ensure that the rights of holders of B warrants
are upheld in accordance with the law and these resolutions. 
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The General Meeting of 4 June 2007 authorised the management team to increase the share capital by a
maximum sum of €199,180 corresponding to a maximum number of 19,918 category B preferred shares each
with a par value of €10, by exercising all or part of the B warrants issued – to which may be added any shares
intended to ensure that the rights of holders of B warrants are upheld in accordance with the law and these
resolutions. 

Subscriptions may be paid in cash or by offsetting against unquestionable, liquid and payable accounts receiv-
able held against the Company.

In accordance with Article L 225-132 of the French Commercial Code, the General Meetings noted that this
decision to issue B warrants automatically entails the relinquishment by the shareholders of their preferential
right to subscribe to shares deriving from the exercising of the entirety of the subscription rights attached to the
B warrants, to which may be added any shares intended to ensure that the rights of the holders of B warrants
are upheld in accordance with the law and the resolutions adopted by this Meeting.

3.3.6 Entitlement of shares resulting from the exercise of B warrants

The new category B preferred shares subscribed by exercising the B warrants, which will be subject to all the
provisions of the Bylaws applicable to B shares and to all legal and statutory measures applicable to preferred
shares, particularly Articles L 228-11 et seq. of the French Commercial Code, shall be created with entitlement
from the first day of the calendar quarter during which they were issued. Consequently, they will have the right
to 25%, 50%, 75% or 100% of dividends, as applicable, which will be distributed to the former B shares for the
financial year during which they were issued.

3.3.7 Protection of holders of B warrants

As long as the B warrants remain valid, the rights of holders will be protected in accordance with the applicable
legislative and regulatory provisions, particularly those of Articles L 228-98 et seq. of the French Commercial
Code and Articles 242-8 et seq. of Order No 67-236 of 23 March 1967 on commercial companies.

3.4 “March 2008” BSAs

The Combined General Meeting of 26 April 2006 gave the Management authorisation to decide on one or more
increases in capital through the issuing of ordinary shares of the Company in euros or of any marketable securi-
ties giving access, by any means, immediately and/or in the future, to ordinary shares of the Company. This
authorisation was given for twenty-six months from the date of that Meeting.

This resolution gave rise to the issuing in January 2007 of 539,041 BSAs (the “March 2008 BSAs”) allocated free
of charge to holders of ordinary shares.
These BSAs entitled the holder to subscribe to one new ordinary share of €100 for 3 warrants.
Considering the multiplication of the number of ordinary shares by 17, the General Meeting of 4 June 2007
decided to adjust the number of ordinary shares to which these BSAs entitled the holder to subscribe, so that
now three (3) March 2008 BSAs would entitle the holder to subscribe to seventeen (17) new ordinary shares with
a par value of €6.

For the application of the adjustment clause, see below.

360,021 BSAs were exercised for €6 each, entailing the creation of 2,137,824 new shares with a par value of €6.

Their original exercise parity was 1 share with a par value of €100 for 3 BSAs.

The increase in the par value of the Altamir & Cie share to €102 through capitalisation of the issue premium,
followed by the division of the Altamir & Cie share by 17, led initially to bringing this parity to 17 shares with a
par value of €6 for 3 BSAs.

The capital increase with maintenance of the preferential subscription right realised subsequently by the issue
of 10,670,004 new shares at a unit price of €11.25 led to a second adjustment determined on the basis of the ratio
between the value of the subscription right and the value of the ex-right share.



For the calculation of this ratio, the value of the ex-right share and the value of the subscription right were deter-

mined on the basis of the average market price, weighted by trading volumes on the Eurolist exchange of

Euronext Paris for all trading days included within the subscription period, i.e. from 21 to 27 June 2007.

Date of market listing Weighted average price Weighted average price
Ex-right share Subscription right

21/06/2007 12.96 0.93

22/06/2007 12.40 0.71

25/06/2007 12.45 0.61

26/06/2007 11.82 -

27/06/2007 11.56 0.11

Average 12.238 0.59

Adjustment ratio 0.048

The application of this adjustment ratio of 0.048 to the parity of 17 shares per 3 BSAs led to the setting of the new

exercise parity of 17.816 shares per 3 “March 2008” BSAs.

The application of this adjustment ratio of 0.048 to the parity of 1 share per 4 BSAs led to the setting of the new

exercise parity of 1.048 shares per 4 “September 2008” BSAs.

3.5 “September 2008” BSAs

At the time of its stock-market introduction, Amboise Investissement had issued Shares with Share Subscrip-

tion Warrants (ABSA) comprising 2 BSAs for one share.

The merger operations with Altamir & Cie resulted in the following specifications:

- Detachment and separate listing of these BSAs on 5 June 2007 under ISIN code FR0010307611.

- Exercise period for the BSAs: from 15 to 19 September 2008.

- Four (4) “September 2008” BSAs carrying the right to subscribe to one new share with a par value of €6. 

- The maximum capital increase generated by the exercising of all the “September 2008” BSAs is 4,902,600 new

Altamir Amboise shares, equivalent to €29,415,600.

- All the technical and legal characteristics of the “March 2008” BSAs are applicable to the “September 2008”

BSAs, except for the dates and quotas.

Taking into account the applied merger parity of 1 Altamir Amboise share with a par value of €6 per Amboise

Investissement share, the exercise parity of 1 Amboise Investissement share for 4 warrants was changed to an

exercise parity of 1 Altamir Amboise share for 4 warrants.

The capital increase subsequently carried out by Altamir Amboise then gave rise, as in the case of the “March

2008” BSAs, to the need to adjust this parity by a factor of 0.048 (see above for the March 2008 BSAs).

13,159,873 BSAs were exercised for €6 each, entailing the creation of 3,447,621 new shares with a par value of €6.
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3.6 Use of equity capital at 31 December 2008 

Use of equity capital € millions

Investments made at 31 December 2008
(net of provisions) 257.1

New investments at 31 January 2009 2.1

Receipts received at 31 January 2009 0

Investment commitments at 31 January 2009 3.5

Other net asset items -0.2

Capital available for commitments and reinvestment 
in portfolio companies and new companies -3.4

Equity capital at 31 December 2008 259.1

It should be noted that Altamir Amboise has a line of credit of €34.0 million that it can use up to 10% of the book

value of its net assets at 31 December 2008, i.e. €25.9 million.

This line of credit will expire on 22 July 2009, and negotiations are underway for a 12-month extension.

3.7 Authorised capital

3.7.1 Capital created from the exercising of the BSAs

Only the B warrants current at 31 December 2008 exist at this time.

The capital liable to be created by the exercising of these BSAs is €371,640.

3.7.2 Delegation of powers to the Manager to increase capital

The Extraordinary General Meeting held on 4 June 2007 decided to delegate powers to the Management to decide

to issue shares in the Company and/or securities giving access, immediately and/or in the future, to the capital

securities of the Company, with maintenance of the preferential subscription right and by means of a public

offering on one or more occasions, in the proportions and at the times of its choosing, in France and abroad, in

euros or in foreign currencies.

The powers thus granted to the Management are valid for a term of twenty-six months as of the date of the

General Meeting.

Within this framework, the Extraordinary General Meeting also:

• specified that issues of preferred shares or securities giving access immediately or in the future to preferred

shares are expressly excluded from this delegation of powers;

• decided that the total nominal amount of the capital increases liable to be carried out immediately and/or in

the future by virtue of this delegation of powers may not exceed €80,000,000, which amount may be increased,

as applicable, by the number of shares necessary for adjustments liable to be made in conformity with the appli-

cable legislative, regulatory or contractual provisions in order to preserve the rights of holders of securities

giving rights to shares in the Company;

• noted that the issuing of securities giving access to the capital by virtue of this delegation of powers shall

automatically entail, in favour of the holders of these securities giving access to the capital, the renunciation by

shareholders of their preemptive subscription rights to the equity securities to which these securities give access;

• decided that within the framework of an issue of securities with maintenance of the preemptive subscription

right, the shareholders may exercise, under the conditions stipulated by law, their irreducible preemptive

subscription right to the capital securities and/or securities whose issue was decided by the Management by

virtue of the present delegation of powers. In addition, the Management shall have the option to confer on share-

holders the right to subscribe reducibly to a number of securities greater than that to which they could subscribe

irreducibly, proportionally to the subscription rights at their disposal and in any event within the limit of their

requests;

>
 A

D
D

IT
IO

N
A

L
 I

N
F

O
R

M
A

T
IO

N
  



• noted that if the reducible and any irreducible subscriptions have not absorbed an entire issue of shares of

securities, the Management may use, in the order to be determined at its own discretion, one of the options

cited below, in conformity with Articles L 225-134 of the Commercial Code:

- limit the issue to the amount of the subscriptions, on condition that it reaches at least three-fourths of the

amount of the issue decided on,

- freely distribute all or part of the unsubscribed securities among persons of its choosing, in particular by

offering these securities to the public in France and, as applicable, abroad;

• gives all powers to the Management to set the dates and amounts of the issues, determine the conditions and

forms of the securities to be created, make any adjustments required in conformity with legal and regulatory

provisions in force, particularly with regard to the rights attached to subscription warrants issued by the company,

and generally take all useful measures and enter into any agreements with a view to the successful completion

of the proposed issues, all in accordance with laws and regulations in force;

• also gives all powers to the Management to make any modifications to the Bylaws that may be rendered neces-

sary by the use of this delegation;

• notes that this delegation voids any prior delegation having the same purpose.

The Management used this authorisation to carry out a capital increase on 11 July 2007.

The total amount of the issue, including the issue premium, was €120,037,545 (nominal value of €64,020,024 and

issue premium of €56,017,521), corresponding to the product obtained by multiplying the number of new shares

issued, i.e. 10,670,004, by the subscription price of one new share, i.e. €11.25 (nominal value of €6 and issue

premium of €5.25).

The manager does not intend to use its delegation of powers for the unused portion of €15,979,976. 

3.8 Performance of the Altamir Amboise share

Month Number Average High Date of Low Date of Last Capital in Market Average
of shares closing High Low thousands days capital in

price of euros thousands
of euros

January 08 4,639,768 6.99 9.05 02/01/08 5.07 24/01/08 6.61 28,243 22 1,283.7

February 08 3,434,575 7.27 7.90 05/02/08 6.56 21/02/08 6.75 25,177 21 1,198.9

March 08 910,758 6.31 6.78 25/03/08 5.90 17/03/08 6.36 5,750 19 302.6

April 08 732,921 6.96 7.51 21/04/08 6.40 01/04/08 7.20 5,135 22 233.5

May 08 959,342 7.36 7.82 02/05/08 6.90 21/05/08 7.10 6,977 21 332.2

June 08 942,871 6.71 7.20 06/06/08 6.11 30/06/08 6.50 6,250 21 297.6

July 08 802,399 6.34 6.65 31/07/08 5.90 08/07/08 6.50 5,049 23 219.5

August 08 654,189 6.30 6.61 07/08/08 5.90 25/08/08 6.14 4,065 21 193.5

September 08 1,069,783 6.06 6.51 04/09/08 4.95 30/09/08 5.45 6,502 22 295.5

October 08 1,303,364 4.11 5.67 02/10/08 2.99 27/10/08 3.13 5,452 23 237.0

November 08 484,866 3.45 3.90 04/11/08 3.00 24/11/08 3.10 1,660 20 83.0

December 08 1,619,366 2.72 3.15 01/12/08 2.50 30/12/08 2.53 4,356 21 207.4

January 09 881,894 2.49 2.89 06/01/09 2.06 26/01/09 2.28 2,246 21 106.9

February 09 732,105 2.61 2.90 09/02/09 2.23 02/02/09 2.49 1,936 20 96.8

Source: Euronext

3.9 Shareholders’ agreement

None.
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3.10 Market for Altamir Amboise shares

At 31 December 2008, and since 7 June 2007, the Altamir Amboise shares were traded on Compartment B of the

Eurolist exchange of NYSE Euronext Paris. Prior to the merger with Amboise Investissement, they were listed in

Compartment C.  

Given the decrease in capitalisation, NYSE Euronext notified the company on 21 January 2009 that it would be

transferred back to Compartment C.

3.11 Dividends of the ordinary shareholders

Dividends are paid at the times and places designated by the Management within a maximum period of nine

months from the close of the financial year, subject to any extension of this period by the courts.

In accordance with legal provisions, dividends not claimed within a period of five years from their release for

payment shall be barred by limitation and revert to the State.

The Company did not pay any dividend for the financial years 2002, 2003 and 2004, and paid a dividend of €3.50

per share, i.e. a total of €1,864,884 for the financial year 2005.

The General Meeting of 4 June 2007 voted to pay a dividend of €10.00 per ordinary share for the financial year

2006.

The General Meeting of 3 April 2008 voted to pay a dividend of €0.20 per share.

For the B shares, please refer to the sections on “Remuneration of the General Partner” and “Remuneration of

the B shareholders”.

3.12 Undertaking by the founders

3.12.1 Ordinary shares held by the founders

The founding directors of Altamir Amboise are the current General Partner and the holders of B shares. The

number of ordinary shares that they hold is indicated in section 3.1 above.

3.12.2 Commitments to retain shares

There is no longer any commitment on the part of the partner directors of Apax Partners SA to retain shares.

3.13 Service contracts

3.13.1 Investment advisory agreement

The Company’s manager Apax Partners & Cie Gérance and Apax Partners SA entered into an investment advisory

agreement on 2 January 1996, which provided for Apax Partners SA to supply the services summarised below

to Apax Partners & Cie Gérance:

- advice relating to operations for the investment and disinvestment of assets of the Company in accordance

with the latter’s investment policy;

- provision of consultancy or services, as the case may be, to companies and other entities in the portfolio of the

company;

- assistance in calculating the values of the equity holdings of Altamir.

This advisory agreement was terminated on 30 November 2006, on which date an investment advisory agreement

in similar terms was concluded directly between Altamir, now Altamir Amboise, and Apax Partners SA.
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This investment advisory agreement, the conclusion of which was authorised by the Supervisory Board of the

Company at its meeting of 12 October 2006, therefore provides for Apax Partners SA to supply Altamir Amboise

directly with the services mentioned above that had previously been supplied to its manager.

This agreement is remunerated by the payment of a sum equivalent to 95% of the amount of the remuneration

of the manager as provided for in the Bylaws, with the stipulation that, owing to the modification of the Internal

Regulations adopted by the General Meeting of 30 November 2006, any sum paid by Altamir Amboise to Apax

Partners under this contract is accordingly deducted from the remuneration due to the manager.

This modification of the contractual structure therefore has no financial impact on the Company or its share-

holders.

This investment advisory agreement was concluded for an indefinite period. However, either of the parties may

terminate it prematurely and automatically if the other party has breached any its obligations arising therefrom

and has not remedied such breach within thirty days of receiving formal notice of this fact.

3.13.2 Accounting assistance agreement

Altamir, now Altamir Amboise, and the company Apax Partners SNC concluded an accounting assistance agree-

ment on 2 January 1996. This contract provides for the supply by Apax Partners SNC of a full range of services

relating to the keeping of the Company’s accounts and compliance with its obligations to make accounting, finan-

cial and tax declarations. Pursuant to Paragraph 3 of this contract, codicil No. 1 was drawn up on 1 January

1999, bringing the remuneration of Apax Partners SNC to €18,296 p.a. excluding taxes. 

Codicil No. 2, drawn up in 2008, takes account of the substantial increase in the resources at the Company’s

disposal and of the merger with Amboise Investissement. It increases this amount to €200,000 p.a. excluding

taxes.

3.13.3 Co-investment charter

It is recalled that the Company entered into a co-investment charter with Apax Partners SA on 23 April 2007, the

main characteristics of which are set out below.

Any modification of this charter must be authorised by the Supervisory Board, deciding on the basis of a report

from the Management, by a two-thirds majority of the votes of members present or represented.

Co-investment charter between Altamir Amboise and Apax Partners SA: 

Without making any essential changes to the principle and rules in effect since 1996 governing the Altamir

Amboise co-investment with the FCPRs managed by Apax Partners SA, the Manager of Altamir considered it

opportune, at the time of the merger with Amboise Investissement, to formalise them in a Co-investment Charter

entered into with Apax Partners SA.

This charter, the conclusion of which was authorised by the meeting of the Altamir Supervisory Board held on

23 April 2007, essentially recapitulated the terms of the co-investment charter that had been adopted between

Amboise Investissement and Apax Partners SA prior to its stock-market introduction in March 2006.

It is organised around the following major principles:

1- Each investment made by FCPR Apax France VII is shared between FCPR Apax France VII and Altamir Amboise

according to the co-investment percentage determined on the basis of the provisional amount of the sums liable

to be devoted to new investments by each entity.

The co-investment percentages until 31 December 2008 were 57% for FCPR Apax France VII and 43% for Altamir

Amboise.

These percentages are reviewed on the first day of each calendar half-year according to the changes in the

respective projected liquid assets of FCPR Apax France VIII and of Altamir, subject to control by the Altamir
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Amboise auditors. Changes to the percentage of co-investment by Altamir Amboise will be published at the time

of publication of its Net Asset Value on the last day of the preceding calendar half-year.

2- Apax Partners SA undertakes to offer Altamir Amboise the opportunity to participate pari passu, in the amount

of the aforementioned percentage, in any new investment or in any disinvestment made by FCPR Apax France

VII.

3- Altamir Amboise intends to make every investment in which Apax Partners has offered it an opportunity to

participate with FCPR Apax France VII. However, the decision as to whether or not to make such an investment

shall remain the responsibility of its Manager, which may decide not to participate in such an investment after

having received the consultative advice of the Supervisory Board of Altamir Amboise.

Altamir Amboise shall not make any investment or disinvestment other that those proposed by Apax Partners

SA (subscribing to or acquiring financial instruments within the context of cash management is not regarded as

making an investment). An exception shall be made if the proposed disinvestment is essential to ensure Altamir’s

compliance with the ratios applicable to SCRs.

4- Altamir Amboise shall make any partial or total disinvestment in which Apax Partners proposes that it partic-

ipate; at the time of such disinvestment, the disposal shall be realised in proportion to the respective equity

holdings of Altamir Amboise and the FCPRs managed by Apax Partners SA.

5- Equally, in the case of reinvestment, the distribution percentage of such a reinvestment between Altamir

Amboise and the relevant FCPR managed by Apax Partners SA shall be the percentage applied at the time of the

initial investment (and not the percentage in effect on the date of the reinvestment, if that percentage is different).

6- Expenses of any kind incurred in the making or disposal of investments (e.g. due diligence expenses, lawyers’

fees, etc.) shall be paid in the same proportions by Altamir Amboise, including when these expenses relate to

projects that did not result in an investment being made. The same shall apply to any civil liability insurance

expenses of the administrators and corporate officers of the companies in the portfolio who are appointed on the

recommendation of Apax Partners, and to any sums charged to them if their personal liability is invoked, except

in case of grave or serious fault on their part.

7- Apax Partners SA may not recommend to Altamir Amboise to participate in an acquisition of securities in an

FCPR that it manages under a cash-and-carry arbitrage of less than six months or by implementation of the

precautions necessary to ensure the independent character of the transaction, such as the concomitant involve-

ment of a third-party investor for at least 25% of the new round of investment, within the framework of an invita-

tion to tender procedure, or the involvement of an independent expert providing an opinion on the price of the

transaction.

This charter took effect on 4 June 2007, the date of final completion of the merger between Altamir and Amboise

Investissement. 

It was also agreed between Apax Partners SA and Altamir Amboise, with the consent of the latter’s Supervisory

Board, that when an initial investment is not definitively structured until the expiry of a certain period (as in the

case, for example, in the acquisition of a block of securities in a market-listed company (e.g. Prosodie), resulting

in an obligatory tender offer and, as applicable, a withdrawal of the listing or a syndication), then the co-invest-

ment percentage used shall be that existing at the time when the initial global investment is definitively set.

No co-investment charter is planned between Altamir Amboise and Apax Partners MidMarket SAS, inasmuch

as Altamir Amboise will subscribe directly to the APAX FR VIII (B) Fund managed by this company. 

3.14 Remuneration of the directors, the General Partner and the B shareholders

3.14.1 Remuneration of the Manager

Pursuant to Article 17.1 of the Company’s Bylaws, the Manager receives an annual remuneration, excluding

taxes, equal to the sum of two half-yearly remuneration amounts, calculated in the following manner:
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• Remuneration for the first calendar half-year: this is equal to 1% of the higher of the following two bases at

the close of the previous financial year:

- Share capital plus premiums;

- Shareholders’ equity of the company before the appropriation of profits.

Where a capital increase is made during the first half of the financial year in question, the remuneration for the

first half-year will be increased by a sum equal to 1%, excluding taxes, of the capital increase made and of the

associated premiums pro rata temporis over the half-year, from the date of the capital increase until the close

of the first half of the financial year in question.

• Remuneration for the second calendar half-year: this is equal to 1% of the higher of the following two bases

at 30 June of the financial year in question:

- Share capital plus premiums; 

- Shareholders’ equity of the company before the appropriation of profits.

Where a capital increase is made during the second half of the financial year in question, the remuneration for

the second half-year will be increased by a sum equal to 1%, excluding taxes, of the capital increase made and

of the associated premiums pro rata temporis over the half-year, from the date of the capital increase until the

close of the second half of the financial year in question.

A percentage (corresponding to the share of the Company) of the total of all fees, attendance fees and commis-

sions paid to the Manager or to the company Apax Partners within the scope of transactions concerning the

Company’s assets and of those paid by the companies of the portfolio is deducted from the Manager’s remuner-

ation.

However, fees and reimbursements of expenses arising from the provision of salaried management staff by Apax

Partners, for the benefit of the companies in the portfolio, are not deducted from the Manager’s remuneration.

The remuneration received by the Manager will cover the administrative and office expenses required for

management of the Company, charges for intervention by Apax Partners and any other investment advisors, and

all expenses associated with the research and monitoring of investments made by the Company.

The Manager’s remuneration is paid in four quarterly instalments payable at the start of each calendar quarter,

each for a sum equal to 25% of the total remuneration paid during the financial year n-1. The total annual

remuneration, determined in accordance with the above provisions, shall be paid in full at the end of the fourth

quarter of the financial year concerned.

Any additional remuneration of the Manager must be decided by the Ordinary General Meeting with the agree-

ment of the General Partner.

Until 30 November 2006, 95% of the Manager’s remuneration was repaid to Apax Partners SA, pursuant to the

investment advisory agreement concluded between them.

Since that time, in view of the replacement of this agreement by an investment advisory agreement made directly

between the Company and Apax Partners (see section 3.11 above), the remuneration received by the Manager

has been reduced by the amount of the sums paid by the Company to Apax Partners under this agreement.

The remuneration received by the Manager amounted to €335,709 excluding taxes for the year 2008. 

The remuneration of the Manager shall, moreover, be adjusted so that it is not added on to the amount billed by

Apax Partners MidMarket SAS to the Apax FR VIII (B) fund.

3.14.2 Remuneration of members of the Supervisory Board

In accordance with Article 21 of the Bylaws of the Company, the Supervisory Board may be allocated an annual

remuneration in the form of attendance fees, the amount of which is determined by the Ordinary General Meeting

and is maintained until such time as the General Meeting decides otherwise.
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The Board divides these attendance fees among its members in the proportions that it deems appropriate.

The amount of attendance fees authorised by the General Meeting on 3 April 2008 was €90,000.

It will be recommended to the General Meeting of 29 April 2009 to approve an equivalent amount of €90,000.

3.14.3 Remuneration of the General Partner 

The General Partner Apax Partners & Cie Gérance is a société anonyme (public limited company) owned by

Maurice Tchenio, Roland Tchenio, Ronald Cohen, Alan Patricof, Patrick de Giovanni and the companies Apax

Partners SA and MMG. Its management fees essentially served until 30 November 2006 to remunerate the invest-

ment consultancy company Apax Partners SA. As from 1 December 2007, the latter is remunerated directly by

the company, and the remuneration of the manager under the Bylaws was reduced accordingly. It has no

employees and does not pay any attendance fees.

Apax Partners & Cie Gérance has not distributed any dividend in the last three years.

Pursuant to Article 25 of the Bylaws, the General Partner is entitled for each financial year, as a dividend, to an

overall sum equal to 2% of the restated profit for that financial year. The method of calculating this restated

profit on the basis of the profit shown in the company accounts is set out in Paragraph 1.9 above.

The dividend paid to the Company’s General Partner Apax Partners & Cie Gérance for 2007 was €548,711.

On the basis of the 2008 accounts submitted for approval by the Ordinary General Meeting of 29 April 2009, no

dividend will be paid to Apax Partners & Cie Gérance for that financial year.

3.14.4 Remuneration of holders of B shares

Pursuant to Article 25 of the Bylaws, the holders of B shares are entitled for each financial year, as a dividend,

to a total sum equal to 18% of the restated profit for that financial year. The method of calculating this restated

profit on the basis of the profit shown in the company accounts is set out in Paragraph 1.9 above.

The holders of B shares in the Company are exclusively employees or directors of Apax Partners.

The dividend paid to the B shareholders for 2007 was €4,938,397.

On the basis of the 2008 accounts submitted to the Ordinary General Meeting on 29 April 2009 for approval, no

dividend will be paid to the B shareholders for that financial year.

The distributions for the last two years were made to the following persons:

B preferred shareholders:
- Alan Patricof

- Laurent Ganem

- Maurice Tchenio

- Eddie Misrahi

- Jean Louis Rambaud

- Bertrand Pivin

- Patrick De Giovanni

- Monique Cohen

- Hervé Descazeaux

- Gilles Rigal

- Claude Rosevègue

- Martine Clavel

for a total amount of €3,238,506 in 2007 and €4,938,397 in 2008.
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3.14.5 Summary of remuneration paid to the Management and to B shareholders

2006* 2007 2008

Management Fees excluding taxes 2,638,467 272,691 335,709

General Partner dividends 0 359,834 548,711

B shareholder dividends 0 3,238,506 4,938,397

of which

- Maurice Tchenio** 0 753,924 1,177,859

- Monique Cohen** 0 152,857 238,389

* Sum of Altamir + Amboise before merger.

** Shares held by Maurice Tchenio and Monique Cohen: page 135.

3.14.6 Tables of remunerations of corporate officers provided for by the AMF 

according to the AFEP/MEDEF recommendations of 6 October 2008

3.14.6.1 Summary of remunerations and of options and shares allocated to each executive officer

Not applicable.

3.14.6.2 Recap of remunerations of each corporate officer

Not applicable.

3.14.6.3 Table of attendance fees and other remunerations received by non-executive corporate officers

Non-executive corporate officers Amounts Amounts 
paid during paid during

the financial the financial 
year N - 1 year N

Attendance fees only

Alain Afflelou 5,600 none

Jean Besson(1) 11,000 13,800

Fernand-Luc Buffelard 5,600 6,900

Michel Combes 5,600 6,900

Gérard Hascoët(1) 11,000 13,800

Charles Hochman 5,600 6,900

Jean-Hugues Loyez 13,800

Philippe Santini 5,600 6,900

Joël Séché(2) 13,800

Jacques Veyrat 6,900

Total 50,000 89,700

(1) Member of the audit committee of Altamir and then of Altamir Amboise.

(2) Member of the audit committee of Amboise Investissement.

3.14.6.4 Subscription or share purchase options allocated during the year to each executive officer by the issuer
and by every company in the group

Not applicable

3.14.6.5. Subscription or share purchase options taken up during the year by each executive officer

Not applicable

3.14.6.6 Performance shares allocated to each corporate officer

Not applicable
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3.14.6.7 Performance shares having become available to each corporate officer

Not applicable

3.14.6.8 History of allocation of subscription or share purchase options
Information on the subscription or purchase options

Not applicable

3.14.6.9 Subscription or share purchase options granted to the top ten employees who are not corporate officers,
and options taken up by them

Not applicable

3.14.6.10 Allowances to executive officers

Not applicable

3.15 Fees of statutory auditors and members of their networks 
which are the responsibility of the group

Preliminary note: Altamir Amboise is a portfolio company, not a financial holding company. The fees paid by the

companies in the portfolio are therefore not included in the statement below.
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Ernst & Young and others Compagnie Deloitte Touche 
Member of Française d'Audit Tohmatsu Audit

Ernst & Young network Member of  Deloitte network
Amount exc. taxes % Amount exc. taxes % Amount exc. taxes %

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

Audit

Auditor, certification,

examination of individual and 

consolidated accounts

- Issuer 142,428.15   130,550.00   97% 100% 25,000.00   100% 95,500.00   100%

- Fully integrated subsidiaries

Other due diligence and services 5,000.00 3%

directly linked to the task of the 

auditor

- Issuer

- Fully integrated subsidiaries

Subtotal 147,428.15   130,550.00   100% 100% 25,000.00   100% 95,500.00   100%

Other services rendered by the 
networks to fully integrated 
subsidiaries

Legal, tax, employee-related

Others

Subtotal

Total 147,428.15   130,550.00   100% 100% 25,000.00   100% 95,500.00   100%



4. Corporate governance

4.1 Summary of the Company’s general operating rules

It is recalled that the Company, as a Limited Partnership by shares, has two categories of partners with very

different rights: 

• A General Partner, with unlimited liability for the company’s liabilities and whose rights are not freely trans-

ferable. The General Partner is the only partner who appoints and dismisses the Manager(s) who manage(s) the

Company;

• Limited partners (or shareholders), whose liability is limited to the amount of their contributions and whose

rights are represented by freely transferable shares. These shareholders are divided into two categories:

- the holders of ordinary shares, who have voting rights and therefore elect a Supervisory Board, whose role is

to monitor the Management of the Company;

- the holders preferred shares, who do not have voting rights.

Consequently, collective decisions require the approval both of the limited partners holding ordinary shares (who

vote at General Meetings) and of the General Partner. However, the appointment and dismissal of the members

of the Supervisory Board are under the sole authority of the limited partners holding ordinary shares, while the

appointment and dismissal of the Manager are under the sole authority of the General Partner. Moreover, the

appointment and dismissal of the auditors and observers, the distribution of dividends for the year, and the

approval of agreements subject to authorisation also fall under the sole authority of the limited partners holding

ordinary shares.

Finally, collective decisions modifying the rights of the limited partners holding B shares are also subject to the

approval of those partners at a special General Meeting.

The Manager has the widest powers to act in all circumstances in the name of the Company.

4.2 Manager, General Partner and Supervisory Board

4.2.1 Manager and General Partner

The General Partner of the Company, who is also its Manager, is Apax Partners & Cie Gérance SA, a French

société anonyme (public limited company) with capital of €40,000, having its registered offices at 45 avenue

Kléber, 75116 Paris.

The Managing Director of this company is Maurice Tchenio, and the Deputy Managing Director is Monique Cohen.

Their biographies appear in section 2.2 above.

Apax Partners & Cie Gérance SA holds no corporate office other than that of Manager of the Company.

To the Company's knowledge:

• Apax Partners & Cie Gérance SA has not been convicted of fraud during the last five years;

• it has not been associated with any bankruptcy, receivership or liquidation during the last five years;

• it has not been incriminated in or subject to any official public sanctions imposed by statutory or regulatory

authorities (including specific professional associations) during the last five years; and

• it has not been prohibited by any court from acting in the capacity of Member of an administrative, directive,

or supervisory body of an issuer, or from participating in the management or conduct of the business of an

issuer during the  last five years.
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4.2.2 The Supervisory Board  

The Company has a Supervisory Board whose members, at the date of this Update, are as follows:

• Mr Joël Séché* Chairman Les Hêtres – 53810 Changé, 

Chairman and Chief Executive France

Officer of Séché Environnement

• Mr Charles Hochman* Company administrator 19 rue Raynouard – 75016 Paris, 

France

• Mr Jean Besson** Chairman of the company IPG SA Résidence Saint Honoré 

179 rue Saint-Honoré

75001 Paris, France

• Mr Gérard Hascoët** Chairman of the Supervisory Board 10 Avenue du Colonel Bonnet

of Promed AG (Austria) 75016 Paris, France

• Mr Philippe Santini Manager of PHS Consultants 10 rue Maître Jacques

92100 Boulogne-Billancourt, France

• Mr Jean-Hugues Loyez* Chairman of A&A Partners SAS 9 rue de l’Eglise

7618 Taintignies - Belgium

* Independent member as defined by the Bouton Report.

** Independent member, but having held office for over 12 years.

We sadly note the death of Mr Fernand-Luc Buffelard, who passed away on 12 March 2009. He was originally

appointed as a member of the Board of Observers in 1996, then as a member of the Supervisory Board of Altamir

Amboise in 2004. Mr Buffelard was Chairman of BRD Finance and of Dom Hygiène Industrie. 

Mr Joël Séché (53 years old) was elected to the Supervisory Board of the Company on 4 June 2007, until the end

of the Ordinary General Meeting called to approve the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2008. He had

previously been a member of the Supervisory Board of Amboise Investissement. He studied at the Science Faculty

of Rennes. In 1981, following his father’s death, he took over the family public works business, which employed

some twenty people. From 1985 onwards, he positioned the company’s activities in the growth markets of environ-

mental management and waste treatment (initially domestic and similar, then industrial as of 1994) with the

creation of Laval Services, which later became Séché Eco-Industries, a subsidiary of the holding company Séché

Environnement, in 1997. He is the majority shareholder of this company, whose rapid growth allowed him to

enter the Second Marché of the Paris stock exchange (currently Compartment B of Euronext Eurolist) in 1997,

to acquire Alcor, a subsidiary of Caisse des Dépôts et Consignations, in 2001, and to buy back Trédi Environ-

nement in July 2002. The Séché Group currently manages about twenty sites located throughout the territory of

France and has approximately 1,600 employees. In March 2007, Séché Environnement acquired a 33% stake in

the Saur company. Joël Séché has been Executive President of Saur since May 2008.

Mr Charles Hochman (80 years old) was elected to the Supervisory Board of the Company on 16 April 1996, and

his term of office was renewed on 4 June 2007 for two years, until the end of the Ordinary General Meeting called

to approve the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2008. Charles Hochman is a Director of Les Arts

Décoratifs, Hermes Japon, Saint Honoré Bangkok and Hermes Greater China, and also Manager of Domaine de

Mirail GFA and of the real estate company of Domaine de Mirail. 

Mr Jean Besson (65 years old) was elected to the Supervisory Board of the Company on 16 April 1996, and was

re-elected most recently on 4 April 2007 for a two-year term, until the end of the ordinary shareholders' meeting

called to approve the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2008. Jean Besson is the Chairman and CEO of

the company IPG SARL and Deputy Director of TQM SA. 
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Mr Gérard Hascoët (59 years old) was elected to the Board of Observers on 16 April 1996, then to the Supervi-

sory Board of the Company on 28 April 2004. His term was renewed on 3 April 2008 for two years, until the end

of the Ordinary General Meeting called to approve the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2009. Gérard

Hascoët is a graduate of the École Centrale d’Électronique de Paris. He was a member of the Management

Committee of CGR Ultrasonic, then Founder and Chairman and Chief Executive Officer successively of

Technomed International, of IMMI, and of Sometec. He has also been Chairman and CEO of Spine Vision since

2007, of Valtronic Technologies since 2006, and of Pro-Med since 2002. 

Mr Philippe Santini (65 years old) was elected to the Supervisory Board of the Company on 26 April 2006. His term

of office was renewed on 3 April 2008 for a period of two years, until the end of the Ordinary General Meeting

called to approve the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2009. Philippe Santini is a graduate of the IEP

de Paris and of the Management Development Programme of Harvard Business School. He also holds a graduate

degree in humanities and English, and a postgraduate degree in humanities. He was General Manager of the

Havas Group and then Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Aprovia (trade press) since 2003, and has been

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Groupe Industries Services Info (GISI) since 2004. 

Mr Jean-Hugues Loyez (59 years old) was elected to the Supervisory Board of the Company on 4 June 2007,

until the end of the Ordinary General Meeting called to approve the accounts for the year ended 31 December

2008. Previously, he had been a member of the Supervisory Board of Amboise Investissement. A graduate of the

IBM Institute, he has spent his entire career with the Castorama Group, where he was Chief Executive Officer

from 1984 to 1992 and Chairman and Chief Executive Officer from 1992 to 2002. Since 2002, he has been a private

investor and "business angel". He is the Chairman of A & A Partners and a Director of Terres et Eaux SA.

List of positions and offices held by the members of the Supervisory Board. This list is provided in Appendix I to

the Management Report, page 47.

4.3 Operating procedures, independence and conflicts of interest

The report on corporate governance appears on page 53 of this Registration Document.

Investors are reminded that the Company invests pari passu with the FCPR funds managed by Apax Partners SA.

Apax Partners SA is directed by Maurice Tchenio, who controls and directs the Company’s Manager Apax Partners

& Cie Gérance SA.

The potential conflicts of interest that may result from this situation are covered by the rules for co-investment

between the funds managed by Apax Partners and Altamir Amboise described in Section II 2.1 above and by the

co-investment charter between Apax Partners and Altamir Amboise.

To the best of the Company's knowledge, there is no potential conflict of interest between the duties towards the

Company of the Manager or the members of the Supervisory Board and their private interests or other duties.

To the best of the Company’s knowledge, the directors have no interest in the companies in the Altamir Amboise

portfolio, except for the shares in listed companies for which they have filed the customary declarations with the

compliance officer of Apax Partners.

To the best of the Company's knowledge, there is no family tie between the members of the Management and

supervisory bodies of the Company.
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5. Tax regulation of SCR companies (under the laws in force on 1 January 2009)    

Tax treatment of SCRs

Principle Exceptions (these exceptions do not affect Altamir Amboise)

Full exemption for all income and gains - future revenues of the subsidiary comprising

realised within the structure the activities of service deliveries

- gains realised on the disposal of operating properties 

or assets

- subsidies received by the SCR 

Tax treatment of shareholders

Legal entities subject to corporation tax and resident in France 

I. Gains on the disposal of shares of the SCR
Tax treatment

- Disposal of shares held for at least 5 years:

1) up to the amount of assets represented by equity shares held 0%

for at least two years by the SCR(1)

2) up to the amount of assets not represented by equity shares held 15%(2)

for at least two years by the SCR

- Disposal of shares held for less than 5 years: 33.33%(2)

II. Distributions of dividends by the SCR

From gains made by the SCR Tax treatment
- On equity securities(1) held directly by the SCR 0%

for at least two years or through an FCPR 

or through a foreign SCR company(6)

- On other securities held for at least 2 years by the SCR 15%(2)

- On securities held for less than 2 years by the SCR 33.33%(2)

From income realised by the SCR Tax treatment
33.33%(2)

Individuals resident in France

I. Gains on the disposal of shares of the SCR
Tax treatment

- Shares of the SCR covered by a fulfilled commitment to hold 

for 5 years, and for which the seller has satisfied the requirement 

to reinvest distributions in the SCR during that same period(3)

- Shares of the SCR (i) not covered by a holding commitment 

or (ii) disposed of before 5 years when a holding commitment 

has been made or (iii) disposed of without fulfilment 

of the reinvestment obligation(4)

* €25,730 for disposals made as from 1 January 2009.
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Tax exemption on the income, except for

social security withholdings(5)

Taxed at the rate of 30.1% (including social

security withholdings) if the amount of the

disposals made during the year exceeds

€25,000* for disposals made as from 

1 January 2008



II. Distributions of dividends by the SCR

From all gains and income made by the SCR Tax treatment
- All distributions (those reinvested for the 5-year period 

and those made after the 5th year), under the twofold condition 

that the shareholder has made and fulfilled the 5-year holding 

and reinvestment commitment(3)

- Distributions relating to shares for which the shareholder (i) 

has not made the holding and reinvestment commitments or 

(ii) has not fulfilled those commitments(4)

- Distributions that have benefited from the exemption even 

though the shareholder subsequently breaks his holding 

and/or reinvestment commitments 

Non-resident legal entities (not having fixed premises in France)

I. Gains on the disposal of shares of the SCR
Tax treatment

- Holding of 25% or less of the rights to the profits of the SCR No taxation in France

at the time of the disposal or during the previous 5 years

- Holding greater than 25% 18%(8)

II. Distributions of dividends by the SCR

From gains made by the SCR Tax treatment
- On securities held for at least 2 years by the SCR 

- On securities held for less than 2 years by the SCR Source Withholding (“RAS”) of 25%(8) 

154

Special rules: Exemption from income tax

except for social security withholdings(5)

Reintegrated in taxable income for the

year in which the shareholder ceases to

meet his commitments(4), with the applica-

tion of the tax rules cited above 

- Taxed at the rate of 30.1% for revenues

realised as from 1 January 2008 (inclu-

ding social security withholdings) on the

portion of the distribution taken from the

gains realised by the SCR;

- Taxed at the progressive scale schedule

under ordinary law conditions(7) (or bene-

fiting from the flat rate withholding at the

rate of 29%, including social security

withholdings, as an option prior to the

payment of the distribution) on the por-

tion of the distribution taken from the

profits made by the SCR 

Source Withholding (“RAS”) of 15%(8) or

exemption if the effective beneficiary of the

distribution is a legal entity which has its

registered offices in a State that has signed

a convention with France containing an 

administrative assistance clause to combat

fraud and tax evasion and if the distribu-

tion is included in the profits declared in

that State but benefiting from a local

exemption.



ALTAMIR AMBOISE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2008 155

From income realised by the SCR Tax treatment
Source Withholding (“RAS”) of 25%(8) 

Non-resident individuals 

I. Gains on the disposal of shares of the SCR
Tax treatment

- Shareholder who makes and fulfils the 5-year holding No taxation in France

and reinvestment commitments(3)

- Shareholder who does not make the holding and 18%(8)

reinvestment commitments or does not fulfil these commitments 

II. Distributions of dividends by the SCR

From all gains and income made by the SCR Tax treatment
- Shareholder who (i) has his tax residence in a country or territory No taxation in France

that has signed an administrative assistance convention 

with France in order to combat fraud and tax evasion, 

(ii) who makes and fulfils the 5-year holding and reinvestment 

commitments(3)

- Shareholder who (i) does not make the holding and reinvestment 

commitments or (ii) does not fulfil those commitments 

or (iii) does not have his tax residence in a country or territory 

that has signed with France an administrative assistance 

convention in order to combat fraud or tax evasion

(1) The equity securities are equity securities of the companies in the portfolio for which the SCR has held 5% of the capital of the issuing

company for at least two years. For the increase of the percentage of 5%, the securities held by other FCPRs or SCRs working together

with the SCR under a contract concluded in order to acquire these securities are also taken into consideration.

(2) Excluding additional taxes.

(3) In addition, the shareholder, his or her spouse and their ascendants or descendants must not collectively hold, directly or indirectly, more

than 25% of the rights to the profits of the companies whose securities are held in the assets of the SCR, or have held this amount at any

time during the 5 years preceding the subscription or acquisition of the shares of the SCR.

(4) Except in the event of death, permanent invalidity, retirement or dismissal.  

(5) 11% for revenues realised in 2008 and 12.1% for those realised as from 1 January 2009 (Article 28 of Law 2008-1249 of 1 December 2008).

(6) Provided that these structures have held at least 5% of the capital of the issuing company for two years at least.

(7) Taxed according to the progressive scale after having been made the subject, for the distributions of the SCR paid on the eligible profits

distributed by the companies in its portfolio, of a reimbursement of 40% and an annual fixed allowance of €1,525 (single persons, wid-

ows/widowers or divorcees, spouses filing separately) or of €3,050 (married couples or partners in a civil union pact filing jointly); tax cred-

it capped at €115 (single persons, widows/widowers liable for tax) or €230 (married couples or partners in a civil union pact filing jointly).

(8) Except in the case of more favourable provisions in the convention.

(9) The rate of the source withholding is 18% for individuals resident in the European Union, Norway or Iceland.

Source: SJ Berwin
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- Source Withholding (“RAS”) of 18% on

the distribution taken from gains(8)

- Source Withholding (“RAS”) of 25% on

the distributions taken from income(8)(9)



6. Person responsible for the registration document 

and persons responsible for auditing the accounts

6.1 Person responsible for the registration document

Maurice Tchenio
Chairman and CEO of Apax Partners & Cie Gérance SA (the Management).

6.2 Certification by the person responsible

Ladies and gentlemen,

I hereby certify, after taking all reasonable measures in this regard, that to my knowledge the information

contained in this Registration Document fairly represents reality and contains no omission that might alter the

scope thereof.

I certify that to the best of my knowledge the accounts have been prepared in accordance with the applicable

accounting standards and provide a truthful picture of the assets, financial situation and results of the Company

and of all the subsidiaries falling within the scope of consolidation, and that the Management report faithfully

reflects the business trends, results and financial situation of the Company and of all subsidiaries falling within

the scope of consolidation, as well as describing the principal risks and uncertainties that they face.

I have obtained from the statutory auditors an end-of-audit letter in which they declare that they have verified the

financial information and accounts presented in this Registration Document, and that they have read this

document in its entirety.

The historical financial information for the 2006 and 2007 financial years are included by reference in the present

document.

The auditor’s general report on the annual accounts for the period ended 31 December 2006, included by refer-

ence in the Registration Document, contains the following observation:

“Without calling into question the opinion expressed above, we draw your attention to the following points: 

- Note "4.3. Other Receivables” in the notes to the accounts, which shows the change in the presentation of

interest accrued on related receivables, now posted under fixed assets;

- Notes “5.1.1. Financial Income”, “5.1.2. Financial Expenses”, “5.2.1. Income”, and “5.2.2. Expenses” in the notes

to the accounts, which show the change in the presentation of income and expenses connected with portfolio

investments held as fixed assets, as well as the allocations to and recoveries from corresponding provisions,

henceforth included under income on capital operations.”

Paris, 15 April 2009

Apax Partners & Cie Gérance SA Maurice Tchenio

Manager Chairman of the Management

6.3 Persons responsible for auditing the accounts

6.3.1 Statutory Auditors

Ernst & Young & Autres (formerly named “Barbier Frinault et Autres”) 

41 rue Ybry - 92200 Neuilly-sur-Seine, France

represented by François Villard,

Member of the Compagnie Régionale des Commissaires aux Comptes de Versailles,

Auditor for the Company, reappointed by the Ordinary General Meeting of 27 April 2005, with a mandate of six

years expiring after the General Meeting called to approve the accounts for the period ended 31 December 2010.

CFA, Compagnie Française d’Audit represented by Pierre Esmein 

14 rue Cambacérès, 75008 Paris, France 

Member of the Compagnie Régionale des Commissaires aux Comptes de Versailles.
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CFA was appointed for the remaining duration of the mandate previously held by Deloitte et Associés, which

resigned from its office on ethical grounds as from 1 January 2008.

Its term of office will expire at the time of the Ordinary General Meeting called to approve the accounts for 2011.

6.3.2 Alternate Auditors

Jacques Denis
151 rue Léon Maurice Nordmann – 75013 Paris

Member of the Compagnie Régionale des Commissaires aux Comptes de Paris,

Alternate Auditor for the Company, appointed by the Ordinary General Meeting of 27 April 2005, with a mandate

of six years expiring after the General Meeting called to approve the accounts for the period ended 31 December

2010.

The company Corevise, represented by Fabien Crégut, a member of the Compagnie Régionale des Commis-

saires aux Comptes de Paris,

3-5 rue Scheffer, 75016 Paris, France

Corevise takes over the mandate of the company Beas, which resigned from its office at the same time as the

statutory auditor.

This mandate will expire at the end of the General Meeting called to approve the accounts for the period ended

31 December 2011.

6.4 Persons responsible for Communication

6.4.1 Person responsible for Financial Information

Claude Rosevègue
Apax Partners – 45 avenue Kléber – 75784 Paris cedex 16, France

Telephone: 01 53 65 01 00

6.4.2 Person responsible for Communication

Agathe Heinrich
Apax Partners – 45 avenue Kléber – 75784 Paris cedex 16, France

Telephone: 01 53 65 01 00

6.4.3 Place at which the legal documents may be consulted

The legal documents may be consulted at the Company’s registered office:

45 avenue Kléber – 75016 Paris, France

6.4.4 Timetable of communications 

Altamir - 2009 timetable for financial notices
5 February Press Release on the annual accounts and the NAV at 31 December 2008

5 February SFAF meeting 

28 April Press Release on the NAV at 31 March 2009

29 April General Meeting of Shareholders 

4 August Press Release on the half-yearly accounts and the NAV at 30 June 2009
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List of communications in 2008

Date Document Means Recipients
of distribution

5 February Press Release on the 2007 accounts: 2007: Online Altamir Amboise website

An exceptional year Distribution Altamir Amboise Contacts

Wide Distribution Professional Distributor

5 February SFAF meeting from 8:30 to 10:00 a.m.

8 February 4th Quarter sales Publication BALO

11 February Press Release: Online Altamir Amboise website

Adjustment of parity of the warrants exercise ratio Distribution Altamir Amboise Contacts

Wide Distribution Professional Distributor

13 February Half-year review of the liquidity agreement Online Altamir Amboise website

Wide Distribution Professional Distributor

15 February Adjustment of parity of the “March 2008” warrants Publication BALO

and adjustment of parity of the “September 2008” 

warrants

25 February Notice of meeting Publication BALO

28 February Letter to shareholders on the exercising Online Altamir Amboise website

of the “March 2008” warrants Distribution Altamir Amboise Contacts

14 March Press Release: Strike price for the “March 2008” Online Altamir Amboise website

warrants Distribution Altamir Amboise Contacts

19 March Corrected notice of meeting Publication BALO

21 March Annual statutory and IFRS accounts Publication BALO

for the year ended 31 December 2007

21 March Filling of the 2007 Registration Document Distribution Altamir Amboise Contacts

31 March Press Release: €12.8 million capital increase Online Altamir Amboise website

from the exercise the of “March 2008” warrants Distribution Altamir Amboise Contacts

7 April Press Release: Apax Partners and LBO France Online Altamir Amboise website

acquire Maisons du Monde Distribution Altamir Amboise Contacts

16 April 1st Quarter 2008 Sales Publication BALO

17 April Press Release: Altran strengthens its capital Online Altamir Amboise website

structure and welcomes Apax Partners Distribution Altamir Amboise Contacts

as a new shareholder to accelerate its growth

21 April Press Release: €13.71 NAV per share Online Altamir Amboise website

at 31 March 2008, sustained level of investments Distribution Altamir Amboise Contacts

Wide Distribution Professional Distributor

3 June Information on the total number of voting rights 

and shares making up the share capital

4 June Annual statutory and consolidated accounts Publication BALO

for the year ended 31 December 2007

19 June Press Release: Closing of the agreement Online Altamir Amboise website

between Apax Partners and the founders of Distribution Altamir Amboise Contacts

Altran Technologies Distribution

9 July 2nd Quarter 2008 Sales Publication BALO

9 July Adjustment of parity of “September 2008” warrants Publication BALO

9 July Letter to shareholders on the exercise Publication BALO

of the “September 2008” warrants Distribution Altamir Amboise Contacts
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Date Document Means Recipients
of distribution

5 August Press Release: NAV per share at 30 June 2008 Online Altamir Amboise website

is €12.25, an active first half of the year Distribution Altamir Amboise Contacts

in terms of investments Wide Distribution Professional Distributor

10 September SFAF meeting from 8:30 to 10:00 a.m.

12 September Press Release: Strike price for Online Altamir Amboise website

the “September 2008” warrants Distribution Altamir Amboise Contacts

Wide Distribution Professional Distributor

29 September Press Release: €20.7 million capital increase Online Altamir Amboise website

from the exercise of the “September 2008” Distribution Altamir Amboise Contacts

warrants Wide Distribution Professional Distributor

28 October Press Release: €10.90 NAV per share Online Altamir Amboise website

at 30 September 2008 Distribution Altamir Amboise Contacts

Wide Distribution Professional Distributor

22 December Press Release: AFEP-MEDEF recommendations Online Altamir Amboise website

Distribution Altamir Amboise Contacts 

Wide Distribution Professional Distributor

7. Risk factors

Investors are invited to consider all information appearing in this Registration Document, including the risk

factors described in this section, before deciding to acquire or subscribe to the Company's securities. These

risks are, at the filing date of this Registration Document, those whose materialisation could have an

unfavourable effect on the Company, its operations, its financial situation, its earnings or its growth. The atten-

tion of investors is drawn to the fact that the list of risks appearing below is not exhaustive and that other risks,

not identified at the date of filing of this Registration Document or whose materialisation is not considered at that

date as likely to have a unfavourable effect on the Company, its operations, its financial situation, its earnings or

its growth, may also exist.

Market Risks

Risks inherent in private equity business

Investment in a company whose objective is to acquire private equity interests is intrinsically a high-risk activity,

involving a risk greater than that associated with investing in listed major industrial, real estate or financial

corporations.

No guarantee can be given concerning the achievement of the investment objectives of Altamir Amboise or even

the recovery of the capital invested in the company, and the past performance achieved by the funds managed

by Apax Partners for this type of investment offers no guarantee of the future performance of the Company.

In particular, private equity investments present the following risks:

• Risk associated with the economic environment

Given that Altamir Amboise's portfolio is composed primarily of securities of French companies, changes in the

economic conditions in France may, on the one hand, affect Altamir Amboise's ability to make investments that

meet its selection criteria and its ability to sell these investments in satisfactory conditions, and on the other

hand, decrease the value of the investments that it has made or will make, and the companies in question may,

depending on their sector of business, be particularly sensitive to changes in a particular economic indicator.

• Risk associated with the absence of liquidity of investments

Altamir Amboise has the objective of investing primarily in unlisted companies, over a medium- or long-term time

horizon.
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Although the investments made by Altamir Amboise may sometimes generate current income, recovery of the

capital invested and any gains realised is, in the large majority of cases, achieved only by the total or partial

disposal of the holdings, which generally does not take place until some years after their acquisition.

No guarantee can be given either that the companies in which Altamir Amboise has invested or will invest will

be listed on the market, or that private, industrial or financial investors will be found for the investments made

by the Company in these companies.

This being the case, Altamir Amboise may encounter difficulties in selling its investments, with regard both to

timing and to price conditions. This situation could limit or prevent Altamir Amboise from making new invest-

ments and thus inhibit the implementation of its investment strategy.

Additionally, in certain cases, it may be necessary to obtain prior disposal authorisation from the competent

authorities, or Altamir Amboise may be prevented contractually, legally, or by regulations from selling an invest-

ment within a given period.

• Risks inherent in the business of acquiring equity interests

Although it has recourse to a team of professionals experienced in acquisition operations and calls on the

services of auditing and consultancy professionals, as well as advisory banks and reputable law firms, Altamir

Amboise runs the risks inherent in the business of investing in other companies, namely:

- risks associated with the evaluation of the strengths and weaknesses of these companies, their potential for

development, the pertinence of their business plans and the ability of their managers to achieve success;

- risks associated with inaccurate assessment of the present value of the stakes acquired in these companies

or the potential for increasing this value;

- risks associated with the management of the target company prior to acquisition that were not identified in the

process of due diligence performed prior to acquisition, or not guaranteed by the sellers as part of the assets

and liabilities guarantee negotiated by the Company within the context of the acquisition (for example, the risks

concerned may be excluded from the scope of application of the guarantee; they may not be effectively indem-

nified by the application of any thresholds, allowances, or guarantees granted; the guarantor or guarantors may

prove to be insolvent; disputes may arise with the guarantors with regard to the execution of guarantee agree-

ments; etc.);

- risks associated with the conditions and procedures of financing the acquisition (for example, increases in

interest rates; enforcement of early maturity clauses);

- risks associated with disputes that may arise with sellers or third parties concerning the acquisition itself or

its consequences (for example, termination by suppliers, clients or banks of contracts binding them to the

acquired company owing to a change of control);

- risks associated with the insolvency of one or more companies in which the Company holds an interest (for

example, the obligation to provide financial support to the company concerned, a loss equal to the price of

acquisition of the interest concerned, compulsory receivership or liquidation, extension of bankruptcy proceed-

ings to the Company, reimbursement of debt) and the dispute risks arising therefrom.

• Special risks associated with leverage operations

A significant proportion of Altamir Amboise's portfolio is made up of leveraged operations (LBO/LBI) that involve

acquiring an interest through the intermediary of a holding company, generally dedicated to holding the interest

concerned, by means of a bank loan financed by the net cash flows (mainly dividends) originating from the invest-

ment. 

Some of these operations may involve a significant leverage effect.

Such transactions are particularly exposed to circumstances such as interest rate rises or a deterioration in the

situation of the target company or its sector, which may make servicing the acquisition debt difficult or even

impossible under the conditions originally envisaged. They therefore present, by their very nature, a level of risk

far higher than the average.
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Moreover, the substantial expansion of the LBO market seen in recent years brings the risk of the development

of a financial "bubble" characterised by an imbalance between the volume of capital available (in terms both of

investment in equity and of credit offerings) and the number of companies capable of being the targets of lever-

aged buyouts.

If this situation were to occur, it could lead Altamir Amboise to encounter a higher level of competition in the

search for its investments and to face greater demands on the part of sellers. These two elements could have

the consequence of reducing either Altamir Amboise's ability to make investments or the profitability of those

investments.

In addition to these historic risks, there is also the risk generated by the financial crisis and the difficulty of

finding banks willing to lend for new investments or to provide financing to any potential purchasers of compa-

nies in the Altamir Amboise portfolio.

Moreover, the occurrence of a major failure in an LBO project could lead to a severe contraction in the bank

credit offer, thus making it difficult to set up new LBOs and consequently reducing Altamir Amboise's ability to

make new investments of this type.

• Special risks associated with venture capital and development capital operations

Altamir Amboise has invested a portion of its assets in venture capital operations. Investment in such compa-

nies necessarily involves greater risks than investment in more established companies.

Most of these companies base their development plans on the implementation of a concept, a technology or a

new commercial approach whose success is subject to numerous contingencies and whose hoped-for results

cannot be guaranteed. 

Furthermore, these companies generally have more limited financial resources than more established compa-

nies, and are consequently more vulnerable to changes in the economic climate.

They are also, in most cases, extremely dependent on the presence of one or more key personnel whose depar-

ture or unavailability may have extremely prejudicial consequences.

They are also often dependent on one large client or a limited number of clients, whose loss may place them in

a difficult position.

Finally, these companies may have insufficient history to estimate their future performance with adequate relia-

bility.

The failure of the growth plans drawn up by such companies may therefore, in certain cases, lead the Company

to lose all of its investment.

The same risks may be applicable, although in principle to a lesser degree, to investments that Altamir Amboise

has made or will make in capital development operations.

No further investments in this type of asset are planned.

• Risks associated with the departure of managers of companies in the portfolio

The companies in which Altamir Amboise holds an interest may be dependent on one or more key personnel

whose departure or unavailability could have prejudicial consequences for them.

This being the case, Altamir Amboise could be led to postpone the disposal of the interest concerned, or to

dispose of the interest under unfavourable conditions.

• Risks associated with the costs incurred on unrealised investment projects

The investment selection process followed by Apax Partners involves the study of numerous investment projects,

of which only very few are chosen. This approach therefore entails the commitment of various degrees of costs,

particularly in relation to consultancy and auditing, without any certainty that the investment concerned will be

made.
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The competition of several potential buyers in many acquisition projects may also mean that Altamir Amboise

has to bear significant costs, even though any proposal formulated by Apax Partners on behalf of Altamir

Amboise, FCPR Apax France VII and Amboise Investissement may not be accepted by the sellers.

Such costs are borne pari passu with FCPR Apax France VII and Altamir Amboise, in application of the co-invest-

ment rules described in this document. 

• Risks associated with the estimation of the value of the Company’s interests

The interests that are held or will be held by Altamir Amboise are subject to periodic valuations by Altamir, using

the "fair value" method whose rules are described in section 5.5 of the Notes to the Accounts appearing on page

99 of this Registration Document. The purpose of these periodic valuations of the portfolio of Altamir Amboise

is to make it possible to determine the NAV of Altamir Amboise and to deduce a Net Asset Value per share of the

Company, which will be published quarterly.

Regardless of the care and prudence used in making these valuations, it cannot be guaranteed that every interest

held by Altamir Amboise will be sold at a value at least equal to that used by Altamir Amboise in making the

valuations.

Risks associated with the investment capacity of Altamir Amboise 

Altamir Amboise used up part of its cash reserves in operations linked to the 2008 stock-market situation:

inability to syndicate an investment, collateral contributions in leverage operations on listed underlying assets.

In addition, the opportunities for disposals have become scarce, resulting in a lack of cash inflows.

Altamir Amboise might therefore see its investment capacity significantly reduced until the market allows it to

make significant disposals. 

Risks associated with co-investment with FCPR Apax France VII 

Altamir Amboise invests pari passu with FCPR Apax France VII, created in 2006.

The Bylaws of FCPR Apax France VII contain certain provisions:

- limiting the lifetime of the FCPR to 10 years;

- limiting the time for which it will invest to 6 years from the date of its first investment (except for reinvestments

in companies in its portfolio or the fulfilment of prior investment commitments);

- capable of leading to early liquidation of the FCPR under certain circumstances;

- capable of leading to early disposal of investments in the FCPR.

These provisions could mean that Altamir Amboise, which invests pari passu with FCPR Apax France VII, is not

offered any investment opportunity for a greater or lesser period of time.

Moreover, the Bylaws of FCPR Apax France VII include provisions limiting the investments made in a given

company, which may not exceed 10% of the amount of subscriptions in FCPR Apax France VII (limit raised to 15%

in the case of profitable companies of significant size). These provisions do not apply to Altamir Amboise. They

do, however, prevent Altamir Amboise, which invests pari passu with FCPR Apax France VII, from conducting

certain operations.

Finally, the same Bylaws require the management company (in this case, Apax Partners SA) to resign from its

office at the demand of members representing 75% of the units of FCPR Apax France VII, where such demand

is justified by a serious fault on its part. In such an event, Altamir Amboise might find itself no longer able to co-

invest with FCPR Apax France VII.
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Stock-market risks

• Risks associated with the stock-market price of shareholdings

It is not the primary object of Altamir Amboise to invest in securities of listed companies. However, Altamir

Amboise may come to hold listed securities as a result of initial public offerings of companies in which it holds

an interest, or as payment of the sale price of equity interests in its portfolio. These securities may, on occasion,

be subject to retention or "lock-up" clauses signed at the time of the initial public offering. Even in the absence

of such clauses, Altamir Amboise may deem it appropriate to retain certain newly-listed securities in its portfolio

for a certain period in order to obtain a better valuation in due course, an objective whose achievement cannot

be guaranteed. Moreover, Altamir Amboise is not prohibited, in principle, from investing directly or indirectly in

the capital of a company on the sole grounds that it is listed on the stock market, provided that company falls

within the scope of its investment strategy.

Consequently, Altamir Amboise holds a certain number of listed securities, either directly or indirectly via holding

companies, and may therefore be affected by any negative change in the market price of these securities. A fall

in the market price at a given moment, particularly at the close of the 2008 financial year, may result in a fall in

the valuation of the portfolio and the Net Asset Value of the Company. This fall is recorded in the income state-

ment as a loss on the line “changes in fair value of the portfolio”. 

As indicated above, the fall in value of the listed securities in leveraging operations may lead to margin calls on

the part of lending institutions. This will have no impact on net income, but will mobilise funds originally intended

for new investments.

Finally, a fall in market prices would also be liable to impact the gains or losses realised when these securities

are sold by Altamir Amboise.

At 31 December 2008, listed companies represented 24.4% of the portfolio (38% at 31 December 2007) or 24.3%

of the total Net Asset Value (34.8% at 31 December 2007). These are securities of market-listed companies in

the portfolio which were obtained as payment for sales or from LBOs of listed companies. They will be sold on

the market as and when the valuations and liquidity conditions prove favourable.

A 10% drop in the market prices of these listed securities would have an impact of €13.1 million on the valua-

tion of the portfolio at 31 December 2008. The impact on the Net Asset Value of Altamir Amboise would also be

€13.1 million. 

In addition, certain unlisted securities are valued in part on the basis of multiples of comparables for the listed

companies, and in part on multiples of recent private transactions.

A change in the market prices of the comparables does not represent a risk, properly speaking, because although

these comparables provide an element for calculating the fair value at a given date, the final value of the invest-

ments will be based on over-the-counter trades, which are by definition unlisted transactions, in which the

strategic position of the companies or their ability to generate cash flow takes precedence over the market

comparables. For information, the -10% sensitivity of the multiples of comparables of the listed companies

amounts to €91.7 million.

• Risks on investment securities and treasury shares

At 31 December 2008, Altamir Amboise had invested its liquid assets in cash SICAVs or in negotiable debt securi-

ties. These two investments are without major risk.

At 31 December 2008, the company held 52,010 of its own shares as part of the liquidity programme described

in this document.

These securities were valued at €136,786.30, i.e. €2.63 per share. A variation of 10% therefore corresponds to

a difference of €13,679.

,
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Interest rate risk

• Risks associated with LBO operations

In the context of leveraged operations, Altamir Amboise is indirectly subject to the risk of an increase in the cost
of debt and the risk of not finding financing or not being able to finance the planned new operations under condi-
tions that will allow satisfactory profitability.

• Risks associated with cash investments

Any cash surpluses of Altamir Amboise may be invested in interest rate products or placed in interest-bearing
accounts, which are by definition subject to the risk of a fall in rates.

Cash SICAVs are valued at the historical cost. Gains on disposals are calculated as the difference between the
selling price and the weighted average purchase price. The Company does not record unrealised gains in the
accounts.

The nature of the securities does not justify any impairment. Unrecorded unrealised gains amounted to €18,127
at 31 December 2008.

The sale of investment securities and the investment revenues produced a profit of €1,341,087 in 2008. The sale
of negotiable debt securities produced a gain of €196,968 in 2008.

• Risks associated with other financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets that include a rate are represented by current accounts or by securities such as corporate bonds
categorised as portfolio investments held as non-current assets (TIAPs). These financial assets are assumed to
be redeemed or converted at maturity. Consequently, they do not present any rate risk as such.

Altamir Amboise has no financial liabilities.

Timetable of financial assets and liabilities 

As additional information, and in order to quantify the rate risk, the table below shows the maturities for the
financial assets and debts at 31 December 2008:

(In euros) Gross Provisions Net 1 year 1 to Over 
or less 5 years 5 years

Financial assets 31,997,329 4,161,542 27,835,787 5,687,727 13,577,075 8,570,985

Net position before management 31,997,329 4,161,542 27,835,787 5,687,727 13,577,075 8,570,985

Off-balance sheet

Net position after management 31,997,329 4,161,542 27,835,787 5,687,727 13,577,075 8,570,985

There is a provision in the amount of €4,161,542 for receivables related to portfolio investments held as non-
current assets (TIAPs).

The accrued interest of €24.0 million at 31 December 2008 was entirely written down. The company confirmed
that this income was generally included in the price of acquisition by third parties and not paid directly by the
debtor company. Consequently, it is henceforth included in the valuation of the companies instead of being
recorded in financial income receivable.

Currency risk

The current and future shares of Altamir Amboise are or will be denominated in euros. Consequently, the
profitability for an investor that has purchased Altamir Amboise shares using currencies other than the euro
may be affected by fluctuations of that currency in relation to the euro.

Furthermore, Altamir Amboise's goal is to invest at least 75% in France, and most of the companies in the
portfolio use the euro as their functional currency. However, some investments made by Altamir Amboise to
date are denominated in foreign currencies, and consequently their value may vary according to exchange rates. 
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At 31 December 2008, the only assets denominated in foreign currencies were the securities and receivables of

five portfolio companies, which represented €5.1 million or 1.43% of the investment portfolio (€2.8 million or

0.7% of the investment portfolio at 31 December 2007).

The portfolio's exposure by currency was as follows: 

31 December 2008
Equity investment securities US Dollars Swedish Krona Swiss Francs 

(USD) (SEK) (CHF)

Assets in euros 4,706,542 145,045 230,761

Liabilities

Net position before management 4,706,542 145,045 230,761

Off-balance sheet position

Net position after management 4,706,542 145,045 230,761

Impact in euros of a 10% variation

in the exchange rate 470,654 14,505 23,076

31 December 2007
Equity investment securities US Dollars Swedish Krona Swiss Francs 

(USD) (SEK) (CHF)

Assets in euros 1,853,825 183,574 752,915

Liabilities

Net position before management 1,853,825 183,574 752,915

Off-balance sheet position

Net position after management 1,853,825 183,574 752,915

Impact in euros of a 10% variation

in the exchange rate 185,383 18,357 75,292

Altamir Amboise does not hedge against currency fluctuations, because the currency exchange effect is not

significant with respect to the expected gains in absolute value on the securities concerned.

With regard to the various risks cited above, Altamir Amboise does not use firm or conditional forward instru-
ments for hedging or to expose itself to market risks (market, rate, exchange and credit risks).

Legal and tax risks

Legal risks associated with the status of a Limited Partnership by shares (SCA)

Altamir Amboise's General Partner is the company Apax Partners & Cie Gérance SA. This company, which is also

the Manager of the Company, is controlled by Maurice Tchenio, founder and CEO of Apax Partners SA. 

Altamir Amboise's Manager has the widest powers to act in all circumstances in the name of the Company.

Moreover, the legal provisions applicable to Limited Partnerships by shares and the Altamir Amboise Bylaws

provide that the removal of the Manager may be decided only by the General Partner (i.e. itself) or by the

Commercial Court on legitimate grounds at the request of any partner or of the Company.

This means that any desire on the part of the Altamir Amboise shareholders (even by a large majority) to end the

Management functions of Apax Partners & Cie Gérance SA without its agreement would in practice be virtually

impossible to implement.
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Risks associated with the legal and tax rules governing SCRs (Sociétés de Capital Risque)

Altamir Amboise has opted for the regime applicable to SCRs whose sole object is the management of a portfolio

of investment securities and unlisted securities. As such, it benefits from a special tax status. In return, it is

committed to complying with certain conditions, specifically the quotas of eligible securities as defined by Article

1-1 amended by Law 85-695 of 11 July 1985.

Although most of the investments made by the funds managed by Apax Partners and Altamir Amboise meet the

eligibility criteria defined by these provisions, Altamir Amboise cannot guarantee that it will not be led to withdraw

from making an investment or be obliged to sell one or more interests early, in order to retain the benefits

associated with this regime.

It is moreover emphasised that an SCR can borrow only up to 10% of the book value of its net assets, which

prevents Altamir Amboise from having a financing reserve in case of need. Altamir Amboise may therefore be

unable to take part in an investment if its own resources are not adequate to finance that investment.

Although opting for this regime means that Altamir Amboise must pay the greatest attention to complying with

the constraints to imposed upon it, any failure to adhere to certain conditions could lead to the loss of SCR tax

status and consequently to the retroactive loss of the tax advantages enjoyed by shareholders.

Moreover, the legal and tax status of SCRs has been subject to frequent amendments in the past. Consequently,

Altamir Amboise cannot guarantee that it will not be subject to additional management constraints in addition

to those currently in existence, nor that the tax regime applicable to its shareholders will remain unchanged, or

that it will able to safeguard the benefit of the favourable tax regime.

Risks associated with the holding of minority interests

Bearing in mind the ratios of co-investment with FCPR Apax France VII, Altamir Amboise will always hold minority

shares in the companies in which it invests. However, it is the policy of Apax Partners to obtain, within the compa-

nies in which it decides to invest, the rights necessary to protect the investment of FCPR Apax France VII and of

Altamir Amboise.

However, Apax Partners is not prohibited, in principle, from investing in companies in which the funds that it

manages and Altamir Amboise together hold a minority of the capital or voting rights, and these might not be in

a position to protect their interests.

Risks associated with the holding of privileged information

Because of the responsibility associated with their activities, some managing partners or employees of Apax

Partners may have knowledge of confidential or non-published information about a company in which Altamir

Amboise plans to invest or in which it already holds an interest. Altamir Amboise and the FCPRs managed by

Apax Partners may consequently be unable to acquire or dispose of the investment concerned within the required

timescale.

Risks associated with regulation of economic concentrations

Because of the legal links between Altamir Amboise and Apax Partners, Altamir Amboise may be subject, for the

acquisition of certain of its interests, to the regulations governing economic concentrations applicable in France,

Europe and in other countries.

There is thus a risk that certain investment operations planned by Altamir Amboise may be delayed, limited or

prevented by the authorities invested with decision-making powers with regard to these regulations.
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Other legal and tax risks

Legal, tax, and regulatory changes may occur and could have an unfavourable effect on Altamir Amboise, the

companies in its portfolio and its shareholders. For example, the private equity transactions market has in the

past been affected by the unavailability of senior and subordinate financing, partly due to regulatory pressures

on banks to reduce their risk in such transactions. 

In addition, Altamir Amboise may invest in various countries that might change their tax legislation with possible

retroactive effects.

Identified risks

To the best of the Company's knowledge, there is no dispute, proceeding, arbitration or other exceptional circum-

stance that might have or has had, in the recent past, a significant impact on the financial situation, earnings,

activities or assets of the Company.

Industrial and environmental risks

Not applicable

Competition risks

The success of Altamir Amboise essentially depends on the ability of Apax Partners to identify, select, acquire

and sell interests likely to generate large gains in a competitive market.

There is an ever-increasing number of players on the private equity market, particularly in connection with the

largest operations, where the market is international and the competition particularly strong. Some of these

players have a financial capacity greater than that of funds managed by Apax Partners, allowing them to inter-

vene in such large-scale operations with a competitive advantage. Others, (e.g. new entrants into the market or

players whose capital is held for the most part by members of the same family) may also have lower requirements

in terms of return on investment than that of Apax Partners, thus enabling them, for a given asset, to offer higher

prices to the sellers.

Altamir Amboise is therefore unable to guarantee that Apax Partners will continue to be able to or will wish to

examine certain opportunities for investment, nor that any investment proposals formulated by Apax Partners

on behalf of Altamir Amboise and FCPR Apax France VII will be accepted by the vendors.

Moreover, the pressure exerted on prices by the presence of more numerous players may lead Altamir Amboise

either to be obliged to invest under financial conditions that degrade the expected profitability of its investment,

or to encounter difficulties in identifying and securing investment propositions that satisfy its criteria for

profitability.

Insurance

The business of Altamir Amboise does not justify industrial-type insurance cover. Altamir Amboise has taken out

Professional and Civil Liability cover of up to €3 million for the corporate officers.
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Risks associated with Apax Partners

Risks associated with the dependence of Altamir Amboise on Apax Partners

Altamir Amboise is linked to Apax Partners SA by an investment advisory agreement.

In view of Altamir Amboise's legal status as a Limited Partnership by shares and the fact that Maurice Tchenio

and the other partners of Apax Partners SA hold together, directly and indirectly, almost all the capital of Apax

Partners & Cie SA, the General Partner and Manager of the Company, it would in practice be virtually impos-

sible for the shareholders of the Company to terminate the agreement and this charter during their period of

validity without the agreement of Apax Partners SA, regardless of the performance obtained by Altamir Amboise

from the investment portfolio created on the basis of its advice.

Altamir Amboise is therefore linked, for the management of its assets, to Apax Partners SA for a considerable

period of time, regardless of the evolution of the latter company or any changes to its shareholders, managers,

collaborators, methods, performance and/or strategy.

On the other hand, Altamir Amboise will in the future invest directly in the Apax France VIII (B) Fund, managed

by the new management company Apax Partners MidMarket SAS. Consequently, Altamir Amboise will similarly

be closely linked to the development of this company.

Risks associated with key personnel

• Risks associated with the management and control of Apax Partners

Maurice Tchenio is the founder of Apax Partners and has for over 20 years played a major role in the manage-

ment of the company and of the funds created by Apax Partners. He also holds sole capital control of Apax

Partners SA and of Apax Partners & Cie Gérance SA, the Manager and General Partner of the Company.

His departure, prolonged unavailability or death could therefore have a unfavourable effect on the operations

and organisation of Apax Partners, and consequently on the operations of Altamir Amboise and its prospects for

growth.

However, a succession plan is in place, both organisationally as well as in terms of control of the capital of Apax

Partners, in the event of the death or incapacity of Maurice Tchenio, which relies on the other partner directors

of Apax Partners.

• Risks associated with other professionals working for Apax Partners

The success of Altamir Amboise depends to a large extent on the competency and expertise of the managing

partners and other professionals employed by Apax Partners, and no guarantee can be given that these persons

will continue to be employed by Apax Partners.

The size of the team of professionals of Apax Partners, the reputation of the company as such and the collegial

character of the decisions made regarding investment, follow-up and disinvestment tend to limit the impact of

isolated departures of one or more collaborators of the group for Altamir Amboise. However, because the teams

are specialised according to operating sector of activity, the departure of a given professional, and especially of

a managing director, could have a negative effect on the ability of Altamir Amboise to invest in the sector in

which that professional was working.
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7. Dates of creation of the companies in the portfolio at 31 december 2008 

and dates of investment

Company Year of Year of
creation investment

Technology & Telecom

Altran Technologies 1982 2008

Arkadin 2001 2004

ASK 1997 2002

Cegid 1983 2004(2)

Centerbeam 1999 2000

Cognitis 1998 2002

DXO Labs 2003 2006(3)

GFI Informatique (Itefin Participations) 1992 2007

Outremer Telecom (Fin Tel) 2004 2005

Hubwoo 2000 2000

IEE (Captor) 1989 2004

Odyssey Financial Technologies(Odyfinance) 1995 2006

Parkeon (Mobipark) 2003(1) 2003

Prosodie (Camélia Participations) 1986 2006

Vizada 2006(1) 2006

Healthcare

Capio Hospitals 1994 2006

Capio Diagnostics 2007 2007

Corevalve 1998 2005

DBV technologies 2002 2006(3)

Evotec (Neuro 3D) 2000 2000(5)

Galapagos Genomics 1999 2001

Hybrigenics 1997 1998

Neurotech 1995 2001

Newron (NWL Investis.) 1999 2002

Orexo (formerly Biolipox AB) 2000 2002(6)

Vedici 2000 2006(3)

Media 

Infopro Communications 2001 2007

Retail & Consumer

Alain Afflelou (3AB Optique Espagne) 1975 2006

Alain Afflelou (3AB Optique Développement) 1975 2006

Alain Afflelou (3AC Finance) 1975 2000/2006(4)

Morgan (MIP) 1994 1998

Maisons du Monde 1996 2008

Royer 1945 2007

Rue du Commerce 1999 1999

Season (Fin. Season) 2005(1) 2005

U10 1994 2007
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Company Year of Year of
creation investment

Business & Financial Services

Equalliance (Finalliance) 2005 2006

Faceo 2000 2007

Séchilienne-Sidec (Fin. Helios) 1984 2005

(1) Date of creation of the holding company.

(2) Date of exchange of CCMX shares for Cegid shares.

(3) Commitment 2005/Investment 2006.

(4) Original investment/Investment in the new holding.

(5) Dates for Neuro 3D.

(6) Dates for Biolipox AB.

9. Mandates and duties of the corporate officers

This list appears in Note I to the Management Report on Page 47 of this Registration Document.

10. Remuneration of the corporate officers

The remuneration is shown on Page 42 of this Registration Document, within the main body of the Management

Report.

11. Employees

The Company has no employees, and there is no stock option plan.

12. Principal events since 31 december 2008

12.1 Market situation, investments and realisations 

Like 2008, 2009 presents a troubled economic environment with very poor visibility over the coming months.

This will not stop either realisation or investment activities, which will remain highly selective owing to the state

of the economy.

The shareholders of CoreValve signed an agreement in February 2009 for the sale of the company to the

Medtronic Group. This sale is likely to take place in April 2009, and will produce an initial payment of around

€6 million corresponding to seven times our investment, with potential additional payments contingent upon

the achievement of agreed milestones and for €2 million.

The Morgan company, placed under receivershio at the end of 2008, was taken over in March 2009 by the

Beaumanoir Group.

Financière Hélios announced on 12 March 2009 the opening, following its request, of a safeguard procedure

(Prodédure de Sauvegarde) by the Commercial Court of Paris regarding the company. . The purpose of this

preventive measure is to allow the company to renegotiate its banking covenants within a framework uncon-

nected with the stock markets volatility.

Financière Hélios, a company controlled by funds managed by Apax Partners SA and Altamir Amboise, is the

main shareholder (43.1%) of the company Séchilienne-Sidec.
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It is reminded the following:

• Altamir Amboise is a shareholder of Financière Hélios, which has a specific financing with no recourse on

Altamir Amboise;

• The stake in Financière Hélios represented 16% of Altamir Amboise’s portfolio in fair market value at 

31 December 2008. Altamir Amboise has no other commitment in Financière Hélios;

• Benefiting from its available credit line, Altamir Amboise has no liquidity risk.

Other disposals might be made during the first half of 2009.

We were very sad to learn of the death of Mr Fernand-Luc Buffelard on 12 March 2009. Fernand-Luc Buffelard,

the Chairman of the companies BRD Finance and Dom Hygiène Industrie, had been a member of the Supervi-

sory Board since Altamir Amboise was founded in 1995. The members of the Supervisory Board pay unanimous

tribute to him for his active contribution to the Company’s development.

12.2 Commitment to invest in the Apax France VIII (B) Fund

Within the scope of its new investment policy with Apax Partners, Altamir Amboise participated in the creation

of the APAX France VIII (B) Fund by investing €400,000 in January 2009, and by taking an option to subscribe to

a maximum of €200 million in this fund and committing a minimum of €62.5million.

13. Information on trends

At the SFAF meeting of 5 February 2009, the Chairman of the Management indicated that the outlook for 2009

was based on a difficult financial and economic environment:

• The Apax teams are focused on

- portfolio companies value creation

- Targeted realisations

• A low investment volume planned (lack of bank financing and weak cash position)

• A significantly lower co-investment rate, while maintaining high flexibility (5% to 43% for the first half of 2009)

14. Forecasts or estimates of profits

In view of the nature of its activities and the fact that its results are heavily dependent on the pace and amount

of the investment disposals made, the Company does not propose to offer a forecast or estimate of profits.

15. Documents accessible to the public

During the period of validity of the Registration Document, the following documents may be consulted as

indicated below:

15.1 Deed of incorporation and Bylaws of the Company: in hard copy at the registered office of the Company.

15.2 All reports, letters and other documents, historical financial information, valuations and declarations drawn
up by an expert at the request of the issuer, where part of these is included or mentioned in the Registration 
Document: in hard copy at the registered office of the Company.

15.3 Historical financial information of the issuer for each of the two financial years preceding the publication
of the registration document: in hard copy at the registered office of the Company and at the website:
http://www.altamir-amboise.fr
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16. Reference to historical accounts

Pursuant to Article 28 of Commission Regulation (EC) No. 809/2004, the following information is included by

reference in this Registration Document:

• The statutory and consolidated accounts and the corresponding audit reports appearing on pages 78-97, 

100-133 and 67-69, 98-99 of the 2007 Registration Document filed with the AMF on 20 March 2008 under 

No. D.08-141.

• The statutory accounts and the corresponding audit reports appearing on pages 89-110 and 69-74 of the 2006

Registration Document filed with the AMF on 24 April 2007 under No. D.07-408.

17. Table of concordance

The table of concordance below, comprising the main headings required by the European Prospectus Regula-

tions of February 2005, refers to the pages of this Registration Document.

Registration Registration 
Document 2008 Document
Section Page No.

1. Responsible persons Additional information - Section VI 156

2. Statutory auditors Additional information - § 6.3 156

3. Selected financial information Financial highlights 6

Management report 30

4. Risk factors Additional information - Section VII 159

5. Information about the issuer Additional information - Section I 119

6. Overview of activities Investment strategy 125

Additional information - Section II 125

6.1 Principal activities Investment strategy 125

6.2 Principal markets Company portfolio 12

7. Organisational chart NA

8. Real estate properties, factories & plant NA

9. Examination of financial situation and results Financial highlights 6

Management report 30

Accounts for the fiscal year ending 72

31 December 2006

10. Cash and capital Management report 30

Financial and legal elements 29

11. Research and development, patents and licences NA

12. Information about trends Message from the Manager 3

Financial highlights 6

Additional information - Section XIII 171

13. Profit forecasts or estimates Additional information - Section XIV 171

14. Organs of administration, management Administration and Management 4

and oversight and general management Additional information - § 4.2 150

List of mandates 47

15. Remuneration and benefits paid Management report 30

16. Functioning of the organs of administration Report from the Management 57

and management on the conditions of preparation and 
organisation of the work of the Supervisory 
Board and on the internal control procedures 
implemented by the Company
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Registration Registration 
Document 2008 Document
Section Page No.

17. Employees Additional information - Section XI 170

17.2 Shareholdings and stock options Additional information - Section XI 170

18. Principal shareholders Additional information - § 3.1 134

19. Transactions with affiliates Additional information - § 3.11 143

20. Financial information concerning the assets, Accounts for the year ending 72

financial situation and results of the issuer 31 December 2006

20.1 Historical financial information Table of results for the last five years 51

Additional information - Section XVI 172

20.2 Pro forma financial information NA

21. Additional information

21.1 Share capital Additional information - § 3.2 136

21.2 Deed of incorporation and bylaws Additional information - Section I 119

22. Important contracts Additional information - § 3.11 143

23. Information deriving from third parties, NA

declarations from experts and declarations 

of interest

24. Documents accessible to the public Additional information - Section XV 171

25. Information about shareholdings Company portfolio 12

Note III to the Management Report 52

Notes to the corporate accounts 76

Additional information - Section VII 159

Supplementary reports

Auditors’ fees Additional information - § 3.13 149

List of communications sent out during the year Additional information - § 6.4 157
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